REPORT RESUMES

ED 019 471

08

VT 004 177

THE IDENTIFICATION OF COMMON BEHAVIORAL FACTORS AS BASES FOR PRE-ENTRY PREPARATION OF WORKERS FOR GAINFUL EMPLOYMENT.

FINAL REPORT.

BY- SJORGREN, DOUGLAS AND OTHERS

COLORADO STATE UNIV., FT. COLLINS
REPORT NUMBER BR-5-D149
NEBRASKA UNIV., LINCOLN
CONTRACT OEC-6-85-D73
EDRS PRICE MF-\$D.75 HC-\$5.92

PUB DATE SEP 67

DESCRIPTORS- *AGRICULTURAL OCCUPATIONS, CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT, *METAL WORKING OCCUPATIONS, *OCCUPATIONAL CLUSTERS, *JOB ANALYSIS, *JOB SKILLS, INTERVIEWS, EMPLOYEES, FACTOR ANALYSIS, QUESTIONNAIRES, COLORADO, NEBRASKA,

146P.

THE PURPOSE OF THE STUDY WAS TO DETERMINE WHETHER COMMON BEHAVIORS COULD BE IDENTIFIED ACROSS OCCUPATIONS TO SERVE AS A BASIS FOR CURRICULUM BUILDING. INTERVIEWS WERE CONDUCTED WITH INCUMBENTS IN 47 AGRICULTURAL OCCUPATIONS AND 36 OCCUPATIONS IN THE METAL FABRICATING INDUSTRY FOR A TOTAL OF 466 INTERVIEWS IN COLORADO AND NEBRASKA. THE INTERVIEW SCHEDULE CONTAINED A NUMBER OF GENERAL WORK ENVIRONMENT ITEMS, FOUR CHECKLISTS; AND FIVE MAJOR BEHAVIORAL DIMENSIONS. THE 329 SCORES FOR EACH INTERVIEW WERE SUBJECTED TO FACTOR ANALYSES TO DETERMINE INTERCORRELATIONS AMONG THE OCCUPATIONS. THE ANALYSIS OF THE CORRELATION MATRIX OF THE 47 AGRICULTURE OCCUPATIONS YIELDED THREE OCCUPATIONAL CLUSTERS, PRODUCTION AGRICULTURE, AGRICULTURAL INDUSTRY, AND AGRI-BUSINESS. PRODUCTION AGRICULTURE WAS CHARACTERIZED BY AN AVERAGE OR HIGH LEVEL ON NEARLY ALL OF THE BEHAVIORS, AGRICULTURE INDUSTRY SCORED AT A LOW AVERAGE OR LOW LEVEL, AND AGRI-BUSINESS SCORED AT A GENERALLY HIGH LEVEL EXCEPT FOR LOWS ON THE PHYSICAL AND DISCRIMINATIVE BEHAVIORS. THE ANALYSIS OF THE 36 METAL WORKING OCCUPATIONS ALSO YIELDED THREE CLUSTERS, SKILLED WORKER, SEMISKILLED WORKER, AND BUSINESS. THE BUSINESS CLUSTER IN METAL WORKING EXHIBITED A PATTERN OF SCORES SIMILAR TO THAT OF AGRI-BUSINESS. THE PATTERN OF SCORES ON PRODUCTION AGRICULTURE WAS SUCH THAT A COMPREHENSIVE CURRICULUM IN PRODUCTION AGRICULTURE WOULD COVER THE BEHAVIORS IN THE OTHER CLUSTERS ALSO. THE STUDY RESULTS SUGGESTED THAT A TEAM TEACHING APPROACH WOULD SERVE WELL IN TRAINING FOR PLACEMENT IN AG-INDUSTRY AND AGRI-BUSINESS OCCUPATIONS. (MM)

BR 5-0149 PA.08

FINAL REPORT Contract No. 0E-6-85-073

THE IDENTIFICATION OF COMMON BEHAVIORAL FACTORS AS BASES FOR PRE-ENTRY PREPARATION OF WORKERS FOR GAINFUL EMPLOYMENT

September 1967

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EDUCATION, AND WELFARE
Office of Education
Bureau of Research



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EDUCATION & WELFARE OFFICE OF EDUCATION

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRODUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION ORIGINATING IT. POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRESENT OFFICIAL OFFICE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY.

THE IDENTIFICATION OF COMMON BEHAVIORAL FACTORS AS BASES FOR PRE-ENTRY PREPARATION OF WORKERS FOR GAINFUL EMPLOYMENT

Contract No. OE-6-85-073

Douglas Sjogren Wayne Schroeder Robert Sahl

September 1967

The research reported herein was performed pursuant to a contract with the Office of Education, U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Contractors undertaking such projects under Government sponsorhsip are encouraged to express freely their professional judgment in the conduct of the project. Points of view or opinions stated do not, therefore, necessarily represent official Office of Education position or policy.

Colorado State University
Fort Collins, Colorado
University of Nebraska
Lincoln, Nebraska



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
LIST OF TABLES
INTRODUCTION
INSTRUMENT DEVELOPMENT
Instrument Reliability
PROCEDURE
Interviewers
The Interview
RESULTS
The Analyses
Occupational Clusters and Common Behaviors
Analysis of 47 Occupational Titles in Agriculture
Common Behaviors in Agriculture Occupation Clusters
Comparison Across Factors
36 Metal Working Occupations
Common Behaviors in Metal-Working Occupations
Combined Analysis
Common Behaviors in Combined Analysis
Other Analyses
Clustering by Interview and by Judgment
Further Discussion of the D Statistic
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES
APPENDIX

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many people have contributed time and effort to this study and it is impossible to name them all. Dr. John Coster was the instigator of the study, and the original proposal was developed by him and the senior author. Dr. Coster's move from Nebraska to North Carolina necessitated his withdrawal from the study. Dr. James Horner provided much help for the study by making available the facilities and services of his department at the University of Nebraska for the Nebraska portion of the data gathering.

Dr. S. A. Fine, Dr. Ernest McCormick, and Mr. Mike Munger offered excellent consultation for the conduct of the study.

The work of the interviewers and the judges should also be mentioned, and I want to especially mention the late Mr. F. R. Stansbury who assisted greatly in arranging interviews for us.

Dennis Vredenberg worked many hours on the study as a graduate assistant.

The excellent work on preparing the manuscript was done by Mrs. Maureen Sheard. Her work on the study, not only as a secretary, but also on administrative detail, has been much appreciated.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Outline of Behaviors Included in the Instrument and the Scales Used to Measure each Behavior	11
Table 2	Correlation for Reliability Estimate	14
Table 3	Titles of Occupations Selected for Study	16
Table 4	Occupations Interviewed with Number of Interviews per Occupation	18
Table 5	Totals per Interview by Interviewer for Metal and Agriculture	21
Table 6	Factor Loadings of Variables after Rotation on First Set of 100 Randomly Selected Variables	28
Table 7	Factor Loadings of Variables after Rotation on Second Set of 100 Randomly Selected Variables	33
Table 8	Rotated Factors from Analysis of 125 x 125 Correlation Matrix of 109 Independent Instrument Items and 16 DOT Scores	37
Table 9	Correlation Coefficients Between 47 Agricultural Occupations	42
Table 10	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Matrix in Table 9	45
Table 11	Difference Matrix Between 47 Agriculture Occupations	47
Table 12	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Matrix in Table 11	50
Table 13	Occupations Scoring Above and Below the Mean for each Variable by Occupational Cluster	51
Table 14	Correlation Coefficients Between 36 Metal Occupations	70
Table 15	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of	72

Table 16	Difference withix Between 36 Metal Occupations	74
Table 17	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Matrix in Table 16	76
Table 18	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Correlation Matrix of 83 Occupations	79
Table 19	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotations of Factor Analyses of Two Sets of Individual Ag Interviews	84
Table 20	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotations of Factor Analyses of Two Sets of 29 Individual Metal Interviews	86
Table 21	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Correlation Matrix of 47 Ag and 29 Metal Individual Interviews	88
Table 22	Occupational Clusters Obtained by the Interview Schedule and by Judgment on 20 Agricultural Occupations	90
Table 23	Occupational Clusters Obtained by the Interview Schedule and by Judgment on 20 Metal Working Occupations	92
Table 24	Difference Matrix of 20 Ag Occupations Based on Largest D in Matrix	94
Table 25	Difference Matrix of 20 Ag Occupations Based on Maximum D Value Possible	95
Table 26	Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analyses of 20 Ag Occupation D" Matrices	96

INTRODUCTION

Any agency that is developing and using training programs or vocational curricula is certainly concerned with the program being as efficient and effective as possible. In order to accomplish this, however, the curriculum developer faces a dilemma. Obviously, curricula cannot be developed for every occupation. Two alternatives then seem to be available to the curriculum planner. On the one hand the curriculum can be developed on the basis of certain specific occupations. This kind of curriculum would reasonably be effective and efficient on a short term basis for any individual because the training program would contain only content specific to an occupation with little or no material included that is not essential to the performance of a specific job. When viewed on a long term basis, however, a curriculum designed to train for specific occupations may not be geared to any one occupation, but would teach skills, knowledge and understandings of relevance to a number of similar occupations. This approach would be desirable in the sense that the individual who went through such a program would have the basic skills, knowledge, and understandings for a number of occupations. Furthermore, such training would be especially efficient when the individual is forced to change jobs because it could be expected that the generalized approach would reduce subsequent retraining needs.

The presentation so far indicates that the choice is dichotomous; either a program for specific occupations or a general program in which training is for a number of occupations, but specific to none. That such a dichotomous situation is not necessary or even possible is obvious. A curriculum designed to train for specific occupations will contain activities that allow skills to be developed that are generalizable to other jobs, but their outcome is incidental and not planned. On the other hand, the person who has gone through a training program designed to teach material of relevance to a number of occupations will need additional specific training for any job he may enter. It is difficult to imagine any but the most menial job not requiring some kind of on-the-job training.

On the face of the above description, and at the risk of over simplifying a complex problem, it would appear that the more logical approach to curriculum development in vocational education is the one that teaches the general skills, knowledges, and understandings first as a basis for allowing training in a number of specific jobs. Curricula geared to specific jobs will allow generalizable skills to be taught, but this is likely to be an incidental rather than planned situation. Furthermore, not all of the generalizable material will be relevant to the same jobs with the result that the trainee will have bits and pieces of information of limited applicability to a whole host of jobs rather than a relatively comprehensive and well-integrated background for a number of related jobs.

The basic assumption for the research program that we are pursuing, then, is that vocational curricula designed to teach skills, knowledge, and understandings relevant to a number of jobs followed by specific training for a single job are more efficient and effective than vocational curricula designed to teach certain specific jobs. The central problem of the study reported herein was to determine whether behavioral factors might be identified which would serve as the bases for the development of curricula designed to prepare persons for initial entry into the labor force at the semi-skilled, skilled, or technical levels of employment. The jobs that were studied were limited to the agricultural and metal working industries.

The problem of the study has evolved from the increased emphasis on vocational training and retraining that has occurred in this country in the last few years. Many agencies such as vocational schools, industry, the military, public schools, and unions have considerable responsibility in training persons as competent workers in many occupations. Significant problems are associated with the discharge of this responsibility, not the least of which is the problem of rapid change in occupations resulting from the knowledge explosion and the technological revolution. This rapid change is evidenced not only by the large number of jobs that are becoming obsolete but also by the even larger number of new jobs coming into existence each year.

The purpose of the study reported in this manuscript was to attempt to identify behaviors that are common to a number of occupations. If such behaviors can be identified as common to a number of jobs, then a training curricula which would include training in these behaviors could be developed. The curricula then would provide training so that the participant could have competency in these behaviors which would be applicable to a number of occupations.

It should be clearly recognized by the reader that this study was concentrated primarily on behaviors, and no attempt was made to identify specific knowledges or understandings required in the performance of the jobs. Consequently, any training curriculum based on the common behaviors that were identified in this study would not be sufficient in itself because the specific knowledges and understandings associated with the jobs may be decidedly different. To illustrate this point,

consider a farm equipment salesman and a steel products salesman. These two jobs were found to be common in terms of the behaviors required of the incumbent. On the other hand, it is obvious that the specific knowledges and understandings of customer's needs and of the products would be quite different for the two jobs. Consequently, a training course based on the common behaviors identified by this study would not in itself be sufficient for preparing a person to enter either occupation.

The remainder of this report presents information on the development of the instrument, the procedures used in the study, the results, and a discussion of the results.

INSTRUMENT DEVELOPMENT

The first step in the development of the instrument was to review the literature on job analysis, job evaluation, psychomotor behavior, and cognitive behavior. The purposes of this review were to identify job behaviors that have been shown to discriminate among jobs, to become more familiar with methods of measuring job behaviors, and to identify procedures that have been used for clustering jobs. This review of research was written as an interim report for the project (Sjogren and Sahl, 1966). Rather than repeat this review in the final report it was decided to report only the decisions made with respect to the development of the instrument and the sources of support for the decisions.

The results of the various job analysis studies were most relevant for our study. From these studies it appeared that job behaviors could be classified in terms of five major behavioral dimensions; physical, intellectual, discrimination, decision making and responsibility, and communication. The following lists contain some of the factor titles from job analysis studies that we classified under the five major dimensions. The reference is to the study in which the factor title appeared.

I. Fhysical Behaviors

- A. Body agility (McCormick, et al., 1957)
- B. Heavy manual work vs. clerical ability (McCormick, et al., 1957
 - C. Strength (Jaspen, 1949)
 - D. Manual dexterity (Jaspen, 1949)
 - E. Mechanical-manual (Orr, 1960)
 - F. Physical output (Gordon, 1963)
- G. Sedentary vs. physical work activity (Palmer and McCormick, 1961)
- H. Skilled physical activities (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)



- I. Mental vs. physical activities (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)
 - J. Skilled machine operation (Coombs and Satter, 1949)

II. Intellectual Behaviors

- A. Mental and educational development vs. adaptability to routine (McCormick, et al., 1957)
 - B. Intelligence (Jaspen, 1949)
- C. Knowledge of tools vs. mathematics (Palmer and McCormick, 1961)
 - D. Mediation (Gordon, 1963)
 - E. Mechanical information (Jaspen, 1949)
- F. Mental vs. physical activities (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)
 - G. Adaptability to precision operations (McCormick, et al., 1957)
 - H. Manual art ability (McCormick, et al., 1957)
 - I. Intellectual-supervisory (Orr, 1960)
- J. Man-machine control activities (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)

III. Discrimination Behaviors

- A. Adaptability to precision operations (McCormick, et al., 1957)
- B. Artistic ability and esthetic appreciation (McCormick, et al., 1957)
- C. General mechanical activities and inspection (Lawshe and Satter, 1944)
 - D. Inspection (Jaspen, 1949)
 - IV. Decision making and responsibility behaviors
 - A. Diagnostic and analytic activities (Lawshe and Satter, 1944)
 - B. Self-responsibility (Coombs and Satter, 1949)

- C. Intellectual-supervisory (Orr, 1960)
- D. Mediation (Gordon, 1963)
- E. General decision making and mental activity (Palmer and McCormick, 1961)
- F. Decision making and communication (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)
- G. Responsible personal contact (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)
 - V. Communication behaviors
- A. Personal contact ability vs. adaptability to routine (McCormick, et al., 1957)
 - B. Intellectual-supervisory (Orr, 1960)
 - C. Communications (Gordon, 1963)
- D. Communications in business management and information in routine physical work (Palmer and McCormick, 1961)
- E. Decision making and communication (Cummingham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)
- F. Hierarchical person-to-person interaction (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)
- G. Responsible personal contact (Cunningham and McCormick, 1964; Gordon and McCormick, 1963)

These five major behavioral dimensions were used as the general outline of the instrument developed for the reported study. Each of the dimensions is discussed below in terms of the specific behaviors included for measurement.

Many of the specific physical behaviors that were included in the instrument were physical behavioral factors that had been identified by Fleishman in his studies of psychomotor behavior. (The several references to work by Fleishman and his associates are included in the references list.) Among these specific physical behaviors were finger manipulation, arm-hand manipulation, foot-leg manipulation, general body activity, and motor coordination. We also included under the physical behaviors category, items on motor control operations, object assembly, and hand tool usage. These latter items, which have been used in previous studies, were included to get a measure of more general job behaviors that were expected to be dependent upon the specific psychomotor type behaviors. The three general behaviors were judged to be those that would occur most commonly among the jobs to be studied.

Several of the specific behaviors in the discrimination area also were selected on the basis of the results of the psychomotor studies. Visualization was divided into near and far visualization. Depth discrimination and estimation of speed were included as behaviors involved in spatial relations. Color, sound, odor, taste, and tactual discrimination behaviors were also included along with a blind positioning item. Behaviors involving estimation or inspection and monitoring of work processes were included under the discrimination dimension as general behaviors that would require the exercise of one or more of the specific discrimination behaviors.

The intellectual behaviors included in the instrument were not based on identified cognitive factors. Although cognitive or intellective factors are probably better defined than most other aspects of human behavior, the measurement of most cognitive factors requires the administration of a test, and the amount of testing required was not feasible in the situation of the reported study. Consequently, the intellectual behaviors measured by the instrument were those behaviors included in other job analysis studies. Several general knowledge items were used including knowledge of mathematics, machine operation, machine repair, characteristics of the finished product, characteristics of product components, processes, and business procedures. Verbal behaviors were measured by items on reading, interpretation, and following instructions. Other intellectual behaviors included in the instrument were visualization of relationships, close concentration, and reasoning and problem solving.

The responsibility and decision making behaviors that were included in the instrument were taken from other job analysis studies and were those that seemed most relevant to the jobs to be studied. The behaviors were formulation of policies or goals, making work assignments, forecasting needs, inspection, and ordering and buying.

The communication behaviors were selected on the same basis as the responsibility and decision making behaviors. Communication behaviors included were supervision or training or workers, origination of written communications, communication by other than oral or written means, persuasive communication, and service.

with the specification of the behaviors that were to be measured on the jobs, the next concern was to determine how these behaviors were to be measured. The simplest and perhaps the most reliable measurement would have been to determine whether or not each behavior was exhibited on a job. This type of measurement, however, would not be very discriminating especially when one considers that a certain amount of nearly every behavior is likely present in any human activity. Consequently, it was felt that several aspects of the behavior might be measured and that more precise measurement than dichotomous measurement should be attempted.

The psychomotor studies had reported certain factors of psychomotor behavior that seemed to be dimensions of physical behaviors that might be measured on a continuum. These factors were speed, frequency, precision, and strength. These dimensions were thus used as four measures of each of the physical behaviors. The first three were also used as measures of most of the other behaviors. In addition, the following measures were included on a rational basis as being capable of discriminating among jobs; variety of ways in which the behavior occurred, the importance of the behavior to the job, and the complexity of the behavior.

The first form of the instrument included all of the specific behaviors indicated above. For each behavior a rationally developed four point rating scale was used to measure variety, precision, importance, speed, frequency, and complexity. A four point strength scale was used for the physical behaviors only. Each rating scale contained general statements to define the points. The work of Madden (1960) supported the use of this type of rating scale.

Beside the behaviors the instrument also called for responses on items relevant to the job as a whole and a check list of activities performed on the job. These were included in an attempt to get at certain job characteristics that might be related to the behavioral factors, especially job environment factors. The check lists also included many clerical, physical, and communication behaviors. The inclusion of these items was to achieve enough redundancy to allow for every significant factor to emerge in the analysis.

Thirty interviews were conducted by the investigators with the first form of the instrument. This tryout revealed the following information about the instrument:

1. A judgment of the variety of the behavior by the incumbent was difficult with a rating scale. A more reasonable response was obtained by asking the incumbent to name the ways in which they performed the behavior. A count of the ways provided a measure of variety.

ERIC

- 2. A general precision scale was not meaningful, and it seemed that separate scales were needed for each of the following areas; mathematics usage, application of knowledge, interpretation, physical movements, and discrimination.
- 3. The importance of the behavior to successful performance of the job was difficult to measure because the incumbent seemed to consider anything he did to be important. There was some variance on this scale, however, which indicated some discriminatory power, and the scale was retained in the final form of the instrument.
- 4. The speed and strength scales as written were responded to quite meaningfully when appropriate and seemed to discriminate.
- 5. Frequency was difficult to scale. Several versions of a frequency scale were tried and the version in the final form seemed to allow for meaningful and discriminatory responses.
- 6. Complexity of the behavior was also difficult to scale. The incumbents seemed to have difficulty understanding what was meant by the scale. It was finally decided to post-code this item on the basis of a judgment from the responses to the ways the behavior was shown on the job.
- 7. The general job items, the clerical behavior items, and the checklists seemed to allow for meaningful responses.
 - 8. Not all scales were appropriate for all of the items.

On the basis of the results of the first tryout interviews, the instrument was revised and the second revision was tried out with another thirty interviews. In the second try-out the interviews were conducted by some of the persons who were hired as interviewers. For the second tryout the instrument was as it is in the final form except for the frequency scale. The frequency item was left as an open-ended item for the second tryout and an attempt was made to post-code the responses. The responses were so varied that this type of coding was nearly impossible. Consequently, the frequency scale was finally structured as shown in the instrument in Appendix A. The rating scales were shortened to three or four point scales for the second tryout because the interviewees in the first tryout tended to use only three or four points. The points used were usually the extremes and the mid-point.

Table 1 contains the behaviors that were included in the final form of the instrument and an indication of the scales used to measure each behavior. The complete instrument is included as Appendix A of this report.

Many decisions were made about the instrument as it was developed, and it is likely that not all of the judgments were the best possible. Had some other investigators developed the instrument, it is probable that the content, the format, and the scaling procedures would not have been the same. The judgments that were made during this stage of the project influenced the obtained results. The point of this paragraph is to emphasize one limitation of the reported study. The limitation is that the decisions made during the instrumentation phase determined what was to be measured and how it was to be measured. The results of the project then reflect these judgments. Had different decisions been made regarding the instrument, the results of the project might not have been the same. We felt our decisions were reasonable and based on the available evidence, but we do recognize and want to acknowledge this limitation of the study resulting from our instrumentation judgments.

Instrument Reliability

The interviews of the second tryout were used to obtain an estimate of the reliability of the instrument. Ideally reliability should have been obtained on the basis of two administrations of the interview with a job incumbent. This method was not practical in the present situation, however, because of the difficulty in being able to conduct two interviews, each taking 1½ to 2 hours, with the same person.

The reliability data were obtained then by conducting interviews with two people with the same job title during the second tryout of the instrument. The thirty interviews of the second tryout were conducted with two incumbents from each of the following jobs: farm machinery salesman, general farmer, welder, farm equipment serviceman, steel worker, secretary, farm and ranch salesman, sheet metal worker, shipper, crane operator, fertilizer salesman, and clerical workers. Four interviews were conducted with punch press operators and farmers. The reliability estimate was obtained by correlating the responses for each job with every other job. It was expected that the jobs with the same titles would correlate more highly with each other than with other job titles, and this

Table 1

Outline of Behaviors Included in the Instrument and the Scales Used to Measure Each Behavior

			Vari *ry	Precision	Importance	Speed	Frequency	Strength	Complexity	
A.	Phy	sical Behavior								
	1.	Finger manipulation	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	
	2.	Arm-hand manipulation	х	×	X	x	x	x	×	
	3.	Foot-leg manipulation	x	x	х	x	x	x	x	
	4.	Motor coordination	x	x	x	x	×	х	x	
	5.	General body activity	x	х	X	x	x	x	x	
	6.	Motor control	x	X	X	x	X	X	x	
	7.	Object assembly	X	X	X	, x	x	X	x	
	8.	Hand tools	x	×	X	•	X	x	x	
В.		crimination Behavior	: !			!		•		
	1.	Near visual	X	X	X	x	x		X	
	2.	Far visual	X	X	X	X	X		X	
	3.	Depth	X	x	X	Х	x		Х	
	4.	Speed estimation	X	x	X	X	×		X	
	5.	Estimation of quality								
	6.	and quantity Color	X	x	X	X.	X		X	
	7.	Sound	X	X	X	X	X		X	
	8.	Odor	X	X	X	Х	X		X	
	9.	Taste	X	×	X		×		X	
	10.	Factual	X	X	X		×		X	
	11.	Blind positioning	X	×	X		X		X	
	12.	Monitoring	x	x	X	X X	×		X	
c.		ellectual Behavior	^	,	^	^	^		^	
	1.	Math usage	х	x	x	x	×		x	
	2.	Machine operation	X	х	x	••	×		x	
	3.	Machine repair	x	x	x		×		x	
	4.	Finished product	х	х	×		X.		x	
	5.	Materials	x	x	x		x		x	
	6.	Processes	x	x	x		x		x	
	7.	Business procedures	x	x	x		x		x	
	8.	Read and interpret	X	x	x		x		x	
	9.	Receive instructions	x	x			x		x	
	10.	Visualize relationships	x		x		X		x	
	11.	Close concentration	x		x		x		×	
	12.	Reasoning	x		x	x	x		x	
			l	1	1	}	1			

Table 1 - (continued)

-		Variety	Precision	Importance	Speed	Frequency	Strength	Complexity
D.	Responsibility and Decision		! ! !					
	Making		1			Í	i	!
	1. Formulate policies and			į	1	•	ļ	
	goals	×	: x	x		x	1	
	Make work assignments	×	X	; ;		x	!	x
	3. Forecast needs	; x	X	X		x	!	x
	4. Inspection	×	χ	x	i !	X	1	×
_	5. Ordering	×	X	X	•	X	1	x
E.	Communication Behavior	3	!	!		t	• ;	
	1. Supervise or train	:	X	x		X	i ;	X
	2. Originate written comm.	×	x	X	•	x		x
	3. Comm. other than oral	•	:	İ		<u> </u>	,	
	or written	X	•	X		x	1	x
	4. Persuasive comm.	×	. ₽	X .	l	X	! !	×
	5. Service	x	}	x	X	x		x

higher correlation would indicate reliability of the instrument. The interviews of the second tryou were conducted by four different interviewers.

The correlations in Table 2 are the correlations between the job titles, the highest correlation that each job had with another, and the lowest correlation. Although no standard was available for judging whether the instrument was reliable, the data in Table 2 did support a conclusion that it did have adequate reliability. Fifteen of the jobs were correlated highest with jobs with the same title, and for the other fifteen jobs their highest correlation was with a job that seemed to be quite similar. Furthermore, the lowest correlation of each job with another was in each instance with a job that would be expected to have a low correlation. magnitude of the correlations indicating reliability was not exceptionally high, but two factors beside instrument error served to reduce the correlations. First, the correlations are based on interviews with two different incumbents with the same job title. It is well known that the specific nature of the work of two persons with the same job title will differ. This difference would serve to reduce the correlation between the jobs. Secondly, the interviewers were different for the interviews and any interviewer differences would tend to reduce the correlations between jobs. last factor, of course, is an error factor in the interview procedure, but not an error factor of the instrument itself.

On the basis of the data in Table 2, it was decided that the instrument was of satisfactory reliability for the study. It was mentioned earlier in this report that the only change made in the instrument from the second tryout to the final form was to structure the frequency scale. No tryout was made of the final form of the frequency scale, but our impression is that the structure used for the scale served to make this scale more reliable in the final form than it was in the second tryout where free responses were post-coded.

Table 2
Correlation for Reliability Estimate

	9	Correlation		Highest Corre-		Lowest Corre-
	Tab	with same job title	Job	lation	Job	lation
	<u>Job</u>	Jon cicle	000	10011	000	1441011
1.	Punch Press	.64	Punch Press	.64	Farm Sales	.10
2.	Punch Press	.51	Farm Service	.57	Farm Sales	. 04
3.	Punch Press	.70	Punch Press	.70	Farm Sales	.02
4.	Punch Press	.70	Punch Press	.70	Farm Sales	.03
	Farmer	.65	Farmer	.65	Crane Operator	
6.	Farmer	.66	Farmer	.66	Crane Operator	
7.	Farmer	.65	Farmer	.65	Crane Operator	
8.	Farmer	.66	Farmer	.66	Crane Operator	
9.	Farm Mach. Sale	s .40	Farm Service	.62	Crane Operator	
10.	Farm Mach. Sale	s .40	Welder	. 54	Secretary	.21
11.	Welder	.38	Farm Service	.62	Crane Operator	
12.	Welder	.38	Punch Press	.49	Farm Sales	.01
13.	Farm Mach. Ser.	. 54	Farm Mach. Sales	s .62	Shipper	.13
14.	Farm Mach. Ser.	.54	Welder	.62	Farm Sales	.10
	Steel Worker	.42	Punch Press	.50	Farm Sales	.01
	Steel Worker	.42	Sheet Metal	.53	Crane Operator	
-	Secretary	. 47	Secretary	.47	Farmer	.08
	Secretary	. 47	Clerical	.63	Punch Press	.12
	Farm Sales	.60	Farm Sales	.60	Crane Operator	
	Farm Sales	.60	Farm Sales	.60	Shipper	.01
	Sheet Metal	. 57	Punch Press	.64	Farmer	.12
	Sheet Metal	.57	Punch Press	.61	Farm Sales	.12
	Shipper	.54	Sheet Metal	.68	Farm Sales	.00
	Shipper.	.54	Shipper	.54	Farmer	.10
	Crane Operator	.80	Crane Operator	.80	Farm Sales	.01
	Crane Operator	.80	Crane Operator	.80	Farm Sales	.00
	Fertilizer Sale		Farmer	.62	Farm Sales	.19
	Fertilizer Sale	·	Fertilizer Sale	s .57	Farm Sales	.05
	Clerical	.62	Clerical	.62	Crane Operator	
	Clerical	.62	Secretary	.63	Crane Operator	.15

PROCEDURE

The data of the project were collected by interviewing job incumbents. The incumbents were workers at the semi-skilled, skilled, and technical levels in the agriculture and metal-working industries. Agricultural occupations were defined as consisting of occupations in either of the following categories: production agriculture occupations, those industries that deal directly with production agriculture in buying, selling, or servicing agricultural products and equipment, or those industries concerned with raising or tending plants or animals. The metal working occupations were in those industries that process or fabricate metal products.

It was originally intended to draw a sample of 100 agricultural workers and 100 metal workers from the states of Colorado and Nebraska. Ten workers were to be drawn randomly from each industry in each of 10 counties selected randomly. A second sample was also to be drawn which would consist of 10 workers in each of 20 selected occupations.

It soon became obvious that the sampling procedures were not feasible. The major difficulty was that the interviewee had to consent to be interviewed and with refusals the random selection procedure was not operable. A second source of difficulty was related to the first. The pool of available workers in some counties was quite small, and with refusals, this pool was depleted without obtaining a sufficient number of interviews.

As a consequence of these problems, it was decided to change the sampling procedures. A list of occupations at the semi-skilled, skilled, and technical levels was developed for the agricultural and metal-working industries as defined for the project. The list was developed using the <u>Dictionary of Occupational Titles</u> and in consultation with personnel from the Department of Labor. Table 3 contains the titles of the 50 agricultural and 34 metal-working occupations that were selected.

The departure from the original sampling procedure seemed justifiable on the basis of the purposes of the project. The project



Titles of Occupations Selected for Study

Metal Industry

Agriculture Industry

Machinist
Tool and die makers
Punch press operator
Welder
Brake operator
Lathe operator
Lathe operator
Blacksmith
Forgemen
Hammerman
Foundry workers
Clerical
Truck drivers
Salesman
Toologue
Truck drivers
Truck drivers
Clerical
Truck drivers
Salesman
Truck drivers
Truck drivers
Clerical
Truck drivers

Mechanics (mech. and set up men) Irrigated, livestock and grain Artificial breeding technician Dryland, livestock and grain Alfalfa dehy. plant worker Farmer, irrigated--grain Heavy equipment operator Fruit production farmer Bulk petroleum salesmen Irrigation ditch tender Farmer, dryland--grain Feed and seed salesmen Buyer (hog and cattle) Food processing worker Yardman (lumber yard) Pardman (sales barn) Fertilizer salesmen Greenhouse workers Grain elevator man Dairy plant worker Rodman surveying Chopper operator Sheep ranching Implement salesmen aid Poultry broiler Cattle ranching Custom operator Brand inspector Hatchery worker Cattle feeding Flower growers Poultry turkey Dairy herdsman Greenskeepers Truck drivers Truck farmer Veterinarian Dairy farmer Soils tester Tree trimmer Poultry egg Nursery man Feed mixers Ranch hand Auctioneer Gardeners Farm hand Partsmen Hog

was designed to identify common behaviors among occupations. Consequently, it did not seem necessary that the occupations be sampled randomly. Rather the necessary consideration was more that the sample consist of those jobs that were existent in the industry. In fact a random sampling procedure in the agricultural industry would have likely resulted in a heavy concentration of workers in production agriculture and the representation of agriculturally related jobs would have been inadequate.

Interviews with five incumbents in each of the 84 occupations were conducted. The incumbents were selected from various areas of each of the two states. The incumbents' names were obtained by going to industries in the states and asking to interview employees. Farmers' names were obtained from county extension offices. In order to establish that the incumbent was qualified for his occupation, only employees who had been on the job for six months and who were considered by their employer to be satisfactory were interviewed.

With the change in selection of incumbents, it was decided not to conduct the second phase of the study separately. The purpose of the second phase was to obtain job scores on each variable in the interview schedule by using the mean of the 10 jobs on that variable. The sampling procedure used enabled us to do this on each job except that the mean score was based in most cases on fewer than 10 jobs.

five interviews for each of 84 jobs would have resulted in 420 interviews. A total of 466 interviews were conducted, however. The additional interviews were required because of the fact that the same job title for two people does not necessarily mean they are doing the same thing. When the interviews were reviewed, even though a particular job title was indicated for an incumbent, it was apparent that the job of the person better fit another title under the DOT description.

Table 4 contains the job titles of the incumbents who were interviewed and the number of interviews for each title.

It is apparent from Table 4 that several jobs were covered by more than five interviews and five were not attained in many cases. The decision to stop interviewing was made at this point because of

Table 4
Occupations Interviewed with Number of Interviews per Occupation

	No. of		No. of
Agriculture	Interviews	<u>Metal</u>	Interviews
General farm	15	Welder	15
Mechanic	12	Sheet metal	14
Sales, farm equipment	12	Machinest	14
Nursery	10	Assembler	14
Secretary and clerical	10	Lathe operator	13
Cattle ranch	9	Tool and die	12
Grain elevator	9	Drill press	11
Farm hand	8	Clerk	10
Feed sales	8	Painter	10
Ranch hand	8	Punch press	9
Feed mill	7	Brake operator	6
Truck driver	7	Crane operator	6
Grain farmer	6	Inspector	6
Sales, fertilizer	6	Metal fabricator	6
Flower grower	6	Pattern maker	6
Tractor operator (heavy equipment)	6	Forklift	5
Poultry farm	5	Truck driver	5
Fruit farm	5	Stockman	5
Sales, petroleum	5	Heat treater	5
Partsman	5	Secretary	5
Vegetable farm	5	Molder	5
Dairy farm	4	Purchasing agent	5
Cattle feed	4	Sales, building	4
Soil tester	4	Milling machine operator	. 4
Pellet mill operator	4	Mechanic	4
Artificial breeding technician	4	Shear machine operator	4
Groundskeeper	4	Miscellaneous foreman	4
Soil conservation	4	Grinder	Ħ
Food process	3	Sales, equipment	3
Lumber yard	3	Blacksmith	3
Herdsman	3	Welder (machine)	3
Buyer	3	Boilermaker	2
Chopper operator	3	Metal pourer	2 1
Veterinarian aid	3	Drop hammer	
Ditch rider	3	Packager	1
Sheep grower	3	Cupolatender	1
Custom operator	3		
Golf course superintendent	2		
Hog grower	2		
Tree trimmer	2		
Ag. technician	2		
Sale barn yardman	2		
Greenskeeper	2		
Brand inspector	2		
Cannery worker	2		
Auctioneer	2		
Hatchery worker	2		

the fact that the sources of interviewees was virtually exhausted for the remaining jobs and the time schedule for the project was being violated.

Of the 466 interviews, 221 were conducted in Colorado and 245 in Nebraska. More metal worker interviews were conducted in Nebraska, because of the larger population of metal workers. To compensate a larger number of agricultural worker interviews were conducted in Colorado. Of the 277 metal-working interviews, 153 were done in Nebraska and 74 in Colorado. On the other hand, 147 agricultural worker interviews were done in Colorado and 92 in Nebraska for a total of 239.

Interviewers

The 24 interviewers used in this study were men and women between the ages of 20 and 60, all of whom were either students or housewives. The student group was composed of four graduate students in vocational education and psychology and eight undergraduate students, seven of whom were seniors and one of which was a junior. The undergraduates were majoring in such fields as psychology, pharmachology, agricultural education and economics. Seven of the housewives were high school graduates, and the remaining five had some college experience.

All interviewers were given a three-day training program in which an attempt was made to give them familiarization and experience with the structured interview they were to later use. During the training program the interviewers were also exposed to basic and pertinent interviewing principles so as to develop a sound basis for comparability between interviewers.

After the data were collected 238 interviews were drawn at random. It was then determined which interviewer had done each of the randomly selected interviews. A requirement for retaining an interviewer in this segment of our comparability study was that in the random sample there had to be at least one metal and one agricultural interview from that interviewer. Using this criterion interviewers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 10, 11, 12, 13, 16, 17, 18, 21 and 23 were retained in the comparability study and yielded a total of 213 interviews. A summation score was computed for each interview based on sections P, D, I, R, and C of the interview. These data were then entered in Table 5. In this table the score for each interview is listed under the appropriate interviewer number, and in terms of whether a given interview was in the metal industry (M) or in the field of agriculture (A). From this table one can readily see that for 12 out of the 15 interviewers the sum and mean

scores for the agricultural interviews were higher than the sum and mean scores for the metal interviews. (For two of the interviews for whom this was not the case, interviewers 12 and 21, there was only one interview available in a given area and therefore a true mean was not obtained. Should more interviews have been available for these two interviewers, it is postulated that their results would be in agreement with the other 12 previously mentioned interviewers).

Further indication of comparability between interviewers is obtained when the sums and means for all the interviews are combined. When this is done, a sum of 28,526 is obtained for the metal interviews, with a mean of 246, as opposed to a sum of 35,370 for the agricultural interviews, with a mean of 290.

The Interview

The job incumbents were interviewed either at their place of work or at their home. The interview session generally lasted from one and one-half to two hours.

In conducting the interview, the interviewer had a copy of the instrument and the scale descriptions. The incumbent also had a copy of the scale descriptions. The interviewer would read the item and ask the incumbent to respond. If the incumbent responded that he did not use a particular behavior the interviewer would proceed to the next item. If the incumbent indicated he did use a behavior on the job, the interviewer would have him indicate the ways in which he performed this behavior. The interviewer would write these down. The interviewer and the incumbent would then respond to the scales listed under that behavior. The incumbent was asked to give a rating and at the same time the interviewer would make a judgment as to the appropriate rating on the basis of what the incumbent had said about the behavior. If the two ratings agreed, the interviewer went on to the next scale, but if they disagreed the interviewer and incumbent would discuss the rating and attempt to come to an agreement of the appropriate rating. If agreement could not be reached quickly, the interviewer would proceed to the next scale and make a notation of the disagreement on the instrument. Final decisions on the unresolved ratings were made by the project director. There were few such cases, however.



Table 5
Totals per Interview by Interviewer for Metal and Agriculture

3	1	2	2	3	3	ı	i		5		7	10		11		
M	A	М	A	M	A	M	A	M	A	M	A	M	A	M	A	
166 281 312 302	330 242	210 271 273 155 182 310 255 141	254 355 423 431 466 453 264 473 420 309 382 422 567 344 269 301 369 370 220 580 282 254 137 208	292 420 458 214 187 468 258 404	290 392 318 348 203 164 506 323 425 140 563 297 465 165 274 261	120	345 524 340 246 550	266 325 222	407 315 421 285 297 619 580 589 584	235 212 356 370 375 241	396 340 398 363 310 274 279 503 520 401 269 539 627 528 268 259 267	137 231 317 379 334 239 251 331 200 270 326 259 130 191 128 144 182 230 151 300 233 117 141 151 201 220 149 291 367	288 496	400 240 255 195 260 237 344 318 185 193 242 141 244 305 145 422 176 196 274 220 209 188 169 208 214 123 150	284	
1061	572	1797	8553	2701	5134	120	2005	813	4097	1789	6541	247	784	6770	284	ΣΧ
265		225				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	401		455			228		233	284	X

Table 5 (continued)

1	2		L3	1	.6		17	• •	18	2	21		23	
M	A	М	A	М	A	M	A	М	A	М	A	M	A	 -
324 371 238 295 210 421	290	195	265 401 423	278 174 147 226 138 141 307	284 270 290	346 234	370 326 371 338	251 283 197 311 151 187 247 246 198	440 535 594 468	358	297 218 112	154	437 472 199	
1859	290	195	1089	1411	844	580	1405	2071	2037	358	627	154	1108	ΣΧ
310	290	195	363	202	281	290	351	230	509	358	209	154	369	X

Sum for metal = 28,526

Sum for ag = 35,370

Grand mean for metal = 246

Grand mean for ag = 290

The complexity scale was post coded by one person, a graduate student in industrial psychology. The rating was made on the basis of the description of the behavior on the instrument. The project director and the research associate each reviewed 50 of the schedules and generally agreed with the ratings made on the complexity scale. One rater was used in order to eliminate inter-rater differences. When the research associate rated the schedules independently, he agreed with the rater on 88 per cent of the ratings.

Several analyses were made of the data and are presented in the next chapter of this report.



RESULTS

For each interview there were 313 separate scores from the interview schedule. The scores were 0 or 1 on those variables which were responded to with a yes or no or on a checklist. The scores on the scales were as follows: 0-9 for variety, 0-3 for precision, 0-7 for frequency, 0-4 for importance, 0-3 for speed, 0-4 for strength, and 0-4 for complexity. Worker trait data from the appropriate worker trait group in the third edition of the DOT were also recorded for each interview. The DOT data included the following 44 scores: the three values in the DOT representing involvement of the job with people, data, and things, the GED score, the SVP score, the eleven aptitude scores, the ten interests scored as 0 or 1 if they were mentioned with the worker trait group or not, the twelve temperaments scored as the interests were scored, and seven physical demands scores. The total number of scores for each job then was 357.

Frequency distributions were made for each of the 357 variables in order to determine which behaviors or characteristics occurred so seldom or often that they would serve no useful purpose in the ensuing analyses. If a behavior or characteristic was marked on fewer or more than ten per cent of the schedules, that item was dropped. A total of 28 items were dropped from subsequent consideration on this basis. The dropped items are listed below:

- A. Fewer than 10 per cent responded that they had received special vocational training in high school, apprentice training, or been enrolled in junior college. (three scores dropped)
- B. The regularity of the job item did not discriminate. More than 90 per cent of the incumbents indicated their employment was continuous. (four scores dropped)
- C. Fewer than 10 per cent responded that taste discrimination behavior was part of their job. (four scores dropped)
- D. Few persons took shorthand or operated bookkeeping machines. (two scores dropped)
- E. There was little personal contact with investors or suppliers (two scores dropped)
- F. Few persons were paid by the piece, contract, commission, tips, or some other means. (five scores dropped)



- G. Fewer than 10 per cent wore ties or uniforms. (two scores dropped)
- H. Interests 4, 5, and 8 and temperaments 6, 8, and 11 from the DOT occurred less than 10 per cent of the time for the jobs included in the study. (six scores dropped)

The analyses of the data then were based on 329 scores for each job consisting of 291 scores from the interview schedule and 38 scores from the DOT worker trait groups.

The Analyses

Factor analysis was used as the basic analysis tool of the project. Various matrices were factor analyzed by the principal axis procedure and the ensuing factor matrices were rotated with the varimax procedure. Basically two types of matrices were developed for analyses, a correlation matrix and a difference matrix. The difference matrix seemed to be an extension of the use of the D statistic of Orr (1960). This matrix will be explained in detail in a later section of this report.

Two approaches to the identification of common behaviors among occupations by factor analysis were considered. In one approach correlations could be computed among the 329 variables and the ensuing matrix analyzed and the factor matrix rotated. The factor scores of each of the occupations on each of the factors could then be computed. Those occupations with high scores on a factor could be considered to have that behavior in common that was defined by the variables with high loadings on that factor.

The other approach would be to correlate occupations. A factor analysis and rotation of this matrix would result in factors that would be defined by occupations that exhibited commonality. Each factor would in effect be an occupational cluster. It would be possible to identify the behaviors that caused the occupations to cluster by referring to the data matrix and observing the pattern of scores of the occupation in the cluster on the 329 variables.

The latter approach was chosen for a very practical reason. Even with high speed, large capacity computers, a 329 x 329 matrix presents a formidable computational and storage problem. The programs and computers available to us could not handle a correlation matrix larger than 220 x 220. Consequently, the procedure described first above was not used except that the correlations among all of the variables were obtained. These correlations among the variables are discussed next.

The intercorrelation matrix of all of the measures contained different kinds of correlations depending on the type of measurement. The correlations between dichotomously scored variables were phi coefficients, whereas the correlations between dichotomously scored variables and those scored on a continuum were point-biserial correlations. The correlations between variables scored on a continuum were product moment correlations. All, of course, were estimates of the product moment correlations if the assumptions for the product moment had been met.

A 329 x 329 variable correlation matrix is so large, unwieldy, and difficult to read that it did not seem desirable to try to include it in the report. An examination of the correlations in the matrix indicated that the five general dimensions of behavior were meaningful categories for grouping job behaviors. The dimensions were physical, discrimination, intellectual, decision making and responsibility, and communication behaviors. Generally the correlations among the items within a behavior category were higher than the correlations among items across behavior categories.

The correlations between the scales on a single item in the five behavior category sets were spurious because they were not independent. On a single item, either all of the scales would have a score or none would have a score. This lack of independence would tend to raise the correlations. When these correlations were not considered, the generally higher correlation within behavior categories than across categories were still observed.

Three factor analyses were done with smaller matrices than the complete matrix. An analysis was made of each of two 100 x 100 correlation matrices and the third analysis was of a 125 x 125 matrix. Each analysis was a principal exis solution and the obtained factors were rotated to the varimax criterion. Unity was used as the communality estimate for all matrices.

The 100 x 100 matrices were correlation matrices of two sets of 100 of the 329 variables selected at random. In both instances the 100 variables were selected from the total number of 329. One limitation of the two factor analyses is that not all of the correlations were independent. The random selection procedure resulted in some of the selected variables being two or more of the scales within a behavior item. The spurious correlation between such variables would be expected to cause these variables to exhibit commonality (i.e., form a factor) and this in fact did occur. Such factors are not entirely artificial, however, but it is not possible to determine the extent to which they were formed by the measurement bias.

Another limitation of the analyses derives from the fact that the selected variables were a sample and the obtained factor structure of an analysis is the common factor structure of the specific variables. Consequently, the obtained factor structures should be considered to be only suggestive of the common behaviors measured by the 329 variables.

With these limitations in mind, we still believed that the analyses provided useful information about the factor structure of the instrument used in the study. Generally the analyses supported the intuitive decision we had made to structure the instrument according to the five behavioral dimensions named earlier in this report.

The factors obtained in the analysis of the first set of variables are presented in Table 6.

Only those variables with loadings of .40 or greater were included in the table. The percentage figure is the per cent of variance of the correlation matrix that is explained by the factor. Fifteen factors were extracted from the 100 x 100 correlation matrix. The fifteen factors were then rotated to the varimax criterion. fifteen factors accounted for 57.6 per cent of the total variance in the original matrix. An examination of the characteristic roots of the fifteen factors suggested that there was a small amount of common variance remaining in the matrix and that a few more than fifteen factors should have been extracted. The root of the fifteenth factor was 1.646. Kaiser (1960) has suggested that factors with roots greater than unity are accounting for a significant portion of the common variance. It would have been desirable, then, to have extracted as many factors as needed so that the last factor would have had a root of less than unity. The fifteen factors that were obtained, however, did account for most of the significant common variance of the variables in the correlation matrix.

The first factor which accounted for 14.6 per cent of the variance was interpreted as a supervisory factor. The variables with high loadings on this factor generally were variables dealing with behaviors at a management or supervisory level. The factor also suggested a job level interpretation. The high negative loading for Temperament Y on this factor indicated that the occupations



Table 6

E

K

Transaction of the second

Constant of

I

ERIC.

Factor Loadings of Variables after Rotation on First Set of 100 Randomly Selected Variables*

Loading	117	. 4) (C					10	, 1 C	2			-87) i	† <u>-</u>	# :	±8-	82	68				75	o 6) u	n o	59	57
Factor I (continued)	Estimate Ouality. etcVariety	ReasoningFrequency	Take Inventory	Far Visual Discrimination - Importance	ReasoningImportance	Far Visual Discrimination Frequency	Estimate Onality etc Importance	Personal Service Speed	Color DiscriminationComplexity		Factor IT (5,5%)	(00:0) ++ +00:00	Special Vocational Preparation	Temperament 0		AFT COMP	ש.יוסספ מיים	Interest 3	Aptitude V		Factor III (4.8%)		General Body ActivityStrength				AssemblyStrength	Hand ToolsComplexity
Item	DSA	1120	G1 G	DZD	1120	D2C	DSD	CSE	DeG				DOT	TOT	ב ב	ב בי	100	T.OG	DOT	•			PSF	PSE	63,23		P/F	P8G
Loading	79	77	7.1	73	70	70	89	29	67	-65	ħ9	61	61				9 4	50	5 4	±S.	24		51		84	2	24	8 2
Factor I (14.6%)	Develop Budget Complexity	Know Business Proc Precision	Buying and OrderingImportance	Develop BudgetVariety	Self-employed	Know Business Proc Frequency	Make Major Decisions	Develop BudgetFrequency	Supervision	Temperament Y	Form PolicyFrequency	Interest 7	Know ProcessesComplexity	Persuasive CommunicaComplexity	Estimate Quality.etc Complexity	Persuasive Commun Importance	Bookkeening Done	and British Police	Know Charac. of Prod Variety	Read and interpret Complexity	Far Visual Discrim Complexity	Know ProcessesImportance	Written Communication Complexity	Contact with Employees	Inspection Variety	Written Communic Theory	Trees communite rrequency	rersonal serviceComplexity
Item	R3G	I7B	R5D	R3A	63,36	170	63,10	R3C	-	DOT	RIC	DOT	160	5 + C	DSG	C4D	3 1			90T	DZG				R4A	JCJ		ຄຸ

Table 6 (continued)

Loading	70 67 58 55 49		83			84 80 76	;	74 72 70
Factor VI (3.5%)	Estimate Speed-"Importance Estimate SpeedPrecision Far Visual DiscriminationImportance Far Visual DiscriminationComplexity Hand SignalsVariety	Factor VII (3.5%)	Visual Visual	Near Visual DiscriminationComplexity Near Visual DiscriminationVariety	Factor VIII (3.2%)	Color DiscriminationImportance Color DiscriminationSpeed Color DiscriminationComplexity Color DiscriminationFrequency	Factor IX (2	Finger MovementsPrecision Finger MovementsStrength Finger MovementsVariety
Item	D4D D4B D2D D2G C3A		010 018	D1G D1A		060 066 060 060		P1B P1F P1A
Loading	56 44 43	-79	70	61 57 44	- th-		62 56 56	55 54 43 41
Factor III (continued)	AssemblySpeed Pushing Reaching Running	Factor IV (4.2%) Temperament 5	Fifth DigitPeople Interest 2	Interest 1 Physical Demand 3 Interest 7	Personal ServiceSpeed Persuasive CommunImportance Persuasive CommunComplexity	Factor V (3.9%)	Simultaneous CoordSpeed Simultaneous CoordComplexity Motor ControlSpeed Motor ControlStrength	Motor ControlImportance Simultaneous CoordStrength Arm-Hand MovementPrecision Machine OperationComplexity Machine OperationImportance
Item Number	P7E G3,26 G3,22 G3,13	DOT	100 100 100	DOT DOT	CSE C4D C4G		349 949 369 961	P6D P4F P2B 12G 12D

E

Loading	#1 #0		76 71 43		53 45		55 55 55 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5
Factor X (2.3%)	Monitor Work of Others Written CommunicationFrequency	Factor XI (2.2%)	MonitoringPrecision MonitoringComplexity Sound DiscriminationSpeed	Factor XII (2.1%)	Know Machine OperationImportance Know Machine OperationComplexity	Factor XIII (2.0%)	Estimate Quality, etcImportance Estimate Quality, etcVariety Estimate Quality, etcComplexity
Item	632 C 2C		D12B D12G D7E		12D 12G		D5D D5A D5G
					30		

variables listed on each factor in this and subsequent tables are only those with loadings .40 or greater unless otherwise indicated. The decimal point is omitted to save space. * The

with high scores on the other variables loading on this factor did not show a requirement for Temperament Y in their respective worker trait group descriptions in the DOT. Occupations with low scores on the remaining variables did tend to have a requirement for Temperament Y mentioned in the worker trait group descriptions. Temperament Y is a temperament required to adjust to situations involving precise attainment of set limits, tolerances, or standards. The outcome is reasonable in that supervisory temperament is more one that requires adjustment to ambiguous situations than well-defined situations. The behavioral scales that loaded on this factor were primarily from items dealing with intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communication behaviors.

Factor II had high loadings only on various scores from DOT worker trait group characteristics. The factor was interpreted as a mental ability factor in that high loadings were on variables of training and aptitude. The Interest 3 and Temperament 2 variables are interest in and adjustment to repetitive situations. The negative loadings were a function of scale direction. Numerical and verbal ability scores, general educational development scores, and specific vocational preparation scores in the worker trait groups were related in the expected direction and the scores tended to be negatively related to interest in or a requirement to be able to adjust to situations of a repetitive or routine nature.

The physical behavior items came out as three separate factors. Factor III was interpreted as a general physical activity factor, factor V was an obvious physical coordination factor, and factor IX consisted of the scales in the analysis from the finger movements item.

Discrimination behaviors defined five of the factors. Factor VI was a far visual discrimination factor. The variables with high loadings on this factor were suggestive of some of the behaviors of a truck driver. The other discrimination factors, VII, VIII, XI and XIII, were each specific to the scales of one discrimination item. Thus, there was a near visual discrimination, color discrimination, monitoring, and an estimation of quality, quantity, or size factor.

Factor IV was interpreted as a bi-polar factor of dealing with people vs. dealing with things. Although the factor was defined primarily by DOT information, three communication behaviors did load on the factor.

Factors X, XII, XIV, and XV were either doublets or had only one variable with a loading greater than .40.

Thus, the analysis of the first set of 100 variables resulted in several distinct physical and discrimination behavior factors. The intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communication behaviors loaded togather on one factor, except for one other factor on which some communication behaviors had small loadings.

The results of the factor analysis of the second set of 100 variables are presented in Table 7. Twenty factors were extracted and rotated in this analysis because of the fact that the fifteen factors in the first analysis had probably not accounted for all of the significant common variance. The 20 factors in the second analysis apparently did not account for all of the common variance. The root of the 20th factor was 1.58 which fact suggested that additional common variance could have been explained with a few more factors. The 20 factors accounted for 61.5 per cent of the variance in the correlation matrix.

The first factor in this analysis was very similar to the first factor in the other analysis. Many of the intellective, responsibility and decision making, and communication variables loaded on this factor. The factor was interpreted as a supervisory or occupational level factor.

In contrast with the first analysis, however, the second analysis yielded other factors in the intellective and communication behavior areas. Factor VI was called a knowledge of machine operation factor and factor XIII (a doublet) was considered as a behavior requiring visualization of relationships. The scales with loadings on these factors were from items in the intellective dimension. Factor VII was interpreted as a personal service or customer contact factor (communicative behavior). Factor XVI also had a communication behavior aspect, but its nature was difficult to interpret.

Physical behaviors emerged as five distinct factors. Factor IV was called a general physical factor and factor VIII also involved rather general physical behaviors. Factor IX (a doublet) was interpreted as an assembly factor and factors X and XI were respectively labeled finger movement and coordination.

Discrimination behaviors were present in four factors. Factor III was clearly a far visual discrimination factor and factor XII

Table 7

Factor Loadings of Variables after Rotation on Second Set of 100 Randomly Selected Variables

Loading	78 74 68 62 46	80 77 15	44 69 66 66 66 66	80 78 69 41
Factor III (3.8%)	Far VisualizationSpeed Far VisualizationPrecision Far VisualizationVariety Far VisualizationFrequency Foot-Leg MovementPrecision Aptitude E	General Body ActivityFrequency General Body ActivityComplexity	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Know Machine OperationImportance Know Machine OperationPrecision Know Machine OperationComplexity Simultaneous CoordinationSpeed
Item	D2E D2B D2A D2C P3B	P 5 C	F8D G3,41 DOT DOT DOT	12D 12B 12G P4E
Loading	75 72 70 69 68	68 61 60 57 56	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	55 53 53 54 55 54 55 54 55 54 55 54 55 54 55 54 55 54 55 54 54
Factor I (11.0%)	Develop BudgetImportance InspectionComplexity Buy or OrderImportance Know Business ProceduresVariety Form PolicyPrecision Buy or OrderPrecision	Know Business Proced Precision Inspection Precision Fourth Digit Data Reasoning Complexity Inspection Frequency Estimate Quality, etc Complexity	Persuasive CommunicationImportance Speak to OthersImportance Know ProcessesPrecision Read and InterpretImportance Close ConcentrationComplexity Know Business ProcedFrequency Supervise Others N Score Temperament 5 Close ConcentrationVariety	MonitoringFrequency Hand ToolsFrequency Know Machine AssemblyFrequency ReasoningFrequency Finger MovementsImportance Depth DiscriminationFrequency Know about ProductFrequency
Item	R3D R4G R5D I7A R1B R5B	c n	C0 ≪ C	D12C P8C 13C 112C P1D D3C I4C

The state of the s

Tax District

The state of the s

· ·

Loading	60 60 56 48 46	71 69 64	77	73 68 50	55 53 52
Factor XI (2.5%)	Simultaneous CoordinationSpeed General Body ActivityVariety Simultaneous CoordinationStrength Simultaneous CoordinationPrecision Aptitude K	Factor XII (2.4%) Color DiscriminationComplexity Color DiscriminationFrequency Color DiscriminationSpeed	Factor XIII (2.3%) Visualize RelationshipsComplexity Visualize RelationshipsVariety	Factor XIV (2.3%) Wear Visual DiscriminationSpeed Mathematics UsageSpeed Factor XV (2.3%)	Odor DiscriminationComplexity Odor DiscriminationVariety Sound DiscriminationImportance
Item	P4E P5A P4F P4B DOT	D6G D6C D6E	110G 110A	DIE DIB IIE	D8G D8 A D7D
Loading	68 52 46 6	61 60 51 46	76 78	80 75 66 43	
Factor VII (3.1%)	Personal ServiceSpeed Personal ServiceComplexity Contact with Customers Receptionist Duties	Factor VIII (2.9%) Throwing Running Hand SignalsVariety Hand SignalsComplexity Kneeling	Factor IX (2.8%) AssemblySpeed AssemblyPrecision	Factor X (2.5%) Finger MovementSpeed Finger MovementStrength Finger MovementPrecision Finger MovementImportance	
Item	CSE CSG G2G G1I	63,25 63,13 C3A C3G G3,20	P7E P7B	PIE PIF PIB	

**

A series

Section 1

Contraction of the Contraction o

anione of

Loading	1 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	-63 52 45		S	73
er Factor XVI (2.1%)	Hand ToolsImportance Contact with Trainees Speak to OthersImportance Hand ToolsStrength O Regular Salary	Factor XVII (2.0%) Physical Demand 5 Aptitude IV Fourth DigitData Fifth DigitPeople	Factor XVIII (2.0%) loading of .40	Factor XIX (1.8%) Contact with non-supervisors	Arm-Hand MovementStrength Arm-Hand MovementFrequency
Item	P8D G2K C1D P8F G3,30	DOT DOT DOT	No 1c	62C	P2F P2C
		3	5		

had loadings on the color discrimination scales. Factors XIV and XV were interpreted respectively as near visual discrimination and odor discrimination.

Two factors emerged from the DOT scores, factors V and XVII. Factor V appeared to be a people vs. things interest factor and factor XVII was interpreted as an ability factor.

Factor II was difficult to interpret although it accounted for a considerable portion of the variance. Many variables had loadings above .30 on this factor but few were over .40, and no variables had the high loadings that were observed on other factors. There was a suggestion that the factor might reflect a level of machine operation kind of behavior and it was given this tentative interpretation.

Factors XVIII, XIX, and XX each had only one variable with a loading greater than .40.

We felt the two analyses yielded generally consistent results, and the results were supportive of our considering occupational behaviors along five major behavioral dimensions.

A third factor analysis of the instrument was made. In this analysis all of the scores were independent of each other. The 41 items under the five behaviors were each assigned a single score rather than as many scores as there were scales in that item. The single score for each interview was the average of the scale scores for the item. This procedure reduced the number of variables from 329 to 147. The 147 x 147 correlation matrix was obtained.

The available principal axis factor analysis program could not treat this large a matrix, however, so the matrix has reduced to size 125 x 125. This reduction was accomplished by dropping the interest, temperament, and physical demands scores from the DOT. There were 22 such scores.

The 125 x 125 correlation matrix was factor analyzed and the ensuing factor matrix rotated to the variance criterion. Twenty factors, which accounted for 59.5 per cent of the variance of the matrix, were extracted. The root of the twentieth factor was 1.45 which indicated that not all of the significant common variance in the matrix was extracted. The 20 factors are presented in Table 8 with those variables with loadings greater than .40. Many of the twenty factors are doublets so that it would appear that the twenty factors were sufficient to extract the interpretable commonality of the matrix.

Table 8

(Talues)

CONGEN

Rotated Factors from Analysis of 125 x 125 Correlation Matrix of 109 Independent Instrument Items and 16 DOT Scores

Loading		1	1t -81		77	77	29	1 19	63	59	57	1 5	1 111					68	67	99	1 9	26	52	†S	75	23	9#	46	t 1	4]	t 1			
Facto II (5.4%)	al Aptitude	щ	nal	Spatial Aptitude	Form Perception	Data	Finger Dexterity		Intelligence	Things	Clerical Aptitude	Manual Dexterity	Motor Coordination			Factor III (5.3%)		Blind Positioning	Simultaneous Coordination	Motor Control Operations	Foot-Leg Movements	Depth Discrimination	Estimate Speed	Know Machine Operation	Arm-Hand Movements	Sound Discrimination	Use of Hand Tools	Far Visual Discrimination	Knows Machine Assembly	Assembles Objects	Odor Discrimination			
Item Number	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT	DOT					D11	ከ ፈ	Р6	ЪЗ	D3	Ω¢	12	P2	D7	P8	D 2	EI	P7	D 8			
Loading	82	83	78	77	73	72	72	70	69	29	99	1 9	63	-62	19	90			58	57	21	-50	20	50	48	47	47	45	777-	11	43	T is	t 1	1 1
Factor I (12.5%)	Hiring Responsibility	Dismissal Responsibility	Makes Changes in Status	Develops Budget	Formulates Policy	Knows Business Procedures	Makes Work Schedules	Buys and Orders	Makes Major Decisions	Self-Employed	Regulates Work of Others	Supervision Level	Makes Work Assignments	Hourly Pay	Contact with Suppliers	Supervises Others	Contact with Perspective Employees	Inspects for Quality, etc.	Knows Characteristics of Products	Speaks to Others	Monitors Work of Others	Color Discrimination Aptitude	Knows Processes	Reasoning and Problem Solving	Persuasive Communications	Estimate Quality, etc.	Contact with Salesmen	Knows About Materials	Data (scale is reversed)	Originates Written Communication	Reads and Interprets	Does Bookkeeping	Uses Mathematics	Responsible for Other's Safety
Item	63,3	63,4	63,5	R3	RI	17	63,6	R5	63,10	63,36	63,8	7	R2	63,31	G2, M	G3,1	62,1	R4	11	บ	63,2	DOT-C	91	112	ż	DS	G2,E	15	DOT	23	18	G1,F	II	63,9

Loading	71 63 62	58 48	† 다 † †			28	42	T †1	Ľή	0 tr			52	たひ	47	94	1 1	0
Factor VI (3.2%)	Jumping Crawling Running	Throwing Gives Hand Signals	Balancing Climbing		Factor VII (2.5%)	Contact with Non-supervisory Employees	Contact with Semi-professional, etc.	Contact with Clerical Employees	Contact with Management	Monitors Work of Others		Factor VIII (2.4%)	Use of Mathematics	Near Visual Discrimination	Visualization	Read and Interpret	Follow Instructions	Close Concentration
Item	63,12 63,16 63,13	63,25 C3	63,14 63,15			G2,C	G2 ,F	G2,D	G2,A	63,2			11	TO	110	18	6 I	111
Loading	78 73	65 65	63 62	61 60	59 25	2 1 1	64	42	04			7.1	70	70	63	62		ine 43 41
Factor IV (5.2%)	Carrying Stooping Lifting	Keaching Handling	Kneeling Crouching	Pulling Pushing	Standing	- Kn	Use Hand Tools	Arm-Hand Movement	Balancing		Factor V (3.9%)	Operates Calculator, etc.	Types	Files	Receptionist	Bookkeeping		Operates Duplicating Machine Other Clerical Duties
Item	G3,24 G3,18 G3,23	63,22 63,28	63,20 G3,19	63,27 63,26	G3,17	63,15	P8	P2	G3,14			G1,D	G, 19	GI,A	G1,1	GI,F	61,6	61,H

FRIC

Table 8 (continued)

I

A. V.

A. Santa

- ortensate.

-

Loading	-79 78	ũ	4	62 40		†յ։ †Տ		9#		52		
Factor XV (1.5%)	Less than High School Education High School Education	Factor XVI (1.5%)	Factor XVII (1.4%)	Other Education Provides Personal Service	Factor XVIII (1.3%)	Special Visual Conditions Vocational after High School	Factor XIX (1.3%)	Contact with Important Persons	Factor XX (1.2%)	On-job-training		
Item	H 0	83		65 C5		33		621		#	•	
Loading	-82 72 65		48 45 -41		53 47		74 45		53 50	45 44 44	·	48
Factor IX (2.0%)	Unusual Work Environment Uncomfortable Working Conditions Physical Hazards in Work	Factor X (2.0%)	Sitting Operates Duplicating Machines Wear Work Clothes	Factor XI (1.9%)	Finger Movements Fingering	Factor XII (1.8%)	Salaried Contact with Management	Factor XIII (1.7%)	Motor Coordination Finger Manipulation	Form Ferception Manual Dexterity	Factor XIV (1.6%)	Contact with Suppliers Contact with Salesmen
Item	1170		G3,21 G1,H G3,41		P1 G3,29		G3,30 G2,A		DOT	DOT		G2,M G2,E
				39								

The results of the analysis as presented in Table 8 were generally consistent with the results of the previous two analyses. The first factor was again a supervisory or occupational level factor. A factor composed of the DOT scores emerged and was interpreted as an ability factor. The negative loadings were a function of scale direction. Factor XIII was also made up of certain DOT scores on dexterity and perception items.

Factor III was interpreted as physical-discrimination behavior factor that is likely closely associated with behaviors employed in machine operations.

Factor IV was interpreted as a general body activity factor with a strength connotation. Factor VI was also considered to be a physical factor with emphasis on the use of the limbs or coordination.

A clear clerical factor emerged as Factor V. Factor VII appeared to be a personal contact type of behavior and Factor VIII was interpreted as a factor reflecting behaviors associated with close work.

Factor IX was a work environment factor with an expected pattern of loadings.

Factor X had low loadings and might be reflecting a certain discrimination between clerical and blue-collar occupations.

The remaining factors were doublets and not interpreted although the double loadings in most appeared reasonable.

The three factor analyses of the instrument did indicate the instrument was measuring behaviors that discriminated among occupations in a meaningful manner. The five dimensions that were used on an a priori basis for the development of the instrument did not emerge as clearly seperable factors. The physical behaviors formed distinguishable clusters as did the discrimination behaviors to a lesser degree. The intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communication behaviors tended to cluster together. This outcome would be expected, however, because each of these kinds of behaviors are cognitive in nature.

It was interesting, and somewhat disappointing to us, that the items in the instrument did not cluster well with scores from the DOT. We were hopeful that such clustering would occur as this would have indicated a type of concurrent validity for the instrument items. Apparently the items in the instrument were measuring behaviors different from the behaviors specified by the scores from the DOT worker trait groups. Although the instrument was not perfectly reliable, the fact that the analyses yielded several rather clearly defined factors supported the assumption that reliable and valid measurement of job behaviors was achieved.

Occupational Clusters and Common Behaviors

As indicated in the procedures chapter the approach taken for identification of common behaviors was to identify occupational clusters and then determine those behaviors that characterized the occupations in the cluster. The occupational clusters were identified by applying a factor analysis procedure. The identification of behaviors was accomplished by determining the scoring pattern of the occupations in a cluster on the 329 variables.

The occupational clustering was done with a principal factor analysis and varimax rotation procedure. The analyses were conducted on two different types of matrices derived from the raw data. One matrix was a correlation matrix of the correlations between occupations. This analysis was an application of the "Q" technique of analysis (Guilford, 1954). The other matrix was based on the difference scores between the occupations on each variable.

The first step in the clustering procedure was to compute mean scores for each occupational title on each of the 329 variables. The mean scores were then used to obtain the correlation matrix and the difference matrix.

Analysis of 47 Occupational Titles in Agriculture

After the mean score on each variable for each of the 47 agricultural occupations had been computed, the occupations were correlated with each other. The 47 x 47 correlation matrix is presented in Table 9.

ERIC*

																		51	79	58) •	65		57		61	
																	26	43	51	56)	56		21		47	
																78	₽	47	52	2 8)	45		97		20	
															77	82	1 9	T †	55	61	!	61		20		21	
														64	42	52	57	8	9	7]	55		53		26	
													75	57	52	59	26	54	99	58	† !	9		9		67	
												50	40	₩8	78	80	53	31	45	57		28		39		44	
											80	55	54	93 33	27	82	19	43	24	53	ı	56		20		47	
										99	1 9	99	45	70	99	99	62	59	56	73		62		69		68	
									58	75	67	59	79	78	62	72	99	42	9	52		52		6 48		11	
								62	63	67	63	73	67	99	63	83	55	2 t	21	58		55		59		49	
							ή9	99	73	79	80	53	†	82	80	78	52	43	94	59		54		52		52	
						49	20	39	77	45	40	61	40	94	1 0	47	55	17	56	77		9		74		78	
					74	54	67	52	1 9	56	† †	9	54	52	54	52	52	86	55	73		52		82		75	
				ā	t 8	57	58	37	72	64	94	9	39	52	28	52	52	78	53	80		28		78		80	
				50	52	57	79	70	61	61	57	1 8	82	9	24	₩	68	54	99	54		65		28		49	
			64	92	8 8	ή9	59	47	75	55	55	54	35	58	61	27	53	78	47	81		28		78		77	
		75	80	76	75	65	75	71	75	69	9	77	72	69	49	69	72	78	67	77		1 9		80		79	
		71	67	ე ე	50	1 8	67	70	75	82	1 8	19	53	87	82	82	1 9	45	53	61		60		54		54	
	55	82	85	12 12 13	52	20	70	99	28	26	46	75	79	28	8 ‡	52	73	63	67	56		9		9		†: 9	
	80	90	23	75	77	65	77	72	73	67	99	77	89	74	65	67	72	20	ή9	75		70		74		80	D O
,	78 70 70	76 55	06	56	57	62	78	9	68	62	58	82	79	63	23	67	90	56	59	26		61		27	28	89	ဒ္ဓ
. 60 1	62 73	79	61	80	67	70	63	28	73	63	26	52	43	67	69	65	71	99	59	72		#S	27	74	73	72	1
74 61	57 6 75 6	67 65	61	ა გა	47	83	67	67	20	77	80	24	45	₩	81	83	23	43	47	28	51	52	24	25	21	15	70
H 00 00 =	. v. o	. 8	6	10.	12.	13.	<u>.</u>	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.		28.		29.		30.	
	. 74 . 61 62	61 62 69 75 77 51 62 78 80 91 73 70 72 5	61 62 69 75 77 51 62 78 80 91 73 70 72 55 67 79 76 90 82 71 65 79 55 73 49 65 7	1. 2. 74 3. 61 62 4. 69 75 77 6. 91 73 70 72 55 7. 67 79 76 90 82 71 8. 65 79 55 73 49 65 75 9. 61 61 90 61 85 67 80 49	1. 2. 74 3. 61 62 4. 69 75 77 6. 91 73 70 72 55 7. 67 79 76 90 82 71 8. 65 79 55 73 49 65 75 9. 61 61 90 81 85 67 80 49 0. 59 80 56 75 54 59 76 92 50	1. 2. 74 3. 61 62 4. 69 75 77 6. 91 73 70 72 55 7. 67 79 76 90 82 71 8. 65 79 55 73 49 65 75 9. 61 61 90 61 85 67 80 49 0. 59 80 56 75 54 59 76 92 50 1. 55 77 60 79 64 56 83 81 61 84 2. 47 67 57 71 55 50 75 80 55 81	1. 2. 74 3. 61 62 4. 69 75 77 6. 91 73 70 72 55 7. 67 79 76 90 82 71 8. 65 79 55 73 49 65 75 9. 61 61 90 81 85 67 80 49 1. 55 77 60 79 64 56 83 81 61 84 2. 47 67 57 71 55 50 84 65 64 57 57 54 4	1. 2. 74 . 2. 3. 4. 6. 6. 78 80 . 4. 6. 6. 77 6. 79 76 90 82 71 . 6. 79 80 65 75 9. 6. 1 6. 1 90 8. 1 85 67 80 49 . 6. 1 6. 1 90 8. 1 85 67 80 49 . 6. 1 6. 1 90 8. 1 85 67 80 49 . 6. 1 6. 1 90 8. 1 85 67 80 49 . 6. 1 6. 1 90 8. 1 85 67 80 49 . 6. 1 85 77 60 79 64 56 83 81 61 84 . 67 67 57 71 55 50 75 80 55 81 74 . 67 67 77 70 67 75 50 75 50 75 50 64 65 64 57 57 54 49 . 67 63 78 77 70 67 75 59 79 58 67 50 6	1. 74	1. 74. 5. 61 62 78 80 5. 7. 7. 67 79 64 56 83 81 61 81 74 67 87 71 55 80 55 81 74 67 87 71 55 80 55 81 74 67 87 71 55 80 75 80 75 80 64 65 64 57 57 67 68 70 70 67	1. 74	1. 74	1. 74	1. 74. 5. 51. 62 78 80 6. 52 73 49 65 75 91 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70	1. 4. 69 75 77 4. 69 72 55 73 49 65 75 77 60 79 64 65 67 77 63 78 60 72 65 77 67 68 78 68 79 70 77 68 69 78 77 70 67 79 76 89 71 70 67 79 76 89 71 70 67 79 76 89 71 70 67 79 76 89 71 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 67 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	1. 5. 74 5. 5. 5. 6. 6. 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70	1	1	4 5 7 7 8 9	1. 74	1	1	1. The second of	1	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1

ERIC

53	39		81		65		28		42		19		20		37		69		19		9		54		1 9		79		42		65	
67	59		47		69		22		1 9		22		94		21		† †		22		24		20		21		55		46		28	
99	22		36		25		26		75		99		65		11		40		20		4 1		24		43		42		20		040	
19	94		1 3		22		09		89		62		19		71		40		24		47		99		45		40		45		47	
09	52		T †		61		79		73		99		62		69		36		29		49		29		47		45		47		21	43
52	63		34		67		45		19		49		21		48		30		42		48		33		22		40		62	38	26	62
56	9		21		69		63		9		6 2		52		47		21		26		65		9#		69		20	26	62	47	61	9
54	53		30		20		61		71.		22		62		75		33		28		4 8		99		36	47	38	8 †	45	† †	94	25
09	55		£3		1 9		62		11		99		62		79		38		20		4 8		26	19	Ŧ	71	94	63	† †	26	22	69
63	55		69		99		11		62		83		99		63		65		ή9		63	20	65	69	61	2 t	61	1 9	†	45	9	89
09	54		32		89		53		72		22		24		63		32		† †	61	45	62	43	28	6 1	23	43	67	48	27	21	19
52	65		47		99		61		22		1 9		23		28		42	33	28	64	22	H J	29	26	20	37	53	36	62	04	63	64
09	48		20		23		61		89		29		9		79	28	† †	37	24	64	48	37	89	25	45	37	38	45	39	94	94	47
26	21		81		63		67		45		71		64	23	41	21	92	1 9	1 9	29	69	29	9	63	72	28	73	28	43	1 7	61	28
59	49		80		20		67		47						-4	_	_	_			ôô					_	_					
28	42		82		19		72		† †	21	71	99	20	23	† †	53	83	62	77	69	69	20	70	62	63	65	74	63	37	42	67	63
99	94		040		20		26	23	99	62	9	67	9	21	52	6 †	38	23	52	61	22	69	52	21	29	63	21	65	71	52	28	71
9	41		82		09	63	9/	69	48	37	75	49	53	42	21	36	79	83	72	1 9	99	79	74	9	59	63	92	92	33	33	63	65
75	99		69	37	80	52	73	64	69	28	78	20	61	21	9	49	68	36	89	49	74	49	65	64	74	45	71	45	9	63	73	84
72	56	22	45	47	26	53	65	42	11	63	20	6 3	72	56	11	23	43	20	74	20	48	48	99	22	49	20	ήħ	4 8	47	42	52	84
60	65	99	64	75	92	67	52	69	62.	21	23	99	47	94	45	45	45	75	26	70	62	73	64	29	29	89	22	လူ	6 2	49	1 9	74
567	200	45	65	78	79	67	72	65	67	94	16	71	61	4 8	2 6	94	63	92	75	22	9/	19	68	23	69	63	69	9/	62	34	92	99
61	なさ	63	47	21	99	59	63	90	63	24	67	64	63	64	09	64	††	64	26	23	28	09	26	1 8	29	22	64	28	73	55	57	22
7.5	20	45	20	79	62	99	99	75	28	52	73	<u>୧</u> ୧	52	52	28	21	67	79	60	92	26	67	71	20	22	62	09	20	39	33	62	69
75	23	84	40	O O	20	20	2 ₽	2t	70	57	73	21	59	33	77	38	45	43	25	47	45	62	1 9	†	04	67	#]	48	47	23	64	23
31.	32.		33.		34.		35.		36.		37.		38.		39.		40.		41.		45.		43.		††		45.		46.		47.	

The correlations in the matrix are somewhat spurious because of the auto-correlation between scales within an item. This auto-correlation could serve to either cause an over or under estimate of the true correlation. Despite this limitation, however, a factor analysis of the matrix would be expected to yield factors that would consist of occupational clusters. The loadings in the factor matrix should probably not be interpreted as correlations, but rather as simply an indication of having some behaviors in common with the other occupations with loadings on the factor.

Twenty factors were extracted from the correlation matrix with the principal axis solution. Unity was used as the communality estimate for this solution and all subsequent analyses reported. The 20 factors accounted for 93.5 per cent of the variance in the correlation matrix. An examination of the roots of the 20 factors indicated that five of the factors had roots greater than unity and were thus accounting for most of the significant common variance. Factors six and seven had roots near unity so it was decided to rotate the seven factors with the varimax procedure. Table 10 contains the factors obtained after rotation that had two or more occupations with loadings greater than .40.

Three rather clear occupational clusters were evident in the factors. Factor I was interpreted as a production agriculture factor. The occupations with the eleven highest loadings on this factor were all some type of production agriculture occupation. Factor II was interpreted as occupations in agriculture industry. Nearly all of the occupations in this cluster were wage-earning occupations in some type of agriculture related industry. It was interesting to note that farm and ranch hands loaded much stronger on this factor than on Factor I. Factor III was identified as an agri-business factor with a heavy emphasis on sales. Most of the occupations in this cluster involved some sort of contact with other people. Factor IV was a doublet and explained a much smaller portion of the common variance than the other three. The three factors that emerged from the rotation accounted for 72.1 per cent of the variance in the original matrix.

Another matrix, which we called a difference matrix, was constructed and subjected to factor analysis. There were three reasons for trying this procedure. The first reason was to reduce the

Table 10

Charles de la contraction de l

Total Control

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Matrix in Table 9

m o	Factor I (30.4%)		Factor II (23.9%)		Factor III (17.8%)		-
88 Tree trimmer 84 Partsman 80 Tech 86 Farnch hand 84 Sales, equipment 75 Brand 75 Brand 75 Brand 72 Brand 72 Brand 65 Brand 65 Brand 65 Brand 65 Brand 65 Brand 66 Brand 67 Veterinarian 67 Veterinarian aid 44 49 44 <td>rancher</td> <td>83</td> <td>Chopper operator</td> <td>88</td> <td></td> <td>80</td> <td>Artificial Breeding</td>	rancher	83	Chopper operator	88		80	Artificial Breeding
88 Ranch hand 84 Sales, equipment 75 Brand 86 Tawk driver 76 Auctioneer 72 86 Truck driver 75 Sales, petroleum 65 87 Pedlet mill worker 74 Buyer 66 82 Food processing wk. 72 Sales, fertilizer 60 81 Feed mill worker 71 Buyer 66 81 Feed mill worker 71 Nursery worker 55 81 Feed mill worker 71 Nursery worker 55 82 Lumber yard man 49 44 40 Ditch rider 50 Lumber yard man 44 40 Ditch rider 55 Soil conserver 44 58 Sale barn yardman 57 Feed mill worker 42 59 Tractor operator 55 Soil conserv. tech. 42 60 Mirsery worker 53 Hatchery worker 42 60 Mirsery wo	farmer	88	Tree trimmer	1 8	Partsman	80	2
86 Farm hand 82 Secretary & Clerical 86 Truck driver 76 Auctioneer 87 Pellet mill worker 75 Sales, patroleum 81 Food processing wk. 72 Sales, pertilizer 81 Foed mill worker 71 Buyer 81 Foed mill worker 71 Brascy worker 73 Cannery worker 71 Brascy worker 68 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid 1cor 61 Ag. technician 60 Lumber yard man 1cor 61 Ag. technician 60 Lumber yard man 1cor 61 Ag. technician 60 Lumber yard man 1cor 61 Ag. technician 50 Groundskeeper 1cor 53 Tractor operator 55 Foed mill worker 1cor 53 Unstrom operator 53 Hatchery worker 1cor 50 Veterinarian aid 42 42 1cor <t< td=""><td>armer</td><td>88</td><td>Ranch hand</td><td>₩8</td><td>Sales, equipment</td><td>75</td><td></td></t<>	armer	88	Ranch hand	₩8	Sales, equipment	75	
mer 86 Truck driver 76 Auctioneer r 84 Groundskeeper 74 Buyer 82 Food processing wk. 72 Sales, patroleum 81 Feed mill worker 71 Elevator worker 73 Cannery worker 71 Nursery worker 88 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid 40 Mechanic 60 Lumber yard man 40 Josepan yardman 59 Groundskeeper 50 Ditch rider 55 Pellet mill worker 51 Hatchery worker 53 Hatchery worker 50 Veterinarian aid 42 42 50 Veterinarian aid 42 42 60 Hu 43 42	feeder	36	Farm hand	85	w	73	
farmer 85 Pellet mill worker 75 Sales, patroleum rmer 84 Groundskeeper 74 Buyer er 82 Food processing wk. 72 Sales, fertilizer er 73 Cannery worker 71 Elevator worker ver 68 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid e supt. 65 Mechanic 60 Lumber yard man e supt. 65 Mechanic 60 Lumber yard man e supt. 65 Merchanic 60 Brand inspector erator 60 Ditch rider 59 Groundskeeper erator 58 Tractor operator 55 Fed mill worker erator 50 Ustrom operator 53 Hatchery worker tripment 53 Ustrom operator 53 Hatchery worker trker 50 Veterinarian aid 42 42 trker 48 45 42 42 ber	armer	86	Truck driver	92	Auctioneer	72	
er 84 Groundskeeper 74 Buyer er 82 Food processing wk. 72 Sales, fertilizer er 73 Cannery worker 71 Nursery worker tver 68 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid e supt. 65 Mechanic 60 Ditch rider 59 Groundskeeper er 57 Hatchery worker 55 Feed mill worker er 57 Hatchery worker 55 Soil conserv. tech. tilizer 56 Greenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker ipment 53 Custom operator 53 corker 51 Brand inspector 53 corker 53 Elevator worker 53 corker 54 Brand inspector 55 corker 55 Wererinarian aid 42 rv. tech. 43 rv. tech. 43 roleum 40	le farmer	85	Pellet mill worker	75	Sales, petroleum	69	
er 82 Food processing wk. 72 Sales, fertilizer er 73 Cannery worker 71 Nursery worker ver 68 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid e supt. 65 Mechanic 60 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid e supt. 65 Mechanic 60 Lumber yard man erator 61 Ag. technician 60 Brand inspector 61 Ditch rider 59 Groundskeeper 57 Hatchery worker 55 Felet mill worker er 57 Hatchery worker 55 Soil conserv. technipment 53 Custom operator 53 Custom operator 53 Custom operator 53 Custom operator 54 Cannery worker 55 Cannery worker 55 Cannery worker 50 Veterinarian aid 42 Cannery worker 46 Cannery worker 46 Cannery worker 46 Cannery worker 47 Cannery worker 48 Cannery worker 48 Cannery worker 49 Cannery 40 Cannery 4	farmer	84	Groundskeeper	74	Buyer	65	
er 73 Cannery worker 71 Elevator worker ver 68 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid e supt. 65 Mechanic e supt. 66 Mechanic e supt. 66 Mechanic e supt. 67 Veterinarian aid e supt. 68 Cheenskeeper frilizer 56 Greenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker ipment 53 Custom operator 63 custom operator 42 custom operator 42 custom operator 42 custom 44 custom 64 custom 44 custom 65 custom 67 custom 6	armer	82	Food processing wk.	72	Sales, fertilizer	09	
er 73 Cannery worker 71 Nursery worker ver 68 Lumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid e supt. 65 Mechanic 60 Lumber yard man erator 61 Ag. technician 60 Brand inspector fo Ditch rider 59 Groundskeeper rator 58 Sale barn yardman 57 Feed mill worker er 57 Hatchery worker 55 Pellet mill worker er 57 Hatchery worker 53 Hatchery worker sin Custom operator 53 Hatchery worker d 50 Veterinarian aid 42 r 50 Veterinarian aid 42 r 46 42	Wer	81	Feed mill worker	7.1	Elevator worker	52	
68 Iumber yard man 67 Veterinarian aid 65 Mechanic 61 Ag, technician 60 Ditch rider 58 Sale barn yardman 57 Feed mill worker 58 Tractor operator 57 Hatchery worker 58 Greenskeeper 59 Greenskeeper 51 Brand inspector 52 Lustom operator 53 Elevator worker 54 Wursery worker 55 Veterinarian aid 56 Weterinarian aid 57 Hatchery worker 58 Hatchery worker 59 Hatchery worker 59 Hatchery worker 59 Hatchery worker 50 Nursery worker 51 Brand inspector 52 Hatchery worker 53 Hatchery worker 54 Hatchery worker 55 Hatchery worker 66 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 68 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 62 Hatchery worker 63 Hatchery worker 64 Hatchery worker 65 Hatchery worker 66 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 68 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 62 Hatchery worker 63 Hatchery worker 64 Hatchery worker 65 Hatchery worker 66 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 68 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 62 Hatchery worker 63 Hatchery worker 64 Hatchery worker 65 Hatchery worker 66 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 68 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 62 Hatchery worker 63 Hatchery worker 64 Hatchery worker 65 Hatchery worker 66 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 68 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 61 Hatchery worker 62 Hatchery worker 63 Hatchery worker 64 Hatchery worker 65 Hatchery worker 65 Hatchery worker 66 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 67 Hatchery worker 68 Hatchery worker 68 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 69 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatchery worker 60 Hatc	rower	73	Cannery worker	7.1	Nursery worker	22	
65 Mechanic 60 Lumber yard man 61 Ag. technician 60 Brand inspector 60 Ditch rider 59 Groundskeeper 58 Sale barn yardman 57 Feed mill worker 57 Hatchery worker 55 Soil conserv. tech. 56 Greenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker 53 Custom operator 53 Hatchery worker 53 Elevator worker 53 Hatchery worker 53 Brand inspector 52 Hatchery worker 50 Veterinarian aid 42 42 44 48 46 46 46 47 49 47 49 49 47 49 49 47 49 49 47 49 49 49 40 41 49	grouer	89	Lumber yard man	29	Veterinarian aid	64	
61 Ag. technician 60 Brand inspector 60 Ditch rider 58 Sale barn yardman 57 Feed mill worker 58 Tractor operator 55 Pellet mill worker 57 Hatchery worker 55 Soil conserv. tech. 58 Greenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker 59 Cheenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker 50 Wursery worker 49 50 Veterinarian aid 42 48 48 48 49 40 41	urse supt.	65	Mechanic	09	Lumber yard man	# 8	
60 Ditch rider 58 Sale barn yardman 58 Tractor operator 58 Tractor operator 59 Tractor operator 57 Hatchery worker 53 Custom operator 53 Elevator worker 53 Elevator worker 50 Nursery worker 50 Veterinarian aid 40 40 40 41	operator	61	Ag. technician	90	Brand inspector	†	
58 Sale barn yardman 57 Feed mill worker 58 Tractor operator 55 Pellet mill worker 57 Hatchery worker 55 Soil conserv. tech. 58 Creenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker 59 Custom operator 53 51 Brand inspector 52 50 Nursery worker 49 50 Veterinarian aid 42 48 46 ech. 43 41	· ##	09	Ditch rider	29	Groundskeeper	#	
58 Tractor operator 55 Pellet mill worker 57 Hatchery worker 55 Soil conserv. tech. er 56 Greenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker t 53 Custom operator 53 51 Brand inspector 53 50 Veterinarian aid 42 48 ech. 43 41 40	Ų	28	Sale barn yardman	27	Feed mill worker	42	
er 56 Greenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker t 53 Justom operator 53 51 Brand inspector 52 50 Nursery worker 49 50 Veterinarian aid 42 48 ech. 43 40	operator	58	Tractor operator	22	Pellet mill worker	42	
ilizer 56 Greenskeeper 53 Hatchery worker pment 53 Custom operator 53 ker 53 Elevator worker 53 rker 51 Brand inspector 52 s	eeper	57	Hatchery worker	52	Soil conserv. tech.	42	
pment 53 Custom operator ker 53 Elevator worker rker 51 Brand inspector 50 Nursery worker 50 Veterinarian aid 48 uyer 46 v. tech. 43 er 43 er 43	fertilizer	56	Greenskeeper	53	Hatchery worker	Ŧ	
ker 53 Elevator worker rker 51 Brand inspector 50 Nursery worker 50 Veterinarian aid 48 v. tech. 49 er 43 er 49 oleum 40	equipment	53	Custom operator	23			
rker 51 Brand inspector 50 Nursery worker 50 Veterinarian aid 48 48 48 46 46 46 4.6 4.1 ian 40	worker	53	Elevator worker	23			
50 50 48 48 48 v. tech. 46 er 43 er 43 er 43 oleum 40	or worker	21	Brand inspector	25			
50 48 uyer 46 46 v. tech. 43 er 43 er 43 oleum 40	feed	20	Nursery worker	64			
uyer v. tech. er ian	ster	20	Veterinarian aid	45			
ch.	ider	84					
ch.	ock buyer	91					
Cp.	pu	94					
		£43					
	keeper	1 3					
-	hnician	41					
•	petroleum	40					

influence of the auto-correlation caused by the lack of independence between scales within an item. The second was that the "Q" technique of factor analysis is most appropriate with ipsatile measurement and our measures were not ipsative. The third reason was that the correlations between occupations were not influenced by level. Two occupations could correlate very highly on the 329 scores but still differ considerably in terms of level. This last reason is actually a reflection of the fact that the measures were not ipsative.

Orr (1960) has reported a technique for occupational clustering based on a D statistic and the hierarchical grouping procedure used by the Air Force (Marsh, 1965) seemed to be based on a like statistic. The D statistic is obtained by computing the difference score between occupations on each variable and squaring and summing the differences across the variables. The magnitude of the D value is thus a direct measure of the degree of similarity between occupations.

A factor analysis of a matrix of D values among occupations should be expected to yield clusters of occupations. Further the D matrix would be less influenced by the auto-correlation between the scales and would reflect differences in scoring level on the variables.

The D values among the 47 agricultural occupations were obtained. The maximum possible D score on the 329 variables was 7,679 and the minimum was, of course, zero. The largest D value among the 47 occupations was 1,113 which was between fruit farmer and chopper operator. The smallest D value, 68, was between farm equipment salesman and feed salesman.

The D matrix could not be analyzed with our program because it had zeroes in the diagonals. Consequently, the matrix was transformed as follows:

$$D' = \frac{D}{Big}$$
 and

$$D'' = 1.00 - D'$$

where D" is the matrix used in the analysis. The D matrix was first divided by the scaler "Big" which was the largest D value in the matrix to yield a D' matrix. The D' matrix was subtracted from the scaler of 1.00 to yield the D" matrix which is shown in Table 11.

Table 11

H

A. 15.

																						28	04	22		2 6		62		53		52	
																					83	53	40	21		55		52		47		21	
																				82	98	63	33	57		09		99		52		55	
																			ţ	46	5.7	75	58	71		53		70		65		99	
m																		80	69	63	70	89	9	74		99		74		69		74	
Occupations																	48	28	82	92	78	35	07	29		04		46		23		30	
cupa1																73	70	65	85	80	85	70	20	65		61		69		19		58	
															77	28	79	62	77	72	74	74	99	69		78		77		11		76	
Agriculture Table 4)														75	83	57	74	74	80	67	76	77	56	73		1 9		72		ή9		31	
gricultu Table 4)													75	177	77	9	83	74	92	72	73	65	28	63		1 9		70		67		7.1	
C)												71	70	77	82	77	63	47	82	82	81	53	38	64		57		59		52		53	
											ហ	ဖ	ເດ	Φ	S	N	-	ഗ	ഗ	ស	ស	ထ	8	ဖ		83		74		81		83	
rix Between 4 (Order same										81	55	73	67	75	99	29	70	99	26	54	52	69	88	89		79		69		87		80	
ix B (Ord									85	85	61	70	57	81	62	37	71	53	9	62	80	19	79	1 9		83		77		82		78	
Matr.								တ	~	7	ထ	ထ	α	7	7	ß	တ	Φ		ဖ	7	7	49	7		99		80		71		74	
							99	76	85	₩8	99	70	59	82	99	វ	67	50	1 9	6 4	63	1 9	79	29		₩8		71		82		81	
Difference						82	89	83	83	83	69	83	#£	8 3	79	50	86	81	74	68	73	82	82	79		82		80		86		82	
Dif					71	99	72	62	24	51	ထ	75	72	78	82	83	70	24	90	86	89	59	36	51		56		61		21		23	
				53	88	19	88	49	74	57	51	75	76	70	99	30	80	85	59	49	55	81	70	77		99		73		71		72	76
			82	77	93	80	83	82	82	77	71	85	82	84	78	62	86	75	81	72	76	77	71	76		78		80		78	72	83	74
		86	83	75	96	2 8	46	69	71	69	69	86	36	81	75	53	8	1 8	73	68	75	71	63	70		65		75	69	68	78	75	81
	-	۵	71		ω	Φ	-	œ	ω	~	-		(~	œ	7	Ŋ	-	ထ	7	7	~	7	7	7		7	ဖ	7	5	Φ	9	78	7
	68 60	39	36	92	58	56	59	25	14	35	80	67	59	65	7.1	78	26	35	₩8	82	83	42	20	33	62	#	77	64	61	36	82	39	76
	4.9.6.	#	v	9		œ΄	တံ	0	-	2	3	#	15.	9	7	∞	Q	0	H	2	က	24.	25.	26.		27.		28.		29.		30.	

70		99		9		77		67		70		21		33		8,7		26		20		26		67		19		67		62		63	
74		60		30		57		2 6		85		72		6 4		11		47		64		at B		26		94	•	39		21		ťħ	
89		20		33		26		57		75		68		63		20		38		48		37		65		\$		33		20		45	20
69		90		34		† €		62		81		72		#9		69		38		52		42		90		Ω		닼		1 5	50	3	62
63		69		94		K. R.		56		69		48		40		9#		6		37		64		33		せ		23	9	72	26	61	19
69		69		55		11		20		75		7		52		52		59		24		1 9		52		7.	6 4	57	64	73	45	65	84
21		43		00		37		77		68		56		28		89		13		##		5 #		57	52	20	69	13	61	34	26	30	65
70		63		84		72		89		₩8		68		59		78		47		8		47	9	23	62	20	9#	52	25	28	T †	21	19
74		99		70		96		81		16		82		62		65		71		19	22	63	9	67	53	69	63	67	7	62	1 0	99	62
17		65		50		78		65		80		59		64		63		8 4	33	43	39	8	27	8 4	51	9	32	26	27	65	47	29	37
69		72		20		73		67		7.3		20		59		19	2	21	21	26	36	55	サイ	63	#	28	25	57	23	72	38	67	34
99		23		36		26		59		74		70		28	9	78	55	42	22	8	52	33	46	6 4	61	#	53	34	#	45	43	##	25
63		29		83		73		74		28		65	67	38	57	40	73	80	45	28	917	89	49	28	57	11	26	78	20	28	63	6 2	55
65		21		83		77		#		29	59	62	57	42	39	94	64	77	6 3	57	62	65	69	9	28	69	69	90	69	53	24	71	†9
67		52		82		70		11	72	29	70	70	63	#	41	77	48	85	19	99	55	89	89	70	21	99	72	75	20	23	1 9	70	73
76		81		53		80	67	9	72	79	0	6 2	45	57	15	59	23	53	₩	21	64	29	19	57	Ø ≠	89	1 9	62	ਰ	81	45	65	63
68		51		80	\$	69	62	79	55	62	99	73	20	47	##	51	47	81	42	68	E 43	1 9	47	73	8 †	65	20	77	6 4	64	20	99	20
81		74	1 9	74	97	86	62	80	52	79	74	74	71	54	55	61	52	75	24	63	47	73	45	99	59	79	55	77	20	75	52	76	52
77	1 9	28	65	31	77	26	74	59	74	82	9	76	61	74	35	75	£3	40	79	52	1 9	36	72	65	1 9	47	72	35	20	21	61	21	92
65	62	70	35¢	53	82	82	75	1 9	72	68	57	52	63	35	35	£3	£33	56	80	20	50	62	19	47	51	99	69	99	8	75	21	67	69
77	63	76	だ	19	63	83	72	76	77	79	68	78	31	9	42	59	20	89	62	71	₹ 2	72	62	70	20	73	29	69	69	73	20	77	ま
73	62	79	52	24	80	76	71	77	79	16	59	70	53	19	38	63	46	52	83	52	69	59	99	9	99	6 4	6 4	28	74	81	25	63	70
81	9	61	57	69	62	72	78	73	65	72	65	74	8 ‡	50	28	9	37	72	52	28	담	57	62	72	E ₃	63	73	65	9	21	26	99	28
72	24	45	45	10	1 8	40	20	38	1 9	20	4	74	64	69	29	94	29	25	73	39	20	78	28	57	94	27	67	17	83	35	23	35	65
31.		32.		33.		34.		35.		36.		37.		38.		39.		40.		41.		42.		43.		##		45.		46.		47.	

The values in the matrix thus are like a per cent of agreement between occupations. A value of 1.00 indicates maximum agreement and a value of 0.00 indicates least agreement among the occupations in the matrix.

Twenty factors were extracted from the D" matrix with the principal axis solution. The 20 factors accounted for 95.6 per cent of the variance of the matrix. Seven factors, which accounted for 86.1 per cent of the variance were rotated to the varimax criterion. The results of the rotation are presented in Table 12.

It is apparent that the analysis of the D" matrix yielded results very similar to the analysis of the correlation matrix. Three factors accounted for 75.8 per cent of the total variance and a fourth factor accounted for a very small portion of the variance. The three strong factors are nearly identical to the three factors that emerged in the analysis of the correlation matrix.

Thus the two analyses are mutually supportive and indicate that the 47 agricultural occupations in the analyses represent three occupational clusters. There was a distinct production agriculture business cluster. In the next section these clusters will be compared in terms of the behaviors that characterize a cluster and differentiate among the clusters.

Common Behaviors in Agriculture Occupation Clusters

Table 13 contains data that are indicative of the behavior characteristics of an occupational cluster. The first three columns are of the agriculture occupation clusters. Columns four, five, and six are data on the three clusters identified in the analysis of the metal working occupations. A description of this analysis follows. The last four columns in the table are data on the analysis of the agriculture and metal working occupations combined.

Table 12

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Matrix in Table 11

Factor I (32.5%)		Factor II (22.4%)		Factor III (20.9%)		Factor IV (5.0%)
General farmer	63	Chopper operator	68	Partsman	† 8	Sale barn yardman
Cattle rancher	16	Pellet mill operator	83	Sales, feed	92	Ag. technician
Fruit farmer	88	Tree trimmer	82	Secretary & clerical	3 6	Hatchery worker
Grain farmer	98	Food processing	78	Auctioneer	74	•
Dairy farmer	98	Cannery	78	Sales, equipment	89	
Vegetable farmer	ቱ8	Feed mill	74		89	
Cattle feeder	⊅ 8	Truck driver	73	Artif. breeding tech.	99	
Hog grower	75	Ranch hand	72	Flower grower	65	
Poultry farmer	74	Farm hand	69	Sales, petroleum	65	
Custom operator	74	Groundskeeper	99	Soil tester	19	
Golf course supt.	71	Lumber yard man	62	Veterinarian aid	09	
Sheep grower	69	Mechanic	57	Soil conserv. tech.	58	
Tractor operator	6 8	Grain elevator	56	Grain elevator worker	53	
Greenskeeper	89	Brand inspector	2 t	Sales, fertilizer	56	
Mechanic	99	Ditch rider	52	Sheep grower	55	
Herdsman	1 9	Tractor operator	64	Nursery worker	23	
Nursery weaker	63	Veterinarian aid	67	Brand inspector	64	
Sales, fertilizer	62	Hatchery worker	64	Poultry farmer	47	
Farm hand	19	Soil tester	46	Herdsman	42	
Flower grower	26	Artif. breeding tech.	45			
Sales, equipment	52	Sale barn yardman	††			
Grain elevator	24	Soil conserv. tech.	ц 3			
Ranch hand	24	Secretary & clerical	42			
Sales, feed	20	Nursery	1 1			
Sales, petroleum	20	•				
Ag. technician	64					
Groundskeeper	81					
Ditch rider	8					
Soil conserv. tech.	45					
Feed mill	# 1					

Table 13

Occupations Scoring Above and Below the Mean for each Variable by Occupational Cluster

	~ w #	_																		
	Fac IV Skilled or Tech	2)		ω	\$	ო	7	S	Ø	=	ထ		7	2	#	7	2		-	~
	Fac Ski	H (; ~	လ	ဖ	7	さ	ო	ເດ	~		8	0	က	00	8		Φ	œ
	III	 S		13	7	디	<u>0</u>	10	12	H	တ		ູເຄ	32	11	:*) ~ i	ن ۳		<u>.</u>	1.0
ned	Fac I Prod Ag	H (12		3			_		ເດ	16	ω		12		(a)	9	7			7
Combined	ac II Busi- ness	<u>ت</u> س		17	6	13	6	ç;	47	4.	13		11	17	ග	전	ო		o	S
οl	Fac I Busi ness	H (14		ო	11	£	ij		ω	16	-		တ		12	တ	11		7	15
	Fac I Indús- trial	L H 14)(41		18	28	29	25	38	TE	32	17		34	8	5 8	27	31		28	20
	Fac I Indús trial	H (26		22	12	T	15	2	თ	ω	23		9	22	12	13	<u></u>	سے جہریت	12	20
	III Si-	2 2		œ	ഗ	œ	ო	#	2	-	œ		S	œ	က္	ಸು	~		动	ത
0 i	Fac I Busi ness	mω		0	ഗ	8	<u></u>	9	ო	თ	~		S	S	#	လ	ω		9	7
Agriculture	11 18-	7 (9		12	13	16	6	17	19	12	2		12	12	14	15	12		ମ	Ħ
ricu	Fac II Indus- trial	H (15		ဘ		ស		ಫ	N	<u>ი</u>	77		6			9				10
Agi	ac I Prod Ag	L 7)		19	10	16	12	11	15	8	13		œ	16	13	14	11		10	თ
	Fac Pro	й (15		က	12	9	10	11	7	20	Ø		14	ဖ	တ	00	11		12	13
	Fac III Busi- ness	1 (S		o o		s	ထ	#	9	#	7		9	8	#	#	က		7	#
	Fac I Busi ness	H ()		0	ഗ	ヸ	-	S	ო	ß	N		က		ည	ស	9		N	ស
諨	ac II Semi Skill	L (S		ω	13	16	14	19	74	18	ဖ		18	œ	13	15	14		91	11
Metal	Fac II Semi Skill	H (14		11	ဖ		ις ·		ມາ	H	13		-	11		#	5			œ
	H []	T 7		ω	10	œ	တ	77	70	14	12		14	10	10	7	15		10	7
	Fac I Skill	H (12		ω	ဖ	ω	7	8	9		= †			19		_	-			
	•	Variable	~	Below H. S.	High School	Vocational	On job tr.	lege	Ęį	Level of sup.	Repet. of job	Work environment	i. inconv.	Phy. haz. Uncomfortable	T	Tech. vocab.	. vision	Finger movements		
	!	Vau	Education	Belk	Higl	Voca	е 6	College	Other	Leve	Repe	envi	Pers.	Phy.	Usual	Tech	Spec.	er mc	* >	Ω,
			Educ	7.	5	ო	#	S.	ဖဲ	7.	œ	Work	6		12.	13.	14.	Fing	15.	16.

	9	-	က	8	8		~	8	9	က	7	+	က		ဖ	ស	ഗ	വ	v	ស	ဖ		#	ო	9	ო	ល	က	-
	ო	σ	ဖ	2	7		ထ	<u></u>	က	ဖ	0	S.	ف ف		က	#	#	#	#		က		S	ဖ	ო	ဖ	+	ဖ	ω
	ω	12	2	13	10		თ	တ	ω	10	S	တ	4		Ci	#	ო	က	ო	ო	8		#	20	ဖ	9	က	-	
ned	σ							თ		- •					15	13	77	14	14	74	15		13	2	17	ᅼ	12	20	13
Combined											•														•		·		·
8	16		-	~			_	15	~		-		-					16					-	~	-		13	r-4	-
	*	12	တ	#	##		വ	ഗ	ဖ	#	ဖ	#	က		#	ဖ	N	≠.	က	N	ഹ		9	Φ	#	Ω.	7	#	70
	59	20	2 6	21	34		22	13	30	17	22	12	26		28	23	29	77	25	5 7	29		26	16	27	13	20	13	27
	11	20	#1	6 H	ဖ		18	27	10	23	18	5 8	74		12	15	1	97	12	9	H		74	5	13	21	20	27	13
										·																		·	
	ω	ന	ဖ	ထ	0		7	ဖ	ဖ	ဖ	7	ဖ	ω		ဖ	ယ	တ	9	7	Φ	ဖ		ល	9		Φ	စ	2	ເດ
re	0	2	#	0	Φ		က	#	#	#	က	#	8		#	#	_	#	က	N	=		ນ	#	ന	~		က	S
Agriculture	13	က	ဖွ		မှ		0	10	က	2	ო	0	ထ		œ	ဖ	O O	ဖ	2	ស	7		2	0	0	7	ග	ဖ	7
icu	8				_		-	4		#	-	-1	က											Н	-		12		
Agr							Н			-		~	~		-	–	ન	15	Ä	4	7								
•	Ħ	ä	11	15	တ		-	77	Н	_		Н			-			ល		_				~	-	-		~	
	Ħ	H	I	7	13		တ	디	10	10	13	တ	12		16	17	16	17	17	16	17		17	10	12	11	12	۲. ۲.	18
	8		9	8			ဖ	ω	ဖ	ത	ω	ထ	<u>-</u>		 8	ယ	_	8	<u>~~</u>	<u> </u>		-		<u></u>	_	 m	9	ത	
	Н				-			-										-									დ		
	·			•				·				į					•	_ •		•					•	•			
al	16	10	12	11	19		12	ဖ	16	10	വ	ო	12		74	13	13	12	12	13	15		17	2	12	10	တ	Φ	18
Metal	ო	တ	-	ω	0		7	13	ო	တ	74	16	#		ស	ဖ	ဖ	2	7	ဖ	#		8	12	7	တ	10	11	H
	_	"	_	10	~ :		~	~ !	1	~	~	٥,	^ 1		~	_	_	_	_	د			~ !	_	_	_			۵.
	-			2	4 1%			~							i E			019					7				7	_	_
	***	L U	တ	H	~		Ο.	され	-,	~	w	#	#		.,	~			_	-,		C!	~	ä	w	Φ	0,	70	7
						nt								nt								tio							
						eme								eme								ina			•				
						movement								movement								Coordination							
	_		م	St.				_		H	ہم	ىد			•	_	_	H	Ω,	ų		ပိ		_	_		Q,	t,	
	<u>į,</u>	1-1	ယ	ഗ	O	Arm-hand	>	P4	Ē4	H	ຜ	ഗ	Ö	Foot-leg	>	ጔ	ĬΉ	H	ري ا	S	ပ	Simul.	>	Д	F-4	H	Sp	S	ပ
	17.		19.		21.	Arm	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	Foo	29.	30.	31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	Sim	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.

	. មេសភាភាភ	+ 0.00	രപ്ര	0 # 9 + # 10 +	4460
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			•	
	4 4 6 6 4 6 1	0 0 0 3	⊕ 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	@ ~ v	0001
	9807550	0 0 5 0	LOL 0	~ @ 10 -1 ~ -1 ~	သ မ္မက္က
' ਲ				11 21 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	•
in	# # O O O #	ה ה ה	10 10	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	17 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Combined	1111111		19 19 19 19	16 17 17 18 18	128
-•	ឧបស្សាយព		はるよら	3000U30	⊣ o v o
	22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 2	v დოთ	17 14 28 28	22 22 22 23 23 24 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	0 0 0 C
	00 to		23 26 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13	രമാഗതതമാ	O T O TO
		1 00H			25 28 14 20
	0077700	0 10 0	4000	8684848	တ္မွတ္ဆ
ωi	0 p m m m t n	ំ ។ ហ ។	するすの	0 m 0 m m 0 ± 0	これはこ
Agriculture					
Cal			ೞ೮≇೧	11 13 11 16	7 6 8 10
gri	444444	9 9 6 8	13	100 130 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 15	444
4:	10 10 10 10 10	0 0 0	0 8 9	10 10 10 10 10	7 10 6 13
	2 2 4 4 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	15 13 16	100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	12 10 14 12 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	112
	THE Probabilities on their first day obtains an experience or many		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	9878779		တတတ	7000707	ω Γ ω ω
	044444	H HOM	0004	00HH0H0	H 10 H H
교	100000000000000000000000000000000000000	ပ္ လူ ဇာ ဇာ	11 8 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11	11 11 12 12 12 13 14 12 13	ல ட ங் ශ்
Metal	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			60 4 0 0 0 0 4	10 17 17 17
F-4 1	•	V-1	•	••	~ ~
	27 07 7 20 7	9 6 1	8864	000	6 4 21
	4 y 4 y 4 y 4 y 4 y 4 y 6 y 6 y 6 y 6 y	w ~ w	∞ ∞ ∠ ∿	10 11 11 10 10	13
	body activity				
	act	- •			
	ody	control			••
		con1	رد رد	O. #	tools V F F
	General H3. V H4. P H5. F H6. I H7. Sp		53. I 54. Sp 55. St 56. C Assembly		
	Gen. 443. 445. 445. 447.		53. 54. 55. 56.	53. 60. 62.	Hand 64. 65. 66. 67.
			•		

Table 13 (continued)

	⇒ ∾		0	0	ഗ	-	コ	0		വ	ស	7	ထ	ဖ	ဖ		S	ဖ	7	တ	2	9	ဖ	စ	7	ဖ	9	9
	2		တ	7	#	ω	လ	တ		#	±	Ø	ო	ო	က		ন	က	(c)	က	N	က	ო	ო	0	က	ო	ო
1	ကဖ		12	12	ဖ	11	တ	ഹ		8	- I	(V	က	α	ო		໌ທ	ဖ		7	7	9	ω	9	S	ស	ഹ	ω
Comb.ined	77		വ	ស	11	ဖ	ω	12		15	16	15	74	15	14		12	디	133	10	10	T]	თ	11	12	12	12	တ
CO	16		တ	س	13	S	13	=		13	H	13	ij	10	11		18	12	17	15	77	14	9 7	14	18	7.	16	14
	# W		11	13	۷.	15	÷.	16		2	თ	7	တ	0 전	Ø		0	ഗ	က	လ	ဖ	9	ヰ	9	8	9	#	က်
	19 22		26	25	30	25	20	30		20	24	32	25	23	58		26	22	31	22	23	5 8	5 7	25	30	22	25	53
	21 18		74		10	15	20	0 T		20	16	တ	15	17	12		74	18	<u>ი</u>	1.5	17	12	76	1.7	7.0	8	1.5	<u> </u>
			8	~	#	– 1		-		က	~	Ŋ	8	~	က		æ	ည	7	ť)	ഗ	ຽ	တ	വ	∞	r.	-	က
ire	ကက		œ	တ	ø	တ	9	ວາ		7	ထ	ស	ထ	တ	7		8	ഹ	က	ഹ	ഗ	ស	\$	ស	8	ស	က	လ
ultı	9		14	16	11	11	77	14		က	#	12	ស	ო	ស		თ	တ	11	12	10	11	11	∞	13	တ	თ	11
Agriculture	11		2	ദ		10	თ	7		18	17	თ	16	18	16		12	12	10	တ	11	10	70	13	ω	12	12	10
ΨI	~ ®		11	10	ဖ	တ	10	വ		N	႕	ស	႕	8	N		თ	10	7	11	10	Φ	10	10	ω	တ	10	
	15		7	12	16	13	12	17		20	21	17	21	20	20		13	12	15	디	72	뉽	12	12	77	13	12	12
	ထထ		7	ဖ	ထ	ß	တ	#		ග	ဖ	ເນ	<u>-</u>	မှ	ω		თ	တ	တ	တ	ω	ထ	တ	ယ	တ	2	ဖ	ω
	-		8	က	-	#	0	വ		0	62	#	8	က	-		0	0	0	0	– 1	~ -j	0	က	0	CI	က	~
ta 1	13		16	15	13	16	12	13		12	13	16	14	13	17		14	10	16	1:	10	#	74	1	77	12	1 t	17
Metal	9		က	콰	0	ന	7	0		7	9	က	S	ဖ	8		t)	တ	က	Φ	တ	ស	ß	വ	ເດ	~	വ	8
	7 0	ion	7	7	13	7	တ	ထ	no.	13	13	13	15	15			13	12	14	13	F 33	7,4	13	12	14	13	13	14
	9	inat	တ	თ	က	တ	7	ω	nati	က	က	က	٦	႕	0	Ę	ო	#	7	ന	က	~	က	*	0	က	က	7
		sual discriminat							al discrimination							discrimination												
	st c	ζ.	>	C,	ţ.,	1-1	Sp	ပ	visual	>	p.	ſĿ,	Н	Sp	ပ		٨	ρ ,	ţ.,	H	Sp	ပ	>	Д	£4	Н	Sp	ပ
	68. 69.	Near	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	Far	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.	81.	Depth	82.	83.	84.	82.	86.	87.	88.	89.	90.	91.	92.	93.

Table 13 (continued)

		ι Ω	ဂ (œ	O	စ			ည	⇉	വ	ည		2	•	#	#	9	വ	⇉	2		9	2	വ	ဖ	9		8
		#	, t	1	တ	က	വ		#	ស	#	#	ស	ನ		ស	വ	ო		R)			ო	#	≉	ო	က်		r
					_												â			ဖ									
ଅଧ		יטי								5		-								•					<u>ო</u>				7
Combined		12	- ·	<i>.</i>	<u>;</u>	7	7.		7	12	7	7	7	12		12	13	=	H	ij			27	7	#	0,	12		10
S		۲ ،	- (ე ე	~	თ	Φ		တ	တ	13	11	Φ	ω		15	15	17	17	16	16		14	14	15	15	12		17
		13	r T	-1	18	11	12		11	11	7	თ	12	12		5	Ľ٦	က	က	ಸ	\$		ဖ	9	വ	വ	œ		က
		29	N 6	3/	11	29	34		7.0	28	31	24	24	28		24	21	26	23	50	56		28	26	28	26	32		27
		11	7	ທຸ	23	11	ဖ			12	თ		16			16	13	74	17	21	14		12	14	12	14	ω		13
				_			~-				PROSE.						<u> </u>	_	_								<u> </u>		
		α r								7										3 7			_		9				8
Agriculture		ω (·	•	Ä					•			••	•			_				_						• -		••
3u1t		16				12			ω	10	I	7	2	10		ထ	თ	13	တ	10	တ		10	10	10	10	12		16
gri		ម	: ת	⇒	17	თ	ო		13	17	10	74	74	11		13	12	œ	12	11	12		11	H	11	11	တ		3
≪I		\$	0 :	#	0	ω			ល	വ		ស	က	#	*	9	ဖ	თ	۲.	ω	7		ß	#	ဖ	7	ស		6
		18	ρ (Τ	x	22	74	18			17						16	16	13	15	14	15		17	18	16	15	17		13
		ın ı	n (ກ -	~	2	ဖ		7	7	ဖ	2		2		00	7	7	œ	~	_∞	· • • •	6	თ	_	6	თ		6
		# :	+ (>	2	0	က		0	0	က	0	0	8		-	0	8	Н	8	-		0	0	8	0	0		0
ы		ო	י מי	20	ယ	ო	ယ		m	Ŋ	7	ന	ന	.		ເດ	Ω.	ക	m	0	رم د		(0	ω	_	ις	7		0
Metal		_				6 13			6 1	4 15	2 1									9 10					2 17				7 13
2;																													
			† ;						14		# 1					러	Н	Н	Н	10	-				74				6
	etc.	00	. V .		72	ā	m	ц	O	ന	C	C	ຕ	0	ď	C/I	4	ഗ	က	ဖ	~		0	ന	8	N	0		7
								discrimination							discrimination							ion							
	quality,							imir							mina							inat						ch	
								scr							cri							rim						tonch	
	Estimate	> 1	۱ بد	ia,	H	Sp	ပ		>	Д	ш	Н	Sp	ပ	dis	>	ሷ	Ľμ	H	Sp	ပ	discrimination	>	գ	ŗ.,	H	ပ	of	>
	sti	94.		.96	97.	98•	99.	Color	.00	71.	25.	33.	104.	.05.	Sound	.96	.27	8	.60	10.		Odor (2	<u>ო</u>	#	S.	9	Sense	.7.
	144	<i>57</i> (., (. .	. ,	.	J,	J	70	101	102	103	7(70	Sc	106	107	108	109	11	11	8	112	113	114	115	116	Se	117

Table 13 (continued)

	러 6 러 리		= =	· W :	4 W	#		ည	≉	ເກ	4	⇉	လ		-	8	7	8	Ó	#		#	N	7
	ထ ပ ထ ထ		n u) # L	n #	ស		⇒	S	#	5	S	⇉		ω	7	N	7	က	ល		ស	7	8
er l	01 01 6		ကယ	+	വ	က		#	വ	ស	เง	വ	ഗ		‡	က	က	ယ	֓֝֓֞֜֜֝֟֝ ֓	m		ო	ω	8
Combined	7 6 7 8		14	13	12	74		13	12	12	12	12	12	•	13	12	14	11	9	74		14	ဘ	12
S	15 17 14 16	`	17	18	74 16	15		18	14	14	74	13	15		ω	ო	12	#	9	9		9	J 6	13
	დ დ ⊅		ю 4	. (2)	o 1	S.		8	9	ဖ	9	7	S		12	17	Φ	16	14	74		74	#	7
	23 28 19 30		25	27	22	29		27	25	33	26	24	28		29	25	31	30	29	35		35	22	32
	17 12 21 21 10	•	15	13	18	7	>	\vdash	15	7		16			11	15	6	10	H	S		က	18	ω
	6000		ω ω	2 00 1		œ		o	9	9	9	S.	7	-	8	<u>~</u>	=	 	0	CA		8	ω	ഗ
r e	0 t 10 0		00	000	ာ က	7		-	#	#	#	ຜ	ო		00	တ	ဖ	თ	10	ω		8	~	က
Agriculture	13 13 17		8	10	7 8	10		11	12	J 6	† T	11	15		15	15	13	15	##	15		6	12	
gric	∞∞ ∞ ⊅		13	11 2	13	11		10	თ	വ	7	10	9		ဖ	ဖ	œ	ဖ	7	9		12	-	-
≪ I	12 10 11 11		~ 8	ωι	. ~	7		7	9	တ	ဖ	ဖ	7		#	ဖ	ဖ	ဟ	10	8		7	T	ည
	2211		15	14	12	15			16						18	16	16	16	12	20		12	11	17
	တတတ		~	~ u		ဖ		ထ	7	7	7	7	သ		က	-1	ဖ	H	#	7	-	7	7	#
	0000		0 0	0 =	7 7	က		-	8	0	~	8			ဖ	Φ	က	ω	ഗ	ß		8	8	လ
Metal	12 15 10		15	16	1 #	16		17	17	19	17	17	91		14	13	74	15	14	17		14	12	17
We	ちょりゅ		4 0	ო 0	ο σ ο	က		8	~	0	8	8	က		വ	ဖ	ß	⇉	ເດ	8		လ	7	7
	8 10 7 11		12	თ	ာထ	13		74	13	12	13	13	13		ω	9	13	ω	11	12		ω	ဖ	12
	ωυ συ ω		± ∞	~ "	- ∞	က		8	က	⇉	က	ന	က		ω	10	က	Φ	S	#	uo.	ω	2	さ
		positioning																			operation			
		osîti			Ω		ing					0.		_~					^		machine			
	 М М Н О		> 24	F4 F	 	ပ .	Monitoring		<u>α</u> ,	EL,	⊢	Sp.	ပ	math	>	<u>.</u>	ţ.,	- 1	Sp	C		>	<u>α</u> ,	Eu,
	118	Blind	122.	124.	126.	127.	Moni	128.	129.	130.	131.	132.	133.	Use	134.	135.	136.	137.	138.	139.	Кпом	140.	141.	142.

ERIC Profit tack Provided by Effic

	ન ન		8	8	ഗ	လ			9	ည	ဖ	ស	S		S	#	9	#	2		9	ო	9	ო	#		7
	ထထ		7	7		#	ည		ო	⇉	ო	ℷ	#	·		လ	ო	ស	#		က	ဖ	ო	9	വ		8
l	9 4		#	ഹ	က်	လ	#		#	ო	ო	က	8		~	က	Н	ო	N		9	လ	#	N	#		#
ined	11		L 3	12	さに	12	13		13	7.4	j.ţ	1,4	1.5		1.5	カモ	1.6	77	1.5		11	12	13	15	13		13
Combined	တ္ ၄		=	ပ္	=	စ	_		œ	7	~	7	7		8	~	8	~	0		ത	2	0	2	က		9
O)	4 5		H	-	6 1	-	Н			က	_							9 11					-	ຓ			
	_			_					-	ᅥ		႕	Н						Ä					H			†
	14				25				35	33	36	29	37		33	26	32	28	32		34	31	31	30	33		39
	26				15				ເນ	7	#	1	က		7	74		* 12	ထ		9	O	တ	10	7		-
	<u> </u>			·^		·	_	+		~	••	<u> </u>	<u> </u>					m						6			
	0 H				ر س					8					_			2									~
ure			ω,	~	(.,	~	(1)			w		w	w		•		۵,				w w		u,	7	w		∞
ult	6		σ	10	7	12			17	15	18	74	18		18	15	14	14	15		17	17	10	14	16		17
Agriculture	14		12	H	7,	တ	7		#	ဖ	က	7	(7)		က	ဖ	7	7	9		⇉	#	11	2	သ		a
A	7		#	ဖ	വ	ဖ	9		#	ო	က	~	ო		ო	#	#	ო	ო		ω	9	ß	ო	ស		က
	15				17					19					19	18	18	13	19		74	91	17	19	17		13
										<u></u>				 -				_									
	~		7	Φ	7	ω	Φ		ო	ო	#	က	က		വ	ဖ	#	ស	ഗ		#	#	ល	#	က		വ
	00		N	-1	8	-	~		9	φ	ស	ထ	ဖ		#	က	W,	\	#		ß	လ	#	ß	9		#
넴	တက္		ဖ	ഗ	13	လ	ဖ		2	ထု	18		တ္		ဖ	က	ဖ	17	ထု		ထု	ဖ	<i>-</i>	16	ထု		တ္
Metal	10 7				6 1		3		2	7 7	-	2 1	0					2						3			0 1
F-41	••																										
	≯ ∞		10	10	11	13	12		13	12	12	12	12		တ	ω	11	10	11		15	11	15	11	12	ທ	16
	128	>	ဖ	ဖ	ည	က	#	4	က	#	⇉	7	#		7	Φ	ß	9	ß		~	လ	٦	ιΩ	ᅪ	ure	0
		mb1						product						als												procedures	
		assembly						pro						materials						**						pro	
								pet						mat						processes							
		machine						finished						about						ces						business	
	HO		>	p.	[L4	H	O		>	Д	Ţ	H	ပ		>	Ω,	ţ.,	H	ပ		>	Д	Ŀ	H	ပ		>
	143. 144.	Know	145.	146.	147.	148.	149.	Кпом	150.	151.	.52.	.53.	154.	Know	155.	156.	157.	158.	159.	Know	160.	.61.	162.	163.	164.	Know	165.
		×	~	_	~		~	×	~	~	_	~	-	*	~	~	-	_	~	**	-	~	~	-	~	×	-

		20004	t 100	ことはらこ	0 4 0 0	M # W
	0000	v ∞ m o r	0270	7007	► ₪ 页 页	2 8
				•		
	0000	0 C C T O	12 12 13 13	111 6 8 6	113	H 0 0
ned	12 to	111111111111111111111111111111111111111	មាលេខៈដ	917	7 N T T O	16 14 17
Combined						
ပ္ပါ	9090	10 12 12 5	8 10 8	15	6 # 6 6 	133
	18 15 18 17	10 14 10 11 11 11	13	ល 4	11 9 11 11	13
	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	33 34 34 34	28 16 33 34	28 26 28 25	32 32 32 32	32 24 27
	н н н н	13 15 15 6	12 24 7	122	တ ဆ ရ ဆ	8 19 19
	-					
	0400	00000	4400	တာတ တ	ល	ကယက
ø١	10 10 10	~ ∞ ± ∞ ∞	ကယလက	れわこれ	ស ដ ល ដ	7 2 7
Agriculture		+ - 0 + -	ପଷ୍ଟାଦ	0 0 0 0	ယ္ သ ဟု ဟု	m 0 N
Co	17 16 16 17 17 16 16 16	7 14 4 17 9 12 7 14 4 17		2 19 3 18 3 18 4 17	5 16 7 14 5 16 5 16	ннн
gr	ងល ដល	2700 27	٠, ٢, ٥, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠, ٠,			11 6
	8484	4 4 5 9 9	51 13	101010	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	2 S L
:	20 20 21 21	16 17 17 18	00011	12 12 12 12	20 20 9 10	20
•						
	ឧលឧ	0 4 C 6 0	n 0 4 w	ហេដ្ឋា	40 #0	± 0 ±
	0 4 0 W	# O D U O	おでらる	4000	ကကယက	വരവ
넴	18 19 19	112	14 9 17 18	111	124	138
Metal	4040	08142	1001	9010	0 m m H	4 6 4
6 ≥ 4			,			
	16 16 16	13 8 15 11	13	ងហេង៣	11 11 7	13
	0000	மை டி எ ம	е Ц е з	122	0 C C C	6 L R
		11			go	
		reac	S		ati	
		interpret		u o	concentration V F I C	
		•	9 Fi Fi	ھ با	nce	න
	ртино		3 LL LL ()	Visualization 179. V 180. F 181. I 182. C		Reasoning 187. V 188. F 189. I
	9 7 8 6	1	175. 176. 177. 178.	.sua 79. 80.	Close 183. 184. 185.	37. 37. 38.
	166 167 168 169	Read 170. 171. 172. 173. 174.	175 176 176 177 178	Vist 179 180 181 182	C10, 183 184 185 185	Rea: 187 188 189

(Summer)

	е О		7	7	7		7	ထ	ထ	ဖ		~	ထ	ນ	ນ	9		#		2	\$	\$		⇉	9	ည	#	9
	တ တ		9 0	(4)	Ø		CV	က	ന	ო		8	က	#	#	ო		ស	വ	8	ß	ഗ		ស	(T)		ស	Ñ
	# ~		H ==	l ~4	~		-	8		~		0	 1	~	-	~		က	က	, თ	က	H		إسم	-	0		Ö
إور	13		ന ന		က္ခ		ဖ	ι.	ന	0		LO.	က္	മ	ഗ്ര	က္ခ		洪	±	: يۇ :	± H	က္		က္ဆ	ڡ	ŗ	යු	<u>r</u>
Combined	~			1 ~ 1	~		~	~	-	~		7	~	~	~	~		-	(- 4	~	 }		بد ا	4	-	-	H
S	14 6		1101	1	10		10	တ	12	တ		10	ω	ω	ω	ω		11	20	Ħ	10	10		10	2	വ	ဖ	Φ
	9 14		9		70		10	77	ω	H			12					თ	10		10			10	13	15	74	12
	32		35				35	26	33	32		39	38	37	37	39		31	28	36	5 6	ဗ္ဗ		36	36	33	35	38
	8 8		ហល						7	-			2								7,4					7		
							_ _												_									
	9 7		(i) (ii)	=	ო		က	ო	က	က		N	~		႕	N		#	က	#	33			#	က	-	N	8
ø	\$ \$\omega\$		~ ~	ေဖ	7		2	7	လ	-		Φ	თ	ဖ	თ	ω		ဖ	7	ဖ	7	ဖ		ဖ	7	တ	ω	ω
ţ								_				_	_		_						•	_		- 4.		_		
CO	77		15				-	Н	15	-		~	17	~	~	-					12			4	4		~	-
Agriculture	10		9 1	. Ф			9	11	ဖ	w		C	≉	m	7	ന		ω			တ	-		-	က	12	ဖ	Φ
4 ()	9 7		4	. rv	ស		7	#	7	Φ		က	Н	#	Н	O		(1)	(7)	ო	~	0		-	0	-	~	7
	16 21		87 5	17	17		15	18	15	74		19	21	18	21	20		19	20	13	20	20				21		
																- 4												
	w =		φ ισ						9				ស			_					9					m		
	4 W		ന ച	, u)	L)		ന	u)	က	. 3		(r)	#	w	m	ш)		(1	ແນ	~	က	-			ω	9	Ψ	-
딦	10		15	9	91		ဌ	23	16	±		82	17	17	97	87		15	† 1	8	14	17		82	12	18	2	ထ္
Metal	က ၊			ာက					က				~								က					~		
	10			2 E					13			~	13	~	~	~					11					13		
	ဖ ဖ		۵ ۳	4 M	8	Ø	8	ເດ	က	オ		8	m	ന	က	က		N	ഗ	-	ß			#	N	က	#	8
						ssignments																						
						gnır.					• •																	
						ıssi					budget												ķ					
	_	policy				بة a					pnq												order					
	လ္လ	pol	> 0	le fie	H	work	>	ρı	Ĺι	ပ		>	p,	ניי	H	ပ	%ct	>	Q,	<u>Eu</u>	H	ပ	o so	>	ሲ	£L4	Н	ပ
	190. 191.	Form	192.	194.	195.	Make	96.	. 26	.86	99.	evelop	90	291.	02.	203.	204.	Inspect	205.	206.	207.	208.	209.	Buy o	10.	211.	212.	13.	14.
	ÄÄ	Ĕ	Ä	i	H	Ä	٣	~	Ä	Ä	Ă	Ñ	Ñ	Ñ	Ñ	Ñ	Ä	Ñ	Ñ	Ñ	Ñ	Ñ	ፙ	8	2	2	21	2

			Metal				Agr	Agriculture	arn				CO	Combined	. £		
Speak	to others																
215.		इन		œ	-	13	တ	Н	⇉	9	က	~ -i	-	12	řV	ന`	9
216.	മ	11	5 14	7	8	14	ထ	7 14	വ	S	9 31			13	#	#	ស
217.		13		က	ဖ	•	디	~	က	~	N		႕	10	7	7	7
218.		10		ဖ	ო	91	ဖ	~	ဖ		1 2	Н	Н	74	ന	⇉	S
219.		11	5 14	ဖ	ო	15	7	~	9	≉	က ဝ	~		14	က	ß	
Written	en communication		•														
220.	ν 2	14		ဖ	m		10		7	m		-		8	G	₽	ß
221.		13		ၑ	ო		7		7	ო		-		10	7	9	ო
222.		15		#	S		വ	1	7	ო		-		13	#	#	ഗ
223.	I 2	3,4	3 16	ည	#	14	တ	6 15	Φ	8	8 32	74	ဖ	6	œ	#	വ
224.		†		ω	Н		7	~	œ	7		~	_	10		ស	=
Hand	signals																
225.	ν 2	14		~	ထ		17	-	7	တ	N		~	ស	12	Н	ထ
226.		15		0	<u></u>		თ	Н	#	9	0		~ I	11	ယ	~1	ω
227.	I 2	14	5 14	ຕາ	ဖ	7	15	9 12	7	6	13 27	8	18	ω	6	႕	ထ
228.		13		-	ω		17	7	H	6	က		-	വ	12	-	œ
Persu	Persuasive communication	r i															
229.	ν 2	† †		လ		14	σ		Ø	٦	က			10	7	ო	9
230.		# T	1 18	#	S.	16	9		တ	1-1	ന			11	ဖ	ო	9
231.	1 2	ね だ	1 18	ဖ	ო	16	9	7 14	10	0	5 35	14	9	12	ည	ო	ဖ
232.		##	1 18	വ	#	15	7		တ	~	က			70	7	ო	ဖ
Personal	nal service																
233.	Λ 1	15		ស	±	13	တ		10	0				7	10	ო	9
234.		74		ဖ	ო	17	ည		6	~		H		Ħ	ယ	က	ဖ
235.	т	15	2 1.7	ເດ	#	74	ω	6 15	10	0	5 35	16	#	70	7	N	۲.
236.		14		9	ო	13	O		10	0		-		σ	œ	8	£-
237.		15		≉	S	ħΤ	ω		တ	-		~		ග	ထ	m	ဖ

Table 13 (continued)

	ဖ	∞	~	ထ	တ	ω	6	တ		~	S	0	2	2	က	ဖ	~	7	5	9	9	~	ເນ	! ~	7	7	2	S	~	#	2
	က	4	N	က	0	-	N	0		Ć	#	۳	N	~	ယ	က	~	~	~	က	ო	8	#	~	0	7	~	#	~	വ	~
	ဖ	6	ω	က	တ	15	17	14		#1	15	. 01	† 1	က	11	9	တ	ω	က	13	0	⇉	#	Н	∾	ო	H	7	က	0	က
ned	듸				11										9			_	_	. `` .⇒	_	ല	ဌ	91	15	土	91	9	†	15	±
Combined	•			• •	•									• •		•			V-1		•	•	, ,	•	•••	•	•	(-)	•1	•	•
8	S	S	က	ဖ	ထ	12	S	12		လ	15	S rd	ω	ဖ	12	ヰ	13	11	13	13	6	10	7	13	14	14	11	11	13	13	11
	15	15	17	74	12	Φ	15	œ		14	S	#	12	14	ထ	16	7	တ	7	2	11	10	13	7	ဖ	ဖ	თ	თ	~	-	თ
	38	40	38	37	33	40	38	37		53	13	17	34	33	33	32	37	34	35	31	38	32	22	38	37	37	34	34	31	5 #	39
	8														7															91	
								•		•		•											•							••	
	က	ო	٦	က	Ļ	ω	~	7		က	တ	10	ည	0	ω	0	သ	သ	ဖ	7	က	ស	თ	#	သ	ഗ	#	‡	ស	ည	ო
٥l	2	7	တ	7	თ	N	œ	က		7	႕	0	ည	ω	~	10	ស	လ	#	ო	7	2	7	ဖ	သ	ស	9	9	ស	വ	7
Agriculture																															
CG	17	4	-	~	13	0	٦	-		#	15	9 T	16	16	17	13	13	15	13	16	15	15	ω	15	15	16	12	17	13	11	18
gri	#	N	ည	S	ω	0	ო	က		7	ဖ	ß	i۸	2	コ	ထ	ω	9	Φ	ß	ဖ	ဖ	13	9	9	S	6	#	00	10	က
V I	7	10	თ	ស	ω	19	15	17		74	20	14	17	ო	14	ဖ	12	11	7	16	-	9	#	#	ಫ್	9	. ෆ	10	ស	က	#
					サゴ										ω	ထ		_	ß		21	16	18							13	
																												·		-	•
	ß	S	#	ဖ	#		ო	ເດ		~	#	വ	0	က	N	#	7	ო	9	2		8	33	ဖ	9	7	ß	7	S	ည	9
	#	#	വ	ო	വ	വ	ဖ	#		ω	ည	#	2	ဖ	7	ഗ	0	ဖ	က	N	വ	2	9	ო	က	~	\$	N	#	#	ო
	_	_	_	_	_	_				_														_							
Meta1					17					14	8				16			_				~	11	뻐	-	႕	~	7	7	12	-
Σ	~	0	O	8	~	O	~	(T)		u)	17	13	#	4	က	CA	Н	က	N	#	0	#	တ	0	O	8	m	n	က	7	0
	16	9	16	က	去	16	14	91		ᅼ		۲-	14	74	10	=	15	က္	ະດຸ	0	ស	က္	12	ເນ	ທຸ	\$	13	14	14	တ	
	0	0			7		0			5	12	თ	2	7	_	2			7		1	9				7				7	7
								덛			-	•	;		••												:	.	rs		S
			C.	B U		Ç.	ist	Other clerical		ட			work.		als				m								sch	self	others	.d.	decision
			Calculator	Bookkeeping	ory	Duplicator	Receptionist	cle		Management	~	Non-supervis		ü	Professional	STS			Applicants	S	STS	se	e.			S	řk		e.	Safety resp	, , ,
	S	S	3u1	k k e	ent	Lica	ept	er (with	agei	eme	-suj	oic.	eSm(Fess	tome	Lic		Lica	ine	11.	Prv	ito	S	S	note	**	ılaı	ılat		
	Files	Types	2a1	300	Inventory	Dup.	Rec ()th	™	Mani	Foremen	Yon-	Clerical	Salesmen	Prof	Customers	Public Public	VIP	App.	Trainees	Suppliers	Supervise	Monitor	Hires	Fires	Promotes	Make work	Regulate	Regulate	afe	Make
	•		•	•	•	•		•	Contact			•	•	•	•	•			•									***	- -	, LU	مت. م
	238.	239,	240	241	242	243	244.	245	Con	246,	247.	248	249.	250,	251,	252.	253,	254.	255.	256.	257,	258.	259.	260.	261.	262.	263.	264.	265.	266.	.67.
	- •	. •	•		•	- •	•		_	- •	~ *	•	••	- •	- •	- •	• •	• •	- 1	- •	••	•	- •	• •	• •	•	• •	.4	~ ~ '	• •	•

	თ	7	က	വ	ဖ	~	0	≄	#	ဖ	വ	ო	ဖ	ဖ	လ	ည	#	0	9	⇉	7	ဖ	က	ဖ	တ	–	တ	0	0		Φ (တ
	0	8	ဖ	#	က	ස	7	S	ഗ	m	#	ယ	ო	က	#		ည	7	ო	ഗ	8	က	9	æ	Ç	ω	0	တ	တ		~	0
1	15	ω	ည	10	တ	თ	7	10	თ	7	ω	ω	2	7	1	10	ω	11	#	17	#	8	က	16	77	က	#	8	-		17	†
ned	8	თ	12	7	ω	ထ	10	Ľ	Φ	10	တ	တ	10	10	ဖ	7	တ	ထ	က	0	13	15	74	႕	ស	4	က	15	16		0	က
Combined	20	ស	က		ထ	ည	#	က	မှ	ဖွ	က		ស	တ	9	7	–	0	ဖ	œ	ဖ	–	7	တ	ဖ	ហ	≠	#	က္		18	ထု
٥١	0	_		_		5 1		5 1	t 1															П П							2 1	
	_			•	_		_					ம																			က	m.
																								6 24 6							7 23	•
		•	7	7	ä	2	ö	7	<u> </u>	급 	Ä	ö	<u> </u>		~ i	<u>~</u>	<u> </u>	<u></u>	규 —	ਲ —		<u>~</u>	N —	<u>16</u>	ю́ —	ਲ —	ਜ <u>–</u>		—		<u> ~</u>	<u> </u>
	10	7	വ	2	တ	တ	ဖ	9	7	က	9	ဖ	2	0	9	7	ဖ	7	(1	0	œ	7	0	10	7	တ	0	က	œ		თ	တ
a. t	• •													•									-	0							Н	-
Agriculture																											1-3					
3u1t																								18							1	က
gric	8	10	18	12	디	12	11	Φ	11	10	13	12	10	2	H	12	12	ഗ	14	ω	8	74	12	က	20	16	74	m	파		30	18
ĕ I	20	1	7	12	12	11	7	Ę	12	7	12	ر ایر	11	<u></u>	E H	13	12	13	13	21	တ	တ	10	22	16	ល	15	က	9		21	20
	8	Ţ	15	10	10	 	15	11	10	15	10	10	Ħ	10	თ	თ	10	တ	တ	Н	13	13	12	0	ဖ	17	7	19	16		-	0
								~ ~			-																	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
	တ	တ								⇉	വ				တ				#	9				7					m		7	
	0	0	N	8	H	ᅥ	8	8	C	ഗ	#	-1	러	Н	0	0	က	က	വ	ო	0	ဖ	N	8	ᅥ	-	ယ	7	9		8	-
넴	න	တ	တ	(C)	ហ	r4	ω	ᅼ	13	74	10	ŗ.,	6	7	12	2	ဖ	12	18	0	19	ロ	9	11	~	러	12	18	15		တ	8
Metal	0	0		-	ा अ	8	11	ω	6	R C	6	12	10		7	7]	13	7]	- Н	67	0	ω	13	ω	38	18	7	-	#		10	17
~1			-	,			•					•	••				••			•			. •									
	16	16	S	12			S		တ	-			ω	14	11			ω						<u>ი</u>		m			9			<u>ი</u>
	0	0	-	#	9	1	러	7	7	0	7	13	ထ	8	വ	ស	10	Φ	0	15	~·}			7	Φ	13	ന	Φ	10			
																					red	dress	S	oth.							Intelligence	
			þ	0 . b	n b	n hi	n bi	ğ,	0 ! b	n	bi	n	ы) bi	1		bí) E) (T	bav	p10,	, 근 -	oth	cle	æ	ple	ngs)			lig(,
	פהנ	900	ָ ֓֞֝֞֜֝֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֡֓֓֓֡֓֡֓֡֓֡֓֡֓֡֓֡֓֡֓֡֡֡֡֡֡֡	bin	110	din	pin	chi	lin	ing	hin	ing	Vin	Win	ing	ing	lin	eri	rie	7	em	ona	CI	ial	Dat	Peo	Thi			des	tel	Verbal
	ໂນຫລຳກອ	Running	Ralancino	Climbing	Crawling	Standing	Stooping	Cronching	Kneeling	Sitting	Reaching	Lifting	Carrying	Throwing	Pushing	Pulling	Handling	Fingering	Salaried	Hourly pay	Self-employed	Optional	Work clothes	Special cloth	292.**DûT-Data	293.**DOT-People	**DOT-Things	GED	SVP	aptitudes		
	۳.	, A	μ	≀ C	, _C	, w	, (C)	, C	, ×	. נט	F 24	, p-1	ر ر	-	13 4	, ;14	· ##	. 14	(U)		່ ທ				1**.]**]***	ن د	, (()	apt	297. **G	298.* * V
	268.	269.	270	27.2	272	273	274	275	276.	277.	278.	279.	280.	281.	282.	283.	284.	285	286.	287.		289.	290.	291.	292.	293.	294.	295.	296.	DOT	297	298.
	(1	• •	• •	• • •	• • •		• • •	• • •	• • •		•		• • •						4	- •		- •	- 1	- 4	- 4	- •	- •	- •	••		~ 7	

Table 13 (continued)

	တ	თ	တ	တ	တ	တ	တ	N	ო		က	တ	တ	თ	ဖ	~	~		က	တ	တ ၊		တ (ဘ ၊	7	-	N		H
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	ဖ		ဖ	0	0	0	ო	ω :	7		ဖ	0	0	2	0	0	8	ω	^		ω
1	16	72	15	12	17	15	17	12	14		က	17	74	17	⇉	8	വ		0	77	#1	~	## (F	17		S	12		-1
ned	—	0	N	8	0	~	0	C ,	က		14	0	က	0	13	15	12		12	ന	က	12	ന	O	E	12	0		16
Combined	8	တ	ო	တ	0	=	7	က	±		17	7	က	7	വ	ω	ස			ເດ	თ .	=	ဖ	0	7	വ	ဖ		18
٥١	8 12								_		က	ന	_	က		2 1			3	_	~	-	(—	-		7
												Т		ا	_	0	(0		#										က
) 10						1 29									0 10			e 3	-	N	က	ന	⇒	က	~			0
	3	<u>~</u>	ਜ 	~	ä	<u></u>	<u>~i</u>	či —	-		ਲ 		~ —			ň	구 			~ —	<u>Н</u>					~ —			17
	သ	#	7	თ	ည	7	က	– 1	7		တ	0	7	က	ထ	o	10		ω	Φ	7	~	-1	က	~	თ	10		က
ø	ស	9	ო	-	ഗ	ო	7	თ	က		~	ω	ო	7	0	Н	0		8	~	က	က	တ	_	ω	-	0		7
Agriculture	#	ယ	ဖွ	S.	#	7	C 4	0	CV			-1	က	 	0	0	_		თ	က	ဖ	C.	7	~	0	7	თ		-
icu	2	2	വ	9	~		6	-								11 10							4 17						10 11
Agr																													r G
							4 18					-	-	-		5 7							919						2
	_						_				17	_	_		ਜ —	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>			<u>Н</u>	9		-	-			<u>н</u>
	7	#	9	6	9	ဖ	8	0	9		တ	4	2	ო	တ	7	Φ		7	9	9	S	~	വ		ω	2		ထ
	8	ഗ	ო	0	က	ო	7	တ	ო		0	വ	~	ဖ	0	8	ન		8	က	က	⋨	7	#	ស	Н	8		က
1	~ !	_	0		~	_	-+				~	ത	m	m	ത		= 1		7	7	0	ത	ത	ထ	7	8	ო		7
Metal	7	-	9 10	5		9 1(_		1 18	0 1	15			2 17	12	9 1		-	i i	2 17		9		12
ž	17			7,				-	18		17		H			-											-		~
	9	13	77	10	12	74	7	~	0		വ	16	13	16	16	8	7		ნ	13	14	15	15	16	16	#	7		ស
	ဖ	က	~	9	#	N	8	•			11	0	က	0	0	14	တ		7	က		S	M	0	0	12	7,4		11
			eD.	٠.	Ą	×		ပ္ပ	•			•				_1	ပ္ပ				ins.	others		a			ts		
		겉	Form Percep	Cler. Per	Mot. Coord	Finger dex	dex.	44	di.		۲۸	cont	e e			Nonsocial	Tang. outc	nts	()	•	Fic	t of	മ	Influence		H	limits	dem,	
	Numer.	Spatial	rm I	er.	ند .	ngel	n.	-	Color	sts	Things	Bus.	Routine	Comm.	• •H	nso	ng.	ame	Change	Repet	Specific	Direct	People	flu	Eval.	Eval.		al (ing
				_						ere								per									Att.	sic	Lifting
	N** 66	**S	244	0%*	X**	***	**	**E	**	Interests	ار			<u>ဖ</u>	7		•	Temperaments	٦.		ო	≠	,	. 7		٥.	≯.	Phy	
	999.	300, **S	301. **P	302,**0	303, **K	304 **F	305, **M	306. **E	307.**C	DOT	308.	309.	310.	311.	312.	313.	314.	DOT	315.	316.	317.	318.	19		321.	322.	323,	DOT Physical	324.
	• `		4.0			••		~ •	••		••	- •	- •	. 3	. •	. •	٠		. •	. •	-	-	-					. •	•



Table 13 (continued)

Testing.

Separate S

Same Back

A. M. Managara

-

	H	H	~	တ	0
	ထ	ω	ω	0	6
ଅଧ	r=1		-		
mbined	16	75	16	2	15
Com	18	17	15	10	97
	0	က	ស	10	#
	23	18	#	33	18
	17	22	36	~-1	22
	10	თ	თ	S	<u>о</u>
re	0	-1	–	2	
31	•	_			_
icult	9 12		4 6		2
Agr		-	H		н
	2	7	5	5 17	မ
	<u> </u>	<u></u>	15		16
	7	ω	တ	8	7
	O		က	7	N
덻		01	-1	8	0
Meta1	6 13	9 10	18 1	•	3 10
Metal	6 13	တ	18	~	6 7
Metal	6 13	6 9 0	5 1 18	15 1	0 6 9 1
Metal	8 6 13	6 9 0	1 18	15 1	169
Metal	8 6 13	10 6 9	15 1 18	15 1	0 6 9 1
Metal	ng 8 8 6 13	10 6 9	15 1 18	1 15 1.	g 10 6 9 1
Metal	limbing 8 8 6 13	10 6 9	aching 15 1 18	Lking 1 15 1	10 6 91
Metal	ng 8 8 6 13	Stooping 10 6 9	Reaching 15 1 18	Lking 1 15 1	Seeing 10 6 91
Metal	limbing 8 8 6 13	Stooping 10 6 9	aching 15 1 18	. Talking 1 15 1	eeing 10 6 91

V-variety, P-precision, F-frequency, I-importance, Sp-Speed, St-strength, and C-complexity.

These scales are reversed in that a lcv rumber is indicative of a high level of the characteristic.

To build Table 13, a mean score across all 83 occupations was computed for each variable. The score for each occupation on a variable was then compared with the mean. If the score for the occupation was above the mean the occupation was regarded as a high scorer on that variable. If the score was at the mean or below the occupation was regarded as a low scorer on that variable.

A tally was then made of the number of occupations in a cluster that scored above and below the mean on each variable. An arbitrary decision was made to include in the tally for each cluster either all of the occupations if there were fewer than 10, ten occupations, or all occupations with loadings of .50 or greater.

A basic assumption for interpreting the data in Table 13 is that if a large proportion of the jobs in a cluster scored above the mean on a variable then that variable is a characteristic of that cluster. If a large proportion score below the mean then that variable is not characteristic of the cluster, and, finally, if the proportions of high and low scores are about equal then that characteristic is exhibited to a moderate degree on the cluster. The numbers at the top of each column are those values that would yield a Chi squared value of significance at the .10 level or less when testing the observed outcome against an expected equal split. The numbers are presented as high-large and low-small, but they apply either way. Thus in column one any variable count that is split 15-7 or 7-15 or more extreme is deviating significantly from an expected equal split.

The point needs to be emphasized that the classifications of high or low score on a variable for an occupation are relative to the occupations included in the study. Were the occupations in this study to be compared with a different group of occupations the resultant classifications could be very different. Despite this limitation the classifications do indicate within a cluster those behaviors that are dominant and it also allows a determination of the behaviors that apparently differentiated the clusters.

The three agriculture clusters are discussed in the following paragraphs. The metal working clusters and the clusters from the combined analysis are discussed following the presentation of each analysis. The discussion of the 41 behaviors will be primarily in terms of items rather than specific scales within an item. An item was considered to be a high or low scoring item if more than half of the scales in the item exhibited the split required for significance at the .10 level.

The first factor in the analysis of the agricultural occupations was identified as a production agriculture factor. The



occupations in this cluster tended to score at an average or high level on nearly all of the variables. This result was not surprising. The farming occupations are probably as varied in terms of behavior as any occupation. Consequently, a cluster of such occupations would be expected to exhibit evidence of performing many different behaviors.

The production agriculture cluster did not conform to some outmoded stereotypes of the farmer, however. The physical behaviors, which many people would regard as characteristic of the farmer, were reported as being performed at an average level. The one exception was foot-leg movement which would be a behavior used in the operation of machinery. On the other hand, the occupations in this cluster generally scored at a high level on every responsibility and decision making item, on nine of the twelve intellectual items, on seven of the eleven discrimination items, and on two of the five communication items. Thus the production agriculture cluster apparently was characterized primarily by behaviors associated with management rather than physical behaviors. Sych a result would be expected by those who are familiar with what is required of a farmer today.

The scores of the occupations in the production agriculture cluster on the general, clerical, and DOT variables were consistent with the pattern of scores exhibited on the 41 behavior items.

The second agricultural factor was identified as a cluster of occupations in agriculture industry. Generally the occupations in this cluster scored at an average or low level on the behavioral items. The generally low scores of the occupations in this cluster on the physical behaviors was not expected. Foot-leg movement and motor control were the physical behavior items that received generally high scores in this cluster. The far visual discrimination item also received high scores. Perhaps the high scores on these three items indicates that the occupations in this cluster are characterized by machine operation. This suggestion is supported by the fact that the only intellectual behavior items that received more high scores than low scores on a majority of the scales were the knowledge of machine operation and knowledge of machine assembly items.

Beside far visual discrimination, the only other discrimination item that had a significant deviation from an expected even split was the estimation of quality, quantity, or size. Apparently the occupations in this cluster do not often need to make such estimations nor are the estimations complex. When such estimations are made, however, they apparently are quite important.

In the intellectual behaviors area, the occupations in the agriculture industry cluster scored at a low level except on the two

previously mentioned machine knowledge items, on the following direction item, and on the reasoning item. The occupations in this cluster exhibited low levels of responsibility and decision making. There was some evidence that such behaviors were most often shown in connection with inspection or buying and ordering. A generally low level of communication behavior was also exhibited. The scores of this cluster on the clerical, general, and DOT items were generally consistent with the scores on the 41 behaviors. One exception to this was that the occupations in this cluster scored at a generally high level on the specific physical behavior check list whereas they scored at an average level on the physical behaviors items.

The third agricultural factor was made up primarily of occupations in business and sales and was labeled an agri-business cluster. The occupations in this cluster tended to score at a low average level on the physical behavior items. On the discrimination behavior items, the occupations scored at a high level on the near and far visual discrimination items and the estimation of quality, quantity, or size item. The scores were at the average level on the discrimination items except for the sense of touch and blind positioning items on which the scores were low. Several of the intellectual behavior items exhibited high scores by the occupations in this cluster. Generally the scores were high in this area except for the items dealing with knowledge of machines.

The agri-business occupations also tended to score at a high average level on the responsibility and decision making items with the highest scores being on business related items such as developing a budget and buying or ordering.

As would be expected, the communication behavior items, except for hand signals, had high scores in the jobs in the agri-business cluster. Again the clerical, general, and DOT scores of the occupations in this cluster were consistent with the scores on the 41 behavior items.

Comparison Across Factors

The differentiation between the production agriculture and agriculture industry factors seemed to result to a great extent from the level of behavior shown. There were some clear differences, however, especially on the intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and the communication items. The production cluster scored high on most of these items and the industry cluster scored low. There was a tendency for the occupations in the industry cluster to score higher on behaviors associated with machine operation than the production cluster.

The production and business clusters were differentiated by the physical behaviors in that the production cluster scored at a high average level on these behaviors and the business cluster scored at a low average level. The pattern of scores on the discrimination items was also somewhat different. The production cluster scored quite high on the sound discrimination, sense of touch, blind positioning and monitoring items while the business cluster scored low on these items. On the other hand the business cluster scored high on the near visual discrimination item while the production cluster scored at an average level.

The pattern of scores of these two clusters on the intellectual and responsibility and decision making items was quite similar. Generally the scores were high except for low scores for the business cluster on the machine operation items. The scores on the communication behavior items were also quite similar for the two clusters. The business cluster scored very high on the persuasive communication and personal service items.

The industry and business clusters were differentiated in about the same way as the production and business clusters. The industry cluster generally scored at a higher level on the physical and discrimination behavior items, but at a lower level on the other items than the business cluster.

One of the questions guiding this study was whether the method would identify behaviors that could serve as a basis for curriculum building. Some curricular implications are suggested by the results. One conclusion is that if the vocational agriculture curriculum, as presently constituted, does provide adequately for the behaviors measured by the instrument, then the curriculum would also be useful in preparing persons for the occupations in the other clusters. This conclusion is based on the high average or high level of scores of the occupations in the production agriculture cluster on nearly all items.

On the other hand, the results also suggest that a curriculum designed for training persons for occupations in the industry cluster need not be as complex or lengthy as the curriculum for production agriculture. It would appear that machine operation should receive more emphasis in an industry worker curriculum whereas the production agriculture curriculum would place greater emphasis on management behaviors.

The agri-business curriculum would, on the basis of these results, also concentrate on management, decision making, and communicative behaviors and would have less concentration on the physical and discriminative behaviors than training curricula for occupations

in the other two clusters. The agri-business cluster also does not appear to be as behaviorally complex as the production agriculture cluster.

Although the similarities and differences among the three clusters are suggestive of curricular implications, it should be emphasized that specific curricular content is not obvious from these similarities and differences. Research such as is being conducted by Rahmlow and Leonard (1966) should be helpful in further defining the specific curriculum content for clusters such as those identified in this study.

36 Metal Working Occupations

The clustering procedures employed with the 36 metal working occupations were the same as used with the agriculture occupations. A matrix of correlations between the 36 occupations was derived and factor analyzed with the principal axis procedure. The correlation matrix is presented in Table 14.

Twenty factors were extracted to account for 96.8 per cent of the variance in the original matrix. Seven factors, accounting for 86.9 per cent of the variance were rotated. The rotated loadings are presented in Table 15.

As with the agriculture occupations, three strong and distinct clusters came out among the metal working occupations. The three factors accounted for 71.2 per cent of the original variance. Factor I was made up of occupations that were primarily at the semiskilled level while Factor II seemed to define the skilled occupations. Factor III was interpreted as a business or personal contact factor. Factors IV and V were not interpreted because of few occupations with high loadings on either.

The D" matrix for the metal working occupations is presented in Table 16. The largest difference, 834, occurred between



Table 14

occupations in Table 36 Metal Occupations (Order is the same as for the metal Correlation Coefficients Between

87 95 89

£3 #9 19 19 I **†9** A second ğ **†9** Table 14 (continued) -56 57 57 57 57 57 68 67 70 70 70 71 71 69 442 744 747 740 67 67 67 67 52 52 53 54 53 63 63 63 63 63 64 64 65 78 67 67 67 68 68 68 68 74 70 70 70 70 60 60 60 67 31. 33. 34. 35.

ERIC AFUILTER PROVIDED BY ERIC

Table 15

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analyses of Matrix in Table 14

92 207 + 207-2		97 70 11 motora	مر ند	Eacton 111 (15,7%)	,	Factor IV (5,9%)	38)
ractor 1 (2/./%)	2.	ractor it (2).12	21	ומכירו דיד ומכונו	٠.		ì.
Tool & die	83	Forklift	†8	Purchasing agent	06	Cupola tender	75
Pattern maker	81	Crane operator	81	Sales, equipment	82		
Machinist	81	Truck driver	77	Sales, building	80		
Mechanic	79	Punch press opr.	70	Secretary	29	Factor V (4.6%)	(2)
Milling mach. opr.71	.71	Painter	29	Clerk	99		<u> </u>
Sheet metal	69	Packager	99	Stockman	54	Drop hammer	26
Boilermaker	89	Lathe operator	65	Foreman	20	Heat treater	47
Blacksmith	65	Shear mach.	63	Inspector	848	Inspector	47
Brake operator	1 19	Metal pourer	63	Metal fabricator	84		
Molder	1 9	Grinder	63				
Lathe operator	6 4	Welder (machine)	19				
Welder	58	Drill press	61				
Assembler	56	Milling mach. opr.	_				
Metal fabricator	56	Assembler					
Shear mach.	55	Brake operator	57				
Punch press	52	Welder	£13				
Grinder	64	Stockman	27				
Welder (machine)	84	Drop hammer	25				
Heat treater	47	Molder	20				
Foreman	94	Clerk	8 †				
Painter	45	Sheet metal	45				
Inspector	41	Heat treater	45				
•		Metal fabricator	11				

purchasing agent and cupola tender and the smallest difference, 57, occurred between machinist and pattern maker.

Twenty factors, which accounted for 97.2 per cent of the total variance were extracted and seven were rotated. The seven factors accounted for 87.7 per cent of the total variance. The rotated factors are presented in Table 17. Only the first three factors had more than two loadings greater than .40 so the other four were omitted from the table.

Again it was obvious that the analysis of the D' matrix yielded highly similar results to the analysis of the correlation matrix.

On the basis of the two analysis it was concluded that the 36 metal working occupations included in the study formed three distinct occupational clusters; semi-skilled, skilled, and business or personal contact occupations.

A discussion of the behaviors characterizing each cluster in the metal-working area is presented next.

Common Behaviors in Metal-Working Occupations

The scores of the metal working occupation factors are shown in columns four, five, and six of Table 13. One obvious result for the metal working clusters is that the occupations in these clusters tended to score at a lower level on all items than the agricultural occupations. One possible reason for this is the relatively greater specificity of the job in metal working than of jobs in agriculture.

The first factor in the metal working analysis was labeled a skilled worker occupational cluster. Generally the occupations in this cluster scored at a low average or low level. Within the cluster the highest scores were obtained on the physical behavior items; the near visual, sense of touch, and blind positioning items in the discrimination area; and the math usage, knowledge of machine operations, and knowledge of materials, and visualization items in the intellectual area. All other items had generally low scores. The scores on the clerical, general, and DOT variables were consistent with these results.

Factor II in the metal working analysis consisted of occupations that seemed to define a semi-skilled cluster. The occupations in this cluster scored at a low level on nearly all items. The

ERIC Frontised by ERIC

																						†	4 1	26		28		94		71	,	# 2	
																					73	5 8	32	36		21		30		20	,	35	
																				5 6	37	81	92	11		22		73		40		#	
																			28	63	65	62	99	99		63		1 9		69		20	
																		68	74	49	26	74	74	9/		7#		7		24		62	
																	73	73	99	22	99	69	61	72		63		73		ħ9		‡	
ions																09	69	25	25	77	20	†9	62	73		09		[9		33		53	
Occupations															9/	72	77	23	11	17	£3	81	65	80		52		11		36		m	
Occı														20	26	62	11	63	75	33	£ 1 3	82	98	73		69		69		47		99	
Metal													11	72	69	74	79	72	73	28	29	74	11	80		80		69		26		69	
36 Met Table																75										71		1 9		23		45	
											89	63	26	82	1 9	69	6 8	23	69	27	42	9/	09	74		52		9/		43		25	
Between same as										11	78	1 8	83	83	20	92	1 8	70	86	T	24	87	82	88		77		80		20		ලු	
trix I									87	81	74	74	69	88	65	11	74	62	1 8	29	43	87	74	83		22		83		43		£43	
Mat:								87	88	83	9/	9/	73	₩	89	80	83	68	85	36	64	82	92	82		99		87		52		21	
ence							78	16	11	71	79	9/	99	67	26	87	7.7	82	69	65	1 9	72	65	72		62		72		92		40	
ifference						9/	88	92	90	4	79	75	82	82	69	78	82	65	82	34	94	63	83	%		99		₩		84		25	
D 1.					80	63	73	69	83	22	70	79	35	61	63	09	80	62	73	36	43	80	86	9/		74		69		45		73	
				80	92	92	88	86	87	78	71	75	85	82	72	78	78	99	11	34	20	92	80	83		1 9		83		20		23	27
			91	78	90	79	16	83	83	92	11	80	78	83	65	80	80	67	83	39	64	88	81	#8		65		86		21	20	22	42
		78	87	95	87	29	4	9/	88	†9	74	80	69	20	20	65	82	65	11	37	47	98	80	81		75			29				
	8) S	85	83	90	78	1 8	85	92	77	82	88	86	80	72	79	86	69	84		22	98	87	87		78	20	11	81	22	21	73	63
	06	0 0 0 0	92	₩	88	92	83	83	88	74	74	1 8	မွ	79	74	30	83	71	92	84	28	86	83	82	78	78	72	87	71	54	†	29	65
	H 2.	ກ ສ		ဖ				0	11.	12.	13.	<u>.</u>	15.	16.	17.	∞	σ	0	\vdash	2	23.	24.	25.	9		27.		28.		29.		30.	
																												- *		~ ~			

#8 #8

6 e 6 10 # စ္တ 6 19 I ις) T が 6 Take San The same Table 16 (continued) Cancientes ! 30 A. A. Salania 56. 39. 66. 27. 54 67 67 71 71 47 47 47 57 57 57 49 41 拺 Transce of 56 68 67 67 52 53 60 65 38 65 65 67 117 64 64 61 80 67 70 70 62 54 56 66 66 52 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 77 77 77 58 68 68 66 66 67 62 62 62 666 687 757 637 657 669 666 666 666 32. 34.

#39

Table 17

A SECTION OF

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Matrix in Table 16

Factor I (31.7%)	Factor II (23.7%)		Factor III (15.9%)	ા	Factor V (4.1%)	80
Chane operator 83	Pattern maker	78	Purchasing agent	92	Cupola tender	62
Forklift 78	Tool 6 die	78	Sales, building	80		
Painter 71	Machinist	92	Sales, equipment	79	•	4
Punch press 77	Mechanic	75	Secretary	29	Factor VI (4.0%)	<u>@</u>]
Grinder 73	Boilermaker	71	Clerk	09		
Metal pourer 71	Mill machine opr.	89	Foreman	57	Packager	67
Assembler 71	Sheet metal	6 2	Metal fabricator	53		
Stockman 69	Molder	61	Stockman	21		•
machine)	Drill press	09	Inspector	45	Factor VII (4.0%)	(%)
Drill press 69	Brake operator	28	Heat treater	42		
Lathe operator 68	Lathe operator	26			Truck driver	21
Clerk 67	Blacksmith	12			Boilermaker	£4
Cupola tender 66	Welder	52	Factor IV (4.3%)			
Mill machine opr.63	Assembler	21				
Molder 62	Shear mach.	64	Drop hammer	77		
Brake operator 60	Metal fabricator	61				
Shear mach. 59	Punch press	6+				
Welder 58	Grinder	94				
Packager 57	Welder (machine)	45				
Inspector 56	Heat treater	ከከ				
al	Painter	11				
Heat treater 51						
Truck driver 46						
Secretary * : 45						
Metal fabricator 42						
Drop hammer 42						
Sales, equipment 41						

highest scores were generally on the physical behavior items.

A business cluster formed Factor III in the metal working analysis. The occupations in this cluster scored at a low level on most of the physical and discriminative behavior items. Except for items dealing with machine operation the occupations in the cluster scored at an average or higher level on behaviors in the intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communication areas.

The skilled and semi-skilled clusters were differentiated primarily in terms of level. The patterns of scores of occupations in these clusters were very similar except that the skilled cluster had consistently higher scores than the semi-skilled cluster.

The business cluster was differentiated from the skilled and semi-skilled clusters quite clearly. The business cluster had generally lower scores on the physical and discriminative behavior items than the other two clusters. On the other hand, the business cluster generally scored higher than the other clusters on the intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communication behaviors.

In terms of curricular implications it would appear that training curricula for the skilled and semi-skilled clusters would be quite similar except in terms of level of skill expected. This would imply that the curriculum for the skilled occupations would be lengthier than one for the semi-skilled occupations. This is likely an essential differentiation in the training for occupations in these clusters now. In many cases the semi-skilled occupations are essentially entry occupations and the incumbent progresses to the skilled level by apprentice, on-the-job, or further vocational training.

The occupations in the business cluster are distinctly different from those in the other clusters in terms of the behaviors measured by this instrument. A curriculum for the business cluster would concentrate on management and communicative behaviors with little emphasis on physical or discriminative behaviors.

As was mentioned earlier in the discussion of the agriculture clusters, the behaviors measured by this instrument are not definitive of the specific knowledge and skills required for specific occupations.

Combined Analysis

In the next analysis the 47 agriculture and 36 metal working jobs were analyzed together. This analysis was done on the matrix of correlations between the 83 jobs. It was decided to drop the D" analysis because it did not seem to yield any significantly different results in the previous analyses.

The 83 x 83 correlation matrix was omitted because it was highly redundant with the earlier matrices. The principal axis solution was carried to 20 factors which accounted for 91.1 per cent of the variance of the matrix. Ten factors, accounting for 84.6 per cent of the variance, were rotated. The four factors which had more than two loadings greater than .40 are presented in Table 18.

The four factors accounted for 76.6 per cent of the variance and in fact the first three accounted for 71.8 per cent of the variance.

The first factor was interpreted as a general industrial occupation factor. The differentiation between semi-skilled and skilled levels, apparent in the analysis of metal working occupations, did not obtain in this analysis. Factor IV might be interpreted as a skilled level occupation factor but this factor is quite weak. Factor II was clearly a business or personal contact factor and Factor III was a clear production agriculture factor. Thus this analysis did not result in a differentiation between agriculture and metal working occupations except that production agriculture occupations again emerged as a clear occupational cluster. Generally the industrial and the business occupations clustered together regardless of the industry.

The results of this analysis were indicative of an undesirability of including too many occupations in an analysis. With too many occupations it is possible that this clustering procedure becomes too gross and obviates meaningful clusters. The results suggest that a prior intuitive clustering is desirable to select the occupations to be studied and thus perhaps eliminate the gross clustering observed in this analysis.

A discussion of the characteristic behaviors of the clusters obtained in this analysis follows.

Common Behaviors in Combined Analysis

When the 83 occupations were analyzed together the factor structure was somewhat different from that obtained in the separate



Table 18

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Correlation Matrix of 83 Occupations

<u>(2</u>	82	82	81	79	α.	0 6	8	78	11	11	1 9	19	09	₹ 2	24	23	20	20	64	48	45	1 1 1	45	11	42	42	42	[†			
Factor III (17.2%)	Fruit farmer	Grain farmer		Cattle feeder		nog grower	General tarmer	Dairy farmer	Poultry farmer	Vegetable farmer	Golf course supt.	Sheep grower	Heavy equip. opr.	Flower grower	Greenskeeper	Custom operator	Foreman	Ditch rider	Farm hand	Sales, fertilizer	Mechanic (ag)	Metal fabricator	Groundskeeper	Blacksmith	Herdsman	Nursery worker	Sales, farm equip.	Ag. technician			
	83	83	83	0 8	1 (0 1	11	75	75	71	69	89	67	62	29	29	22	22	53	21	21	20	47	47	94	94	42	45	45	45	1
Factor II (19.8%)	Partsman	Sales, equipment			L. 2.3.3.2.		Sales, farm equipment	$\mathbf{\mathcal{L}}$	Auctioneer	Sales, petroleum	Secretary (metal)	Buyer	Stockman	Sales, fertilizer	Vererinarian aid	Nursery	Grain elevator	Artif breeding tech.	Flower grower	Inspector	Soil tester	Soil conserv. tech.	Sheep grower	Metal fabricator	Brand inspector	Packager	Heat treater	Sale barn yardman	Hatchery worker	Lumber yard man	Foreman
	69	67	67	. ע ט ע) i	င္သ	63	63	63	63	62	19	19	9	59	28	57	26	22	53	53	23	52	64	47	t 13	6 †3	43	.41		
Factor I (cont.)	Cupola tender	Mechanic	Rot Johnskon	DOLLET MANCE	arn o Tool	Packager	Heat treater	Drop hammer	Mechanic	Pattern maker	Hatchery worker	Grain elevator wkr.	Sale barn yardman	Brand inspector	Ditch rider	Ag. technician	Metal fabricator	Nursery	Tractor operator	Clerk	Custom operator	Veterinarian aid	Inspector	Greenskeeper	Blacksmith	Soil tester	Soil conserv. tech.	Secretary (metal)	Artif. breeding tech.41		
~ .	88	מ	2 2	1 20 0	† :	84	83	83	83	82	81	81	80	79	79	78	77	77	77	77	92	94	75	74	73	73	73	72	72	72	
Factor I (34.8%)	Chonner onerator	Windh proper con		ratile operator.	Drill press opr.	Forklift	Tree trimmer	Assembler	Painter	Mill mach. opr.		Welder (mach.)	Grinder	Truck driver	Crane operator	Pellet mill opr.	Metal pourer	Farm hand	Brake operator	Welder	Food process.	Shear mach.	Cannery work	Molder	Groundskeeper	Feed mill	Truck driver	Lumber yard man	Sheet metal	Machinist	

The second second

Table 18 (continued)

								•	
Ωı.	28	26	64	64	84	84	47	47	0#
Factor IV (4.8%	Tool & die	Pattern maker	Herdsman	Mechanic	Machinist	Mechanic (metal)	Soil tester	Blacksmith	General farmer

analysis. The scores of the occupations in the four clusters are presented in columns seven, eight, nine, and ten of Table 13. The first factor was labeled an industry cluster. The occupations in this cluster were generally those occupations in the agriculture industry and the metal working semi-skilled clusters. Generally the occupations in this cluster scored at a low average or low level on the behavioral items. Within the cluster the highest scores were on the physical and discrimination behavior areas. The only intellectual item with equally high scores was the knowledge of machine operation item. The remaining items had quite low scores.

The second factor defined a business cluster and included such occupations from the business clusters of the previous analyses. The occupations in this cluster had low average or average scores on the physical and discriminative behavior items with four exceptions; finger movement, near visual discrimination, estimation of quality, etc., and color discrimination. Average or high scores were obtained by the occupations in this cluster on the intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communication behaviors with four exceptions; knowledge of machine operations, knowledge of machine assembly, visualization, and hand signals.

Production agriculture occupations defined the third factor in this analysis. The occupations in this cluster scored at an average or high level on all of the items. The intellectual and the responsibility and decision making items generally had the highest scores in this cluster. Certain discriminative behaviors also had high scores; color, sound, blind positioning, and monitoring. The physical and communicative behaviors were generally exhibited at an average level.

The fourth factor in the analysis was made up of skilled or perhaps technical level occupations. The occupations in this cluster scored generally at an average or high level on the items. The exceptions on which low scores were obtained were the estimation of speed, knowledge of business procedures, form policy, make work assignments, hand signals, persuasive communication, and personal service items also had quite low scores. The high scores for this cluster were on finger movement, assembly, hand tool, near visual discrimination, sense of touch, math usage, knowledge of machine operation, knowledge of machine assembly, read and interpret, close concentration, and reasoning items. The behaviors on this cluster seemed to define a rather high level but independent kind of occupation.

The curricular implications of this analysis are quite inter-The analysis certainly does not help to resolve the question of the appropriateness of ag related training curricula. Whereas the analysis of the agricultural occupations did offer evidence to suggest that the vocational agriculture curriculum might be a useful basis for training workers in agriculture industry and agri-business occupations, this analysis presents somewhat different implications. The occupations in the agriculture industry and agri-business clusters apparently exhibited more commonality of behavior with industrial or business occupations in metal working than with production agriculture occupations. This result is, of course, only with respect to the behaviors measured by the instrument used in the study. It should be kept in mind also that any curriculum that would provide training in all of the behaviors exhibited by the production agriculture cluster would likely be a very generalizable curriculum.

There is probably no single curriculum pattern that will be completely satisfactory for these clusters nor any reasonable one that will be a complete failure. Certainly more additional work needs to be done on commonality of other types of behaviors across occupations before clear curricular patterns can emerge. On the basis of the results of the analyses in this study, the investigators believe that team teaching approaches would be desirable in developing curricula for agriculture industry and agri-business occupations. If such are not possible, however, the results do suggest that with certain modifications that might be made in existing vocational agriculture programs these programs can provide appropriate educational and training activities for agriculturally related occupations.

Other Analyses

Several additional analyses were made to study further certain aspects of the method.

One matter of interest and concern with the method of clustering was the question of the clusters that would be obtained if the analysis were to be based on a single interview for each job title. This, of course, is of importance in evaluating the method from an economics point of view.

In order to check the kinds of clusters that would obtain from single interviews two sets of single interviews were selected from the occupations. Thus we obtained two sets of 47 agriculture interviews with each set having a single interview per occupational title. Among the metal working occupations we selected two sets of 29 interviews with each set consisting of one interview per occupational title.



A matrix of correlations between the occupations was computed for each set and one of the agriculture and one of the metal working sets combined. Table 19 contains the rotated factors obtained from the two sets of agriculture interviews. It can be seen in the table that more clusters were obtained when the analysis was based on individual interviews.

This result was not unexpected in that the single interview from one occupation would exhibit different patterns of commonality with other occupations than when occupation scores were based on a number of interviews. The factor patterns actually illustrate the well-known fact that the behavior of one person in an occupation does not well define the behavior typical of that occupation.

On the other hand there was a reasonable degree of congruence between the results presented in Table 19 and the results from the analysis based on more than one interview per occupation. Factors IA and B were very similar to the agriculture industry factor observed in the first analysis. The production agriculture factor of the first analysis split into two factors in the analysis of single occupations (Factor IIA and B and IIIA and B). (Factor IIA seemed to have a sizeable agriculture industry component as well.) The agriculture business or personal contact factor showed up as a single factor in one of the single interview analysis (Factor IVB) and as two factors in the other (Factors VA and VIA). The other factors in the single interview analyses seemed to result from the uniqueness of a specific worker in a job and were difficult to interpret.

The larger number of factors from the individual interview analysis was also evident in the metal working occupations. The factors of the two analyses are presented in Table 20.

The first three factors in the individual interview analyses were very similar to those found in the earlier analysis of metal working occupations. In each instance there was a semi-skilled, skilled, and business or personal contact factor. The high loading for painter on Factor IA above, however, illustrates the point of the instability of factors based on individual interviews. Evidently this painter behaved in many ways as a business worker and was not really typical of most painters.

The remaining factors in the analyses of individual interviews were again probably due to unique behaviors of the particular worker whose interview was used.

Table 19

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotations of Factor Analyses of Two Sets of Individual Ag Interviews

. 21	81	74	68	67	1 9	63	52	94	43	43	42	O 각		(%)	ì	77	65	1 9	62	19	21	20	84	45	45	†
Factor IIB (11.8%)	Cattle feeder	Poultry farmer	Hog grower	Sheep grower		Cattle rancher	Grain farmer	Fruit farmer	Vegetable farmer	Livestock buyer	Veterinarian aid	Greenskeeper	4	Factor IIIB (10.9%		General farmer	Golf course supt.		Dairy farmer	Ranch hand	Fruit farmer	Vegetable farmer	Greenskeeper	Sales, fertilizer	Nurseryman	Cattle rancher
⊙	73	69	29	63	54	53	52	52	† †	£43	ť t				•	77	99	9	52	20	20	20	64	94		
Factor IIA (10.8%)	Cattle rancher	Mechanic	Custom operator	Land leveler	Herdsman	Cattle feeder	Dairy plant worker	Vegetable farmer	Soil tester	Sheep grower	Poultry farmer			Factor IIIA (10.0%		Flower grower	Fruit farmer	Ditch rider supt.	Vegetable farmer	Groundskeeper	Hog grower		Grain farmer	Sales, equipment		
	98	81	79	73	69	69	99	99	65	1 9	1 9	ή9	63	09	59	21	8 †	47	43	45						
Factor IB (20.3%)	Chopper operator	Tree trimmer	Farm hand	Dairy plant worker	Hatchery worker	Land leveler	Lumber yard man	Sale barn yardman	Cannery worker	Ditch rider	Groundskeeper	Ag. technician	Feed mill opr.	Truck driver	Pellet mill opr.	Brand inspector	Mechanic	Sales, feed	Clerical	Sales, equipment						
	82	79	78	77	92	70	29	99	99	19	26	26	24	52	84	48	45	ተተ	4 1							
Factor IA (18.5%)	Truck driver	Chopper operator	Pallet mill opr.	Ranch hand	Tree trimmer	Farm hand	Feed mill opr.	Greenskeeper	Cannery worker	Brand inspector	Red man	Dairy plant worker	Lumber yard man	Sale barn yardman	Sales, petroleum	Groundskeeper	Ag. technician	Mechanic	Hatchery worker							

Table 19 (continued)

-

Tarasa I

* The state of the

Commen

Library Co.

(Angesta

ERIC

Factor VB (4.9%)	Flower grower 77 Artif. breed. tech.64	Fact or VIIB (3.6%)	Rod m n Pelle c'mill opr. 48 Buyer	Fautor IXB (2.5%) Mechanic 51
~ .	## #2 20 20 ##		64 53 50 50	55
Factor VA (5.8%)	Golf course supt. Auctioneer Cattle feeder Sales, feed Herdsman Feed mill operator	Factor VIIA (4.9%)	General farmer Dairy farmer Hatchery worker Poultry farmer Ag. tech:ician	Factor IXA (2.9%) Sales, petroleum Sales, fertilizer
	77 73 67 56 54 51 45 44 43		72	£ 1
96				
Factor IVB (9.9%)	Sales, petroleum Partsman Sales, feed Sales, equipment Ranch hand Veterinarian aid Rod man Clerical Sales, fertilizer Nurseryman	Factor VIB (4.1%)	Auctioneer Fruit farmer	Factor VIIIB (2.5%) Elevator worker
Factor IVA (7.4%) Factor IVB (9.9	69 Sales, petroleum 65 Partsman 58 Sales, feed 53 Sales, equipment 49 Ranch hand 43 Veterinarian aid Rod man Clerical Sales, fertilizer Murseryman	Factor VIB (4.1%)	74 Auctioneer 51 Fruit farmer 46 43 42	Factor VIIIA (4.0%) Factor VIIIB (2.5%) ivestock buyer 62 Elevator worker 8. technician 49

Table 20

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotations of Factor Analyses of Two Sets of 29 Individual Metal Interviews

3%)	84 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76		73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 73 7	<u>જા</u>	55 50
Factor IIB (16.8%)	Pattern maker Machinist Drill press Blacksmith Assembler Furchasing agent Tool & die Crene operator Milling mach. Sheet metal Welder Funch press	Factor IVB (9.5%	Shear operator Brake operator Tool & die Assembler Sheet metal	Factor VIB (3.9%	Secretary Welder
(88)	82 65 65 65 60 51 47 47 45	(%†	74 22 45 45 45	(%)	55 51 47
Factor IIA (15.8%)	Forklift Crane operator Truck driver Shear operator Welder Lathe operator Punch press Brake operator Prill press Assembler Milling mach.	Factor IVA (8.	Stockman Auto. welder Assembler Brake operator	Factor VIA (5.9%	Inspector Pattern maker Heat treater
~ .	82 73 71 61 61 59 50 47 41	(%)	81 81 60 61 51	<u> </u>	73 53
Factor IB (20.3%)	Forklift Truck driver Painter Lathe operator Siding installer Crane operator Stockman Milling mach. Punch press Auto. weld. Welder	Factor IIIB (13.4%	Sales, building Salesman Purchasing agent Clerk Secretary	Factor VB (6.5%)	Inspector Punch press
<u>%</u>	51 72 73 73 73 73 73 74 44	(%6	73 66 65 52 43 43	(8)	70 58 44 42
Factor IA (17.6%)	Painter Purchasing agent Salesman Clerk Sales Sales Sales, building Secretary Siding inst. Inspector	Factor IIIA (14.9%)	Machinist Tool & die Milling mach. Drill press Molder Lathe operator Welder Pattern maker Siding inst.	Factor VA (7.0%)	Blacksmith Sheet metal Punch press Secretary

The factor loadings of the analysis based on one set of 47 agriculture occupations and one set of 29 metal working occupations combined are presented in Table 21.

The results of this analysis were very similar to the results of the combined analysis reported earlier. In both analyses there was a clear industrial worker, business or personal contact, and production agriculture cluster. The remaining factors in the individual interview analysis were of slight significance.

On the basis of these results, it was concluded that clusters based on individual interviews of incumbents lacked the stability of clusters based on more than one intervi w per occupation. On the other hand, it was also concluded that clusters obtained from individual interviews were meaningful and, with good judgment, could be used to name clusters and identify behaviors associated with a cluster. It appeared the largest factors (i.e., those with several occupations with high loadings) did represent meaningful clusters.

Clustering by Interview and by Judgment

Another matter of interest was to compare the method of clustering used in this project with one that would be based on judgments of persons knowledgeable about the occupations.

In this analysis 20 agriculture and 20 metal working occupations were selected. A correlation matrix was computed and factor analysis was conducted for each set of 20.

The 20 occupations in each set were also judged by a group of people in terms of their similarity. Twenty-five vocational agriculture teachers judged the 20 agriculture occupations and sixteen Trade and Industry teachers judged the 20 metal working occupations. The T and I teachers were teachers of some metal working occupation.

The judgments were made in the form of a multi-dimensional scaling technique (Torgerson, 1958). The judge was instructed to rank the degree of similarity of each occupation to a criterion occupation. The judge ranked the occupations 20 times; each time a different one of the 20 occupations was used as the criterion. Thus in each judgment one of the occupations was made the criterion and the judge ranked the other 19 in terms of similarity to the criterion. A relative distance matrix was derived from the judgment matrices. The relative distance matrix was a matrix indicating relative distance among the occupations. An estimate of absolute distance was obtained by adding a constant to each value in the relative distance matrix. The additive constant was estimated from



ERÎC.

Table 21

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analysis of Correlation Matrix of 47' Agand 29 Metal Individual Interviews*

•	58 58	52	84	•				56	20	84	#3	43	43	42	14	ļ				77	20	0#					
Factor IV (5.1%)	Herdsman Ranch hand Mechanic (as)		Nurseryman			Factor V (4.6%)		Pattern maker	Molder	Sheep grower	Heat treater	Inspector	Mechanic (ag)	Tool & die	Cannery worker			Factor VI (2.5%)		Flower grower	Artif. breeding tech.						
~ ,	5 1 1 1 1	7	40					73	72	69	69	65	19	59	28	55	54	64	64	†	42						
Factor II (cont.)	Elevator worker Sales, farm equip. Clerical (ag)	Siding installer	Secretary (metal)	•		Factor III (10.6%		Poultry farmer	Cattle rancher	Hog grower	Cattle feeder	Vegetable farmer	Greenskeeper	Custom operator	General farmer	Dairy farmer	Golf course supt.	Sales, fertilizer	Sheep grower	Grain farmer	Ranch hand						
	57 54 52	52	25	20	61	84	84	47	††	42	42					11	74	73	72	70	6 6	19	9 (3)	52	2 ¢	51	S 0
Factor I (cont.)	Sales, feed Tool & die Clerical (ag)	Molder	Machinist	Soil conserv. tech.	Artif. breeding tech.	Sales, farm equipment	Sheet metal worker	Painter	Mechanic (ag)	Nurseryman	Secretary (metal)			Factor II (11.0%)		Partsman	Painter		Salesman (metal)	Salesman	Clerk	Livestock buyer	Sales manager	Sales, petroleum	Veterinarian aid	Soil conserv. tech.	Auctioneer
	81 81 80	80	79	78	78	77	77	77	26	75	70			29	67	99	99	99	99	62	1 9	63		62	19	09	09
Factor I (26.5%)	Chopper operator Lathe operator Tree trimmer	Dairy plant worker	Forklift operator	Assembler	Shear operator	Milling mach. opr.	Brake operator	Welder	Hatchery worker	Lumber yard man	Sale barn yardman	Farm hand	Funch press operator	Auto. welder	Land leveler	Pellet mill opr.	Feed mill opr.	Ditch rider	Cannery worker	Ag. technician	Truck driver	Groundskeeper	Brand inspector	Drill press operator	Crane operator	Stockman	Truck driver (metal)

the largest relative distances (Torgerson p. 276). The matrix of absolute distances was converted to a scalar products matrix which was factor analyzed with the principal axis procedure and the factor matrix was rotated to the varimax criterion.

The multi-dimensional scaling approach described here was expected to yield occupational clusters based on judged similarity among occupations. Obviously if clusters can be formed by judgment, this would be a more economical approach than using interviews. It should be made clear that a comparison of the two methods in no way indicates that one is right and the other wrong or that either is better.

The multi-dimensional scaling approach was attempted late in the project. Despite several attempts, factor analyses of the various scalar products matrices did not yield interpretable results. The problem seemed to result from the estimation of the constant added to the relative distance matrix to get the absolute distance matrix. Work will continue on this problem by us.

With the difficulty encountered above, it was decided to attempt an analysis of the judgments using an approach similar to the \mathbb{D}^2 approach described earlier. A \mathbb{D}^2 matrix was computed by squaring the difference between ranks for each job and summing across subjects. The matrix was then transformed to a matrix in which the cell entries were a percentage of agreement based on the largest $\Sigma \mathbb{D}^2$ in the matrix. It was reasoned that a factor analysis of this matrix would reveal a pattern of agreement in the judged similarity of the jobs or, in fact, the clusters that would be formed by judgment. The judgment clusters in Tables 22 and 23 were obtained by this method.

The factors obtained from the interview data and from the teacher judgments for the 20 agriculture occupations are presented in Table 22.

Twenty of the 47 agricultural occupations were used for this analysis. Only 20 were selected because the judging task is quite difficult and tedious. The 20 occupations were selected to cover a variety of agricultural jobs. When the 20 were selected, a job title was selected at random from the titles grouped in an occupation. In most cases the job title corresponded closely with the occupational title. The two notable exceptions were the job title of meat cutter taken from the food processing occupations and the job title of fruit sorter from the cannery occupations. The job titles were used for the judging procedure.

Table 22

Occupational Clusters Obtained by the Interview Schedule and by Judgment on 20 Agricultural Occupations

Instrument Clusters

Factor I		Factor II		Factor III	
Fruit grower	83	Cannery worker	83	Partsman	80
Cattle rancher	87	Food proces. worker	81	Feed salesman	78
General grain and		Truck driver	81	Equipment salesman	76
livestock farmer	87	Feed mill operator	78	Fuel salesman	70
Grain farmer	87	Custom operator	59	Produce buyer	99
Vegetagle grower	86	Nursery worker	56		ı
Dairy farmer	₩8	,			
Poultry grower	81				
Greenskeeper	61				
Custom operator	52				
Nursery worker	52				

Clusters from Judgments

(The loadings on the jobs on the factors in this analysis cannot be interpreted as correlations. They are presented only to indicate relative strength.)

	16	83		20 20
Factor IV	Meat cutter (Food proc. worker)	Hog buyer (Produce buyer)	Artif. breeding tech.	Rancher
	82	76	717	3
Factor III	Dairy farmer General grain and	livestock farmer Grain farmer	Poustry grower	701101101
	76 03	87	9 9 13 13	3
Factor II	Equipment salesman Partsman	Fuel salesman Feed salesman	Custom operator	
	95 92	06	თ თ თ	22
Factor I	Fruit grower Nurseryman	Fruit sorter (Cannery worker)	Greenskeeper Vegetable grower	Grain farmer

A comparison of the two sets of clusters in Table 22 indicates both similarity and difference between the two clustering procedures. Factor III from the instrument analysis and Factor II from the judgment analysis correspond quite well, and both suggest an agri-business cluster. The other factors in the two analyses, however, seem to indicate a different basis for clustering between the two methods. In the instrument analysis, the production agriculture and agriculture industry clusters were again quite obvious. The three remaining factors in the judgment analysis, however, suggest that the clusters were formed on the basis of product the individual works with rather than on job behaviors. Thus in the judgment analysis, Factor IV appears to consist of agriculture occupations that deal primarily with animals and Factor I appears to be a cluster of horticulture type occupations. Factor III might be interpreted as a cluster of occupations in which crop production is involved.

The data in Table 22 do indicate that different methods of clustering can be expected to result in somewhat dissimilar clusters. Whereas the instrument used in the study clustered occupations on the basis of behaviors, it would appear that vocational agriculture teachers would cluster occupations more on the basis of the product knowledge required in the job. That neither set of clusters is correct nor wrong is obvious, and this result should increase our cognizance of the likelihood that any occupation might cluster with others in various ways depending on the basis for the clustering.

The metal working occupation clusters formed by the two methods are presented in Table 23.

The results of the two methods of clustering metal working occupations also showed similarities and differences. In general the jobs in Factors I and II of both analyses are similar, but the arrangement is such to suggest somewhat different bases for clustering. Factor I on the instrument analysis seems to be a skilled worker cluster and Factor II a semi-skilled cluster. Factor I in the judgment analysis appears to be a machine operator cluster and Factor II more of a skilled cluster. A metal fabrication cluster and a cluster of occupations in which heat is a factor were differentiated by the judgment method while these clusters did not show up at all in the instrument analysis. The business factor showed up as a doublet in both analyses.

The results of the two comparisons do indicate that occupations can be clustered meaningfully on the basis of judgment. Such clusters will not necessarily be the same as those that might be

Table 23

The state of the s

Granden I

-

Transport C

Occupational Clusters Obtained by the Interview Schedule and by Judgment on 20 Metal Working Occupations

Instrument Clusters

	87	20															82	9/	57	20			5	91 20	0					
Factor IV	Building sales	Secretary	'n													Factor IV	Arc welder	Heat treater	Molder	Boilermaker		Factor V			northann salesilan					
	77	51	i														73		63	63	19									
Factor III	Packager	Lathe operator													ters	Factor III	Sheet metal worker	(Metal fabrication)	Sheet metal shop		Mechanic									
	78	72	99	62	53										Clusters		87	70	67	26	25									
Factor II	Forklift operator	Crane oberator	Punch press opr.	Molder	Power brake opr.	,									Judgment	Factor II	Tool and die	Milling mach. opr.	Machinist	Arc welder	Lathe operator	,								
	86	83	81	75	69	99	65	1 9	1 9	9	28	22	26	20			₩	82	80		79	78	9/	75	6 8	1 9	26	52	25	20
Factor I	Tool and die	Mechanic	Machinist	Sheet metal worker	Molder	Power brake opr.	Milling mach. opr.	Metal fabricator	Drill press opr.	Welder	Assembler	Boilermaker	Lathe operator	Punch press opr.		Factor I	Forklift	Punch press operator	Hydraulic press opr.	(Packager)	Drill press opr.	Power-brake opr.	Molder	Lathe operator	Assembler	Mechanic	Machinist	Milling mach. opr.	Crane operator	Sheet metal shop

obtained by some other method such as by scales and check lists. Which procedure is correct is not evident, and , in fact, no procedure is likely to be the correct one.

Further Discussion of the D Statistic

Although we discontinued performing any analyses with the D statistic after the first two analyses, this did not mean that we were no longer interested in it. In some respects the D statistic and especially the hierarchical grouping procedure employed by the Air Force seem to us to be very useful approaches to clustering. One obvious advantage is that one violates few assumptions about scale properties with the D statistic and certainly the correlation approach we used violate many assumptions. We intended to apply the hierarchical prouping to our data and still do, but we were not able to program this procedure for our computer in the time schedule of the project.

As we worked with the D statistic and the factor analysis of the matrix derived from it we recognized a possible source of bias in the factor structure that came out. The values in the D" (derived) matrix were based on the largest obtained difference among the occupations in the matrix. If the largest difference were really quite small in relation to the largest possible difference, then, the values in the D" matrix would infer differences between the occupations to be much larger than they actually were. In other words the D" matrix values were relative to the largest D value and not relative to some constant. Thus if the D" matrix had been constructed so that the values were relative to the largest possible difference, the values would reflect a high degree of similarity among the occupations.

A comparison of the results of using different bases for computing the D" matrix was possible in an analysis that we performed. Twenty agriculture occupations were used. A D" matrix was derived on the basis of the largest D value among the jobs which was 490. A second D" matrix was then derived based on the maximum D value possible, 7,679. The matrix based on 490 is presented in Table 24 and the matrix based on 7,679 is presented in Table 25. The matrices differ considerably.

Both matrices were then factor analyzed and ten factors extracted. Five factors from each factor matrix were then rotated. The results of these rotations are presented in Table 26.

Obviously there are differences, but also some similarities. There was a very strong general factor that emerged in the analysis

ERIC Trull Text Provided by ERIC

Table 24

I

A CONTRACTOR

A STATE OF

A market

Consect Consects

E-moses

Consumation of the Consumation o

(Section)

Section (Committee of the committee of

Difference Matrix of 20 Ag Occupations Based on Largest D in Matrix

n tu																			81	20	
																		73	70	67	
on Largest																	23	20	58	29	
																8	55	71	9/	21	
based															77	24	20	63	62	39	
														1 9	86	78	39	65	63	38	
arto													72	65	48	73	19	20	78	69	
occupartons												77	73	89	98	70	59	1 9	71	63	
Sec.											96	70	99	78	78	21	65	69	72	22	
2										19	92	9	69	65	81	77	19	T †	94	25	
7 0									74	89	ф 9	21	1 9	67	77	89	15	39	47	13	
ז פונפ שמ רו. דא								99	77	07	56	†	62	53	67	89	10	30	28	00	
ב ע							10	24	16	62	36	36	40	24	47	10	34	20	47	21	
בדים דים						29	† †	59	26	79	74	75	89	72	81	52	19	9/	11	62	
1117					11	28	23	43	38	1 9	24	6 2	24	52	29	04	37	28	1 9	22	
				89	74	75	60	36	29	71	49	33	39	52	53	16	35	25	52	33	
			80	28	76	73	17	47	36	11	21	24	20	29	19	28	84	28	28	40	
		63	2t	63	74	1 1	33	62	28	72	7.1	71	29	89	92	09	37	24	29	24	
	H	2	ო	†	5.	9	7.	φ	.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16,	17.	18.	19.	20.	

94

ERIC Frontided by ERIC

Table 25

Transco !

on Maximum D Value Possible 20 Ag Occupations Based Difference Matrix of

97 97 97 96 99 98 97 97 99 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 98 99 97 97 98 99 99 99 98 99 99 99 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 \$2 \text{0.00} \te 97 97 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 98

Table 26

Significant Factors from Varimax Rotation of Factor Analyses of 20 Ag Occupation D' Matrices (A was based on D = 490 and B was based on D = 7,679)

Factor	<u>Ia</u>	Factor IB						
Grain farmer	89	Grain farmer	82					
Fruit farmer	88	General farmer	80					
General farmer	87	Fruit farmer	80					
Vegetable farmer	82	Vegetable farmer	78					
Cattle rancher	7 6	Dairy farmer	75					
Dairy farmer	7 3	Cattle rancher	7 5					
Groundskeeper	6 5	Groundskeeper	7 3					
Poultry farmer	57	Farm hand	71					
Farm hand	55	Poultry farmer	71					
Ag. technician	52	Ag. technician	71					
Flower grower	45	Flower grower	68					
Sales, equipment	43	Sales, equipment	67					
		Food processing worker	67					
		Chopper operator	66					
		Sales, petroleum	65					
		Truck driver	63					
		Livestock buyer	62					
		Feed mill worker	62					
		Sales, feed	60					
		Partsman	59					
Factor I	IA	Factor IIB						
Factor I	<u> </u>	Factor IIB Partsman	64					
			64 63					
Sales, food	88	Partsman						
Sales, food Partsman	88 88	Partsman Sales, feed	63					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer	88 88 80	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment	63 60 54 53					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment	88 88 80 6 0	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum	63 60 54 53 53					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Foultry farmer	63 60 54 53 53 52					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum	88 88 80 60 59	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Foultry farmer Ag. technician	63 60 54 53 53 52 50					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer	63 60 54 53 53 52 50 49					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Foultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator	63 60 54 53 53 52 50 49					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Wegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker	63 60 54 53 53 52 50 49 48 47					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher	63 60 54 53 53 52 50 49 48 47 46					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher Dairy farmer	63 60 54 53 53 52 50 49 47 46 45					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher Dairy farmer Foed mill worker	63 60 54 53 53 52 59 48 47 46 45 45					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher Dairy farmer Fred mill worker Groundskeeper	63 60 54 53 53 52 59 48 47 46 45 44					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher Dairy farmer Fred mill worker Groundskeeper Truck driver	63 60 54 53 53 52 59 48 47 46 45 44 43					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher Dairy farmer Fred mill worker Groundskeeper Truck driver Fruit farmer	63 60 54 53 52 59 48 47 45 44 43 43					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher Dairy farmer Fred mill worker Groundskeeper Truck driver Fruit farmer Farm hand	63 60 54 53 53 55 50 48 47 44 43 43 43					
Sales, food Partsman Livestock buyer Sales, equipment Flower grower Sales, petroleum Poultry farmer	88 88 80 50 59 58 53	Partsman Sales, feed Livestock buyer Sales, petroleum Sales, equipment Flower grower Poultry farmer Ag. technician Vegetable farmer Chopper operator Food processing worker Cattle rancher Dairy farmer Fred mill worker Groundskeeper Truck driver Fruit farmer	63 60 54 53 52 59 48 47 45 44 43 43					



Table 26 (continued)

Factor IIIA		Factor IIIB					
Feed mill worker	87	Feed mill worker	64				
Chopper operator	74	Truck driver	63				
Food processing wk.		Food processing worker	57				
Flower grower	44	Chopper operator	56				
Farm hand	42	Farm hand	55				
rarm nand	72	Sales, equipment	51				
		Sales, petroleum	51				
		Groundskeeper	51				
		Flower grower	50				
		Ag. technician	48				
		Livestock buyer	48				
		Cattle rancher	48				
		Sales, food	47				
		Partsman	47				
		Dairy farmer	46				
		Poultry farmer	46				
		General farmer	44				
		Fruit farmer	40				
		Vegetable farmer	38				
		Grain farmer	36				
Factor IVA							
Truck driver	89						
Farm hand	56						
Ag. technician	56						
Sales, petroleum	51						
Groundskeeper	46						
Food processing wk.							
Feed mill worker	41						
Sales, equipment	41						



based on D' derived from the maximum. Furthermore, the second and third factors were also quite general. In effect this outcome reflects a high degree of similarity among occupations and actually this is generally true. Occupational behaviors are human behaviors and thus similar across occupations.

The similarity between the two analyses was perceived on the basis of the occupations with the largest loadings on each factor. In the D matrix based on the maximum D value the first factor was defined by production agriculture occupations, the second by business or personal contact occupations, and the third by agriculture industry occupations. The third factor in the analysis based on the maximum D seemed to be a combination of the third and fourth factors of the other analysis. Even though the occupations were highly similar in terms of behavior, there was sufficient uniqueness among certain of the occupations to define independent factors. It appeared, however, that the use of the maximum D value obscured some meaningful discrimination among the occupations.

The D statistic merits further study in our opinion. Perhaps there is an optimal value to use as the basis for the D" matrix such as the mean. We believe that it would also be possible to derive a random distribution of the D values obtainable from an instrument and then it would be possible to assign a probability of chance outcome to the similarity between occupations expressed by a specific D value.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of the study reported in this paper was to determine whether common behaviors could be identified across occupations. These common behaviors if identifiable could serve as a basis for curriculum building.

An average of between five and six interviews were conducted with incumbents in 47 agricultural occupations and 36 occupations in the metal fabricating industry. A total of 466 interviews were conducted with incumbents in these occupations in Colorado and Nebraska.

The interview schedule contained a number of general work environment items, a clerical check list, a physical activities check list, a personal contact check list, and a supervision level check list. In addition there were 42 items divided among five major behavioral dimensions: physical, discrimination, intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communication behaviors. An incumbent's behavior on each of these items was scored on from four to seven scales depending on which were appropriate. The scales were variety, precision, frequency, importance, speed, strength, and complexity. The schedule yielded 312 separate scores for each interview. Not all of the scores were independent, however, because the scale scores on each of the 42 behavioral items were related in the sense that all of the scales on an item received scores or none of them did.

In addition to the 312 scores of the interview, the scores from the appropriate worker trait groups in the DOT were recorded for each interview. The inclusion of these scores resulted in 357 scores for each interview. Twenty-eight of the scores were subsequently dropped because 90 per cent or more of the interviews had the same score. One of the 42 behavior items, taste discrimination, was dropped from further analysis for this reason.

The 329 scores for each interview were the data used in the various analyses of the study. Three principal axis factor analyses were done on various combinations of variables in the data matrix. The varimax rotations of these analyses yielded factors which indicated that the interview schedule was measuring several meaningful common behaviors.

The basic procedure for identifying common job behaviors was to factor analyze the correlation matrix based on intercorrelations

among the occupations. A mean score was computed on each of the 329 variables for the 83 occupations. These mean scores were then correlated. The correlation matrices for the 47 agricultural occupations and for the 36 metal working occupations were each analyzed by the principal axis method. A third analysis was made of the 83 x 83 matrix of the correlations among all of the occupations. The factor matrices were rotated to the varimax criterion.

Another analysis procedure was tried. This analysis was based on a matrix derived from difference scores among the occupations. The results of these analyses were very similar to the results obtained from the analyses of the correlation matrices.

The analysis of the correlation matrix of the 47 agriculture occupations yielded three factors. These factors were interpreted as occupational clusters and the interpretation of the clusters were quite clear. The first cluster was characterized by high loadings of production agriculture occupations and was so named. The second cluster was made up of occupations in agricultural industry, and the third cluster was an obvious agri-business cluster.

To identify the behaviors that characterized a cluster, a tally was made of the number of occupations in a cluster that scored above or below the mean of all the occupations on each variable. It was assumed that a large number of scores above the mean would indicate a high level of that behavior, an equal split would indicate an average level, and a large number of low scores would indicate a low level of behavior.

Using this procedure the production agriculture cluster was characterized by an average or high level on nearly all of the behaviors. The highest levels, however, were on intellectual and responsibility and decision making behaviors.

The agriculture industry generally scored at a low average or low level on most of the behaviors. The highest scores for the occupations in this cluster were on behaviors associated with the operation of machines.

The agri-business cluster occupations scored at a generally high level on intellectual, responsibility and decision making, and communicative behaviors. The scores in this cluster were generally low on the physical and discriminative behaviors.

The analysis of the 36 metal working occupations also yielded three factors which were identified as skilled worker, semi-skilled worker, and business clusters. The pattern of scores for the

skilled worker and the semi-skilled worker clusters were quite similar except that the skilled cluster tended to score at a higher level. The highest scores for the occupations in these clusters were generally on the physical and discriminative behavior items. The occupations in these clusters tended to score at a low level on all of the behaviors when compared with the other occupations.

The business cluster in the metal working industry exhibited a pattern of scores similar to that observed with the agri-business cluster.

When the 83 occupations were analyzed together, four factors emerged. The factors were defined as an industrial worker cluster, a business cluster, a production agriculture cluster, and a technical or skilled worker cluster.

The occupations in the industry cluster scored at a low average or low level on most of the items. The highest scores for this cluster were on the physical and discriminative behaviors and on behaviors associated with knowledge of machines. The occupations in this cluster were primarily from the agriculture industry factor and the semi-skilled metal worker cluster.

The business cluster was made up of occupations from the business factors identified in the two previous analyses. The scores in this cluster were highest on the communication, intellectual, and responsibility and decision making behaviors.

The production agriculture cluster in this analysis was nearly identical with the production agriculture cluster in the agricultural analysis. The highest scores were observed on the intellectual and responsibility and decision making behaviors.

The fourth factor was identified as a skilled or technical cluster. The occupations in this cluster scored high on behaviors associated with rather independent types of work situations. The occupations in this cluster scored at a considerably higher level on most behaviors than the industrial occupations. There were some notably low scores, however, on items such as policy making, knowledge of business procedures, and the communication behaviors.

A comparison was made of the clusters obtained by the analysis of interview responses and clusters based on judgment. The results of these comparisons indicated that in agriculture the clusters obtained from the analysis of the instrument were somewhat different from clusters based on judgments of similarity by vocational agriculture teachers. Whereas the instrument yielded clusters based on job behaviors, it appeared that the teachers were



discriminating among the jobs on the basis of product knowledge. The comparison of the two methods in the metal working occupations indicated that the clusters based on the instrument analysis were very similar to clusters based on judgments of job similarity made by T and I teachers.

It was felt that the results of the project did offer some curricular implications. The occupational clusters that were identified were reasonable, and the scoring pattern of the occupations in a cluster on the behavioral items were suggestive of different emphases that would be provided for in a curriculum for the cluster.

Recognizing a current mild controversy in vocational education regarding the curriculum for agriculture related occupations, the results of this study did little to resolve this contorversy. clear clusters of ag related occupations emerged and these were distinct from the production agriculture cluster. The pattern of scores on the production agriculture cluster, however, was such that a curriculum designed to provide comprehensive work in production agriculture would seemingly cover well the behaviors in the other clusters also. On the other hand, the ag industry and agri-business occupations did exhibit more commonality with industrial and business occupations in the metal working industry than with production agriculture occupations. Certainly more evidence is needed on this question than this study provided. Obviously the behaviors measured in this study did not cover all of the knowledge and understanding that might also serve to cluster or differentiate occupat ons. The results of the study did suggest that a team teaching approach would serve well in a curriculum for training for placement in ag industry and agri-business occupations.

REFERENCES

- 1. Andersson, B. E. and Nilsson, S. G. "Studies in the reliability and validity of the critical incident technique." <u>Journal</u> of Applied Psychology, 1964.
- 2. Archer, W. B. and Fruchter, Dorothy A. The Construction,
 Review, and Administration of Air Force Job Inventories,
 6570th Personnel Research Laboratory, Aerospace Medical
 Division, Air Force Systems Command, Lackland Air Force Base,
 Texas. PRL-TDR-63-21, 1963. Available from the office of
 Technical Services, U. S. Department of Commerce, Washington.
- 3. Ash, P. "The reliability of job evaluation rankings." <u>Journal</u> of Applied Psychology, 1948.
- 4. Bair, J. T. "Factor analysis of clerical aptitude tests."
 Journal of Applied Psychology, 1951.
- 5. Bordin, E. S., Nachmann, Barbara, and Segal, S. J. "An articulated framework for vocational development." <u>Journal of</u>
 Counseling Psychology, 1963.
- 6. Bourassa, G. L. and Guion, R. M. "A factorial study of dexterity tests." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1959.
- 7. Chalupsky, A. B. "Comparative factor analysis of clerical jobs."

 Journal of Applied Psychology, 1962.
- 8. Christal, R. E. The Role of the Computer in Job Evaluation and Classification. Paper presented at conference on "Automating Personnel Functions," Warrenton, Virginia, October, 1965.
 Mimeographed.
- 9. Christal, R. E. and Madden, J. M. Air Force Research on Job Evaluation Procedures. Personnel Laboratory, Aeronautical Systems Division, Air Force Systems Command, USAF, Lackland Air Force Base, Texas. ASD-TN-61-46, 1961. Available from Regional Technical Reports Center, University of Colorado Librarier, Boulder.
- 10. Clouse, J. P. and Coster, J. K. "Factor analyses of activity and competency variables and of workers in agricultural occupations in four selected Indiana communities." <u>Purdue University Studies in Education</u>, 1965.



- 11. Coombs, C. H. and Satter, G. A. "A vactorial approach to job families." Psychometrika, March 1949.
- 12. Coster, J. K. and Courtney, E. W. "Factor analyses of agricultural competencies and workers in three selected occupations."

 Purdue University Studies in Education, 1965.
- 13. Coster, J. K. and Penrod, W. J. "Factor analyses of competency items and workers in agricultural occupations in the metropolitan school district of Wabash County." Purdue University Studies in Education, 1965.
- 14. Cunningham, J. W. and McCormick, E. J. Factor analyses of worker-oriented job variables. Occupational Research Center, Purdue University, 1964.
- 15. Ewart, E., Seashore, S. E., and Tiffin, J. "A factor analysis of an industrial merit rating scale." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1941.
- 16. Fine, S. A. "Functional job analysis." Journal of Personnel Administration and Industrial Relations. Spring, 1955.
- 17. Fine, S. A. "A structure of worker functions." Personnel and Guidance Journal. October, 1955.
- 18. Fine, S. A. "U. S. E. S. occupational classification and Minnesota Occupational Rating Scales." Journal of Counseling Psychology, 1957. (A)
- 19. Fine, S. A. "A reexamination of 'Transferability of Skills' Part I." Monthly Labor Review. July-December, 1957. (B)
- 20. Fine, S. A. "A reexamination of 'Transferability of Skills' Part II." Monthly Labor Review. July-December, 1957. (C)
- 21. Fine, S. A. "Matching job requirements and worker qualifications."
 Personnel Journal. May-June, 1958
- 22. Fine, S. A. and Heinz, C. A. "The estimate of worker trait requirements for 4,000 jobs." Personnel and Guidance Journal. November, 1957.
- 23. Fine, S. A. and Heinz, C. A. "The functional occupational classification structure." Personnel and Guidance Journal.
 November, 1958.

- 24. Finn, R. H. A Factor Analysis of Selected Job Characteristics. Ph.D. thesis, Purdue University, 1954.
- 25. Flanagan, J. C. "The critical incident technique." Psychological Bulletin, 1954
- 26. Fleishman, E. A. "Testing for psychomotor abilities by means of apparatus tests." Psychological Bulletin, 1953. (A)
- 27. Fleishman, E. A. "A factor analysis of intra-task performance on two psychomotor tests." Psychometrika, 1953. (B)
- 28. Fleishman, E. A. "Dimensional analysis of psychomotor abilities."

 Journal of Experimental Psychology, 1954.
- 29. Fleishman, E. A. "Factor structure in relation to task difficulty in psychomotor performance." Educational and Psychological Measurement, 1957.
- 30. Fleishman, E. A. and Ellison, G. D. "A factor analysis of fine manipulative tests." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1962.
- 31. Fleishman, E. A. and Fruchter, B. "Factor structure and predictability of successive stages of learning morse code."

 Journal of Applied Psychology, 1960.
- 32. Fleishman, E. A. and Hempel, W. E. "Factorial Analysis of Complex Psychomotor Performance." USAF. Personnel Train. Res. Center, Res. Bull. 1954 (A)
- 33. Fleishman, E. A. and Hempel, W. E. "A factor analysis of dexterity tests." Personnel Psychology 1954. (B)
- 34. Fleishman, E. A. and Hempel, W. E. "Changes in factor structure of a complex psychomotor test as a function of practice."

 Psychometrika, 1954. (C)
- 35. Fleishman, E. A., Roberts, M. M. and Friedman, M. P. "A factor analysis of aptitude and proficiency measures of radiotele-graphy." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1958.
- 36. Frantz, N. R., Jr. "The cluster concept as a program in vocational education at the secondary school level." Paper presented at a conference on research in vocational and technical education, University of Wisconsin, 1966.

- 37. French, J. W., Ekstrom, Ruth B., and Price, L. A. Manual for Kit of Reference Tests for Cognitive Factors. Princeton: Educational Testing Service, 1963.
- 38. Ginzberg, E., Ginsburg, J. W., Axelrod, S., and Herma, J. L.

 Occupational Choice. New York: Columbia University Press,
 1951.
- 39. Gonyea, G. G. "Dimensions of job perceptions." Journal of Counseling Psychology, 1961
- 40. Gonyea, G. G. and Lunneborg, C. E. "A factor analytic study of perceived occupational similarity." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1963.
- 41. Gordon, G. G. An Investigation of the Dimensionality of Worker Oriented Job Variables. Ph.D. Thesis, Purdue University, 1963.
- 42. Gordon, G. G. and McCormick, E. J. The identification, measurement, and factor analyses of "worker-oriented" job variables.

 Occupational Research Center, Purdue University, 1963.
- 43. Grant, D. L. "An analysis of a point rating job evaluation plan." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1951.
- 44. Grunes, Willa F. "Looking at occupations." Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1956.
- 45. Guilford, J. P. "A factor analytic study of creative thinking II, administration of tests and analysis of results."

 Report No. 8, Psychological Laboratory, University of Southern California, 1952.
- 46. Harrell, W. "A factor analysis of mechanical ability tests." Psychometrika, 1940.
- 47. Holland, J. L. "A theory of vocational choice." <u>Journal of</u> Counseling Psychology, 1959.
- 48. Jaspen, N. "A factor study of worker characteristics." <u>Journal</u> of Applied Psychology, 1949.
- 49. Johnson, D. N. A Study of Responses to a Work Activities Check
 List to Determine Functional Job Interrelationships. Ph.D.
 thesis, Purdue University, 1957.
- 50. Kaiser, Henry F. "The application of electronic computers to factor analysis." Educational and Psychological Measurement, 20: 141-51; Spring, 1960.

- 51. Lawshe, C. H., Dudek, E. E., and Wilson, R. A. "A factor analysis of two point-rating methods of job evaluation."

 Journal of Applied Psychology, 1948.
- 52. Lawshe, C. H. and Satter, G. A. "Studies in job evaluation; I.

 Factor analysis of point ratings for hourly paid jobs in
 three industrial plants." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1944.
- 53. Madden, J. M. A Comparison of Three Methods of Rating-Scale

 Construction. Personnel Laboratory, Wright Air Development

 Division, Air Research and Development Command, USAF, Lackland
 Air Force Base, Texas. WADD-TN-60-262, 1960. Available
 from Office of Technical Services, U. S. Department of
 Commerce, Washington.
- 54. Madden, J. M. A Note on the Rating of Multidimensional Factors. Personnel Laboratory, Wright Air Development Division, Air Research and Development Command, USAF, Lackland Air Force Base, Texas. WADD-TN-60-258, 1960. Available from Office of Technical Services, U. S. Dept. of Commerce, Washington.
- S5. Marsh, J. E. Job Analysis Bibliography. Technical Documentary Report PRL-TDR-62-2, Lackland Air Force Base, Texas. March, 1962. Available from Office of Technical Services, U. S. Department of Commerce.
- 56. Marsh, J. E. <u>Identification of Job Types in the Personnel</u>

 <u>Career Field. Personnel Research Laboratory, Aerospace</u>

 <u>Medical Division, Air Force Systems Command, Lackland Air</u>

 <u>Force Base, Texas. PRL-TR-65-9, 1965.</u>
- 57. Marsh, J. E., Madden, J. M., and Christal, R. E. <u>Job Analysis</u>
 in the United States Air Force. Personnel Laboratory, Wright
 Air Development Division, Air Research and Development
 Command, USAF, Lackland Air Force Base, Texas. WADD-TR-61-113,
 1961. Available from Office of Technical Services, U. S.
 Department of Commerce, Washington, D. C.
- 58. McCormick, E. J. The Development, Analysis, and Experimental Application of Worker-Oriented Job Variables. Occupational Research Center, Purdue University, July 1964.
- 59. McCormick, E. J., Finn, R. H., and Schieps, C. D. "Patterns of job requirements." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1957.

- 60. McCormick, E. J. and North, W. E. "The analysis of an experimental job evaluation system as applied to enlisted naval jobs." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1954.
- 61. McCracken, R. R. A Job Cluster Analysis in Terms of Aptitude
 Activity Elements. Ph.D. Thesis, Purdue University, 1959.
- 62. Moore, H. "Problems and methods in job evaluation." Journal of Consulting Psychology, 1944.
- 63. Morrison, E. J. "General vocational skills and the secondary curriculum." Paper presented at a conference on research in vocational and technical education, University of Wisconsin, 1966.
- 64. Moser, Helen P., Dubin, W. and Shelsky, T. M. "A proposed modification of the Roe Occupational Classification." Journal of Counseling Psychology, 1956.
- 65. Myers, J. H. "Removing halo from job evaluation factor structure."

 Journal of Applied Psychology, 1965.
- 66. Newmann, J. and Fine, S. A. "Validity of job descriptions for physical requirements and work condition information."

 Personnel Psychology. Summer, 1957.
- 67. Oliver, J. A. and Ulinn A. "An abbreviated job evaluation plan for salaried personnel." Personnel Journal, 1951.
- 68. Orr, D. B. "A new method for clustering jobs." <u>Journal of</u>
 <u>Applied Psychology</u>, 1960.
- 69. Palmer, G. J., Jr. and McCormick, E. J. "A factor analysis of job activities." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1961.
- 70. Phipps, L. J. and Fuller, G. R. "Activities of technicians and of other owrkers who need some technical education" and "Knowledge areas in which identified technicians and other workers needing some vocational education must be competent." Both in Phipps, L. J., et al. Technical Education in and for Rural Areas. Urbana: University of Illinois, 1964.
- 71. Rachmlow, Harold F. and Winchell, Leonard. Mathematics Clusters in Selected Areas of Vocational Education. Pullman, Washington State University, 1966.
- 72. Reynolds, B. "The effect of learning on the predictability of Psychomotor performance." Journal of Experimental Fsychology, 1952.

- 73. Roe, Anne. "A new classification of occupations." Journal of Counseling Psychology, 1954.
- 74. Rogers, R. C. "Analysis of two point-rating job evaluation plans. Journal of Applied Psychology, 1946.
- 75. Seashore R. H., Buxton, C. E., and McCollom, I. N. "Multiple factorial analysis of fine motor skills." Journal of Psychology, 1940.
- 76. Shill, W. J. and Arnold, J. P. Curricula Content for Six Technologies. Urbana: University of Illinois, 1965.
- 77. Stevenson, W. W. A Study of Employment Opportunities and Training Needs. Stillwater: Oklahoma State University, 1965.
- 78. Studdiford, W. S. "A functional system of occupational classification." Occupations. October 1951.
- 79. Studdiford. W. S. "New occupational classification structure." Employment Security Review. September, 1953.
- 80. Super, D. E. "A theory of vocational development." American Psychologist, 1953.
- 81. Thomas, L. L. "A cluster analysis of office operations." <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, 1952.
- 82. Thorndike, R. L. "Who belongs in the family." <u>Psychometrika</u>, 1952.
- 83. Torgerson, Warren S. Theory and Methods of Scaling. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1958.
- 84. Trattner, M. H., Fine, S. A., and Kubis, J. F. "A comparison or worker requirement ratings made by reading job descriptions and by direct job observation." Personnel Psychology. 1955.
- 85. Triandis, H. C. "Categories of thought of managers, clerks, and workers about jobs and people in an industry." Journal of Applied Psychology, 1959.
- 86. U. S. Department of Labor. Estimates of Worker Trait Requirements for 4,000 Jobs as Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles. Government Printing Office, Washington, 1956.

- 87. U. S. Department of Labor, <u>Dictionary of Occupational Titles:</u>

 Definitions of Titles. Volume 1, Third Edition. U. S.

 Government Printing Office, Washington. 1965.
- 88. U. S. Department of Labor, <u>Dictionary of Occupational Titles:</u>
 Occupational Classification. Volume 2, Third Edition.
 U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington. 1965.
- 89. U. S. Department of Labor. Training and Reference Manual for Joh Analysis. Government Printing Office. Washington, 1965.
- 90. Walther, R. H. "The functional occupational classification project: a critical appraisal." Personnel and Guidance Journal. May, 1960.
- 91. Ward, J. H., Jr. <u>Hierarchical Grouping to Maximize Payoff</u>.

 Personnel Laboratory, Wright Air Development Division, Air Research and Development Command, USAF, Lackland Air Force Base, Texas. WADD-TN-61-29, 1961.

APPENDIX

B. PRECISION Scales:

- #1 Precision of Mathematics Usage and Judgment:
 - 1. Rough approximations are acceptable.
 - 2. Relatively accurate estimates are acceptable.
 - 3. Exactness is a primary consideration in itself.
- #2 Precision of Application of Knowledge:
 - 1. Must use only general knowledge of major features.
 - 2. Must use detailed knowledge of major features.
 - 3. Must use comprehensive knowledge which includes small details.
- #3 Precision of Interpretation:
 - 1. Only a general outline is involved.
 - 2. A number of specific major features are involved.
 - 3. Exactness and attention to details are primary considerations.
- #4 Precision of Physical Movements:
 - 1. Movements are gross or simple and require very little control.
 - 2. Control of movements is important and requires moderate care or effort.
 - 3. Care with which movement is made is of primary importance in itself. Requires a great deal of care and effort.
- #5 Precision in Discrimination:
 - 1. Only a few gross features must be noted.
 - 2. Noting a number of major features is important and requires moderate care or effort.
 - 3. Extremely fine features or graduations must be noted which requires a great deal of care and effort.

C. FREQUENCY Scale:

- 1. Hourly Typically will do it at least once per hour.
- 2. Daily Typically will do it at least once per day.
- 3. Weekly Typically will do it at least once per week, but less often than daily.
- 4. Semi-monthly Typically will do it at least once in a two week period.
- 5. Monthly Typically will do it at least once in a four week period.
- 6. Intermittently Typically a behavior that is not performed regularly. At certain times it may be performed frequently and then the incumbent may not do it for a considerable period of time.
- 7. Other Specify on line provided.

D. IMPORTANCE of this job aspect or skill:

- 1. This aspect or skill is not of primary importance, but is handy to have.
- 2. This is an aspect or skill of equal importance as compared to most other aspects or skills required.
- 3. This is one of the most important aspects or skills required on my job.

E. SPEED with which this job aspect must be performed:

- 1. Speed is no consideration except that it must be performed within a reasonable length of time; ample time usually available.
- 2. It must be performed as quickly as possible to avoid waste of time or money but rigid deadlines or timed processes are not involved.
- 3. Speed itself is a primary consideration essential for productivity, safety, avoiding damage or carrying out timed processes.

F. STRENGTH required for physical movements:

- 1. Little strength is required to perform the activity with involved muscles. A ten-year old child would have enough strength in the muscles that are used.
- 2. It must be performed as quickly as possible to avoid waste of time or money but rigid deadlines or timed processes are not involved.
- 3. Speed itself is a primary consideration essential for productivity, safety, avoiding damage or carrying out timed processes.

F. STRENGTH required for physical movements.:

- 1. Little strength is required to perform the activity with involved muscles. A ten-year old child would have enough strength in the muscles that are used.
- 2. Requires as much strength in the muscles that are used as an adult usually has, without special training.
- 3. Requires more strength in the muscles that are used than the beginning worker has, but the necessary strength can usually be built up in a two-week period.
- 4. Requires an abnormal amount of strength in the muscles that are used either because of the extreme short term force or the endurance needed to perform the activity.

COLORADO STATE UNIVERSITY

and

UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA

Project No. 1603

nterviewer
nterviewee
ob Title
Company
ddress
ate of Interview
ge of Interviewee
ex of Interviewee
ength of time in present occupation



QUESTIONS APPLYING TO THE WHOLE JOB

1.	Education	on: Check the educational e	experienc	es that you have had.
	1.	Less than High School	5.	On-the-job Training
	2.	High School	6.	Apprenticeship
	3.	Special Vocational Training in High School	7.	Junior College
	10	Consist Varytians	8.	College
	4.	Special Vocational Training after High Schoolformalized	9.	Other, specify
2.	Supervi	sion: How much supervision the one that is most	•	
	1.	Do you perform individually and relatively continuous s	_	
	2.	Do you make up or regulate schedule for a listed number receiving frequent periodic	er of pre	scribed activities;
	3.	Do you make up your own wor ods from a fairly extensive is your work reviewed periods.	number	of prescribed activities;
	<u> </u>	Do you make up your own wor you will work and what you or no supervision, working	will do;	do you require little
3.	Repetit	iveness: To what extent do and over again eve	•	
	1.	Very variedactivities var with little repetition of s day is exactly like another	specific	·
	2.	Fairly variedfairly wide a number of different tasks routinized.		
	3.	Fairly Repetitiveperforms day to day, but there is so scope.		

	4.	Highly Repetitiveperforms essentially the same task many times over during a working day.
ii .	Work En	vironment: Which of the following statements best describes your work environment? (More than one item may be checked.)
	1.	Personal inconvenience such as unusual working hours, extensive traveling, separation from family, frustrating experiences (such as handling complaints, frequent interruptions).
	2.	Definite physical hazards such as dangerous chemicals, machinery, high voltage wires, heavy lifting.
	3.	Uncomfortable working conditions such as extreme temp- eratures, vibrations, noxious fumes, dust, dirt, noise.
	4.	Work environment has no unusual aspects.
5.	Regular	ity of Job? Does this job provide continuous employment at all times? (More than one item may be checked.)
	1.	The nature of the job changes, but there is continuous employment (e.g., the nature of activities depends on crop being harvested).
	2.	This job is strictly seasonal in nature.
	3.	One can expect periodic lay-offs on this job due to weather, seasonal changes in production schedules.
	4.	This job provides continuous employment at all times.
6.	Technic	al vocabulary: Do you use any words on your job that the ordinary person wouldn't understand, such as names of tools, processes, or machines.
	1.	No special terms.
	2.	Only a few technical terms.
	3.	Limited technical vocabulary.
	4.	Extensive technical vocabulary.

<i>,</i>	under conditions of reduced illumination or through special equipment such as goggles, helmets?
	1. Yes
	2. No
8.	Is there any special kind of background that it would be desirable for a person to have in order to work on a job like yours?

ERIC Plat test revolue by Eric

- Physical Activities: These activities involve body and limbs. Some of the tasks performed on a job require a combination of mental and physical activities. Please respond to the following items, however, only on the basis of the physical aspects of the activity and consider only those activities that are a requirement of the job rather than being incidental to it, such as walking around the office.
- Pl A. Name the different ways finger movements are used on job as distinguished from gross arm and hand movements. (e.g., typing vs. filing; setting p ints on a car vs. using a wrench).

Frequency: How frequently do you make these finger mover	neı	nt	s?	
1234	5	6	7	
Importance: How important is it that you be able to make these finger movements?		2	3	
Speed: How much speed is required in your finger movement			3	
Strength: How much strength is required for these finger movements?		2	3	4
Complexity:	1	2	3	4
Name the different ways you control or manipulate relative large objects through hand and arm movements. (e.g., car an egg; filing papers, using a wrench).				

- B. Precision #4: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
 - C. Frequency: How frequently do you use arm-hand movement?

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
 - D. Importance: How important is arm-hand movement on your job?

 1 2 3
 - E. Speed: How much speed is required in these arm-hand movements? 1 2 3 4
 - F. Strength: How much strength is required for these arm-hand movements?

 1 2 3 4
 - G. Complexity:

P2

P3	A.	Name the different activities which require special use of feet and legs. (e.g., operation of pedals).
	В.	Precision #4: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you make these foot-leg movements?
		1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	D.	Importance: How important are foot-leg movements on your job? 1 2 3
	E.	Speed: How much speed is required in these foot-leg movements? 1 2 3
	F.	Strength: How much strength is required? 1 2 3 4
	G.	Complexity: 1 2 3 4
P4	A.	Name the different activities you perform which require simultaneous coordination of two or more limbs and/or senses. (e.g., driving a car, typing).
	В.	Precision #4: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently must you use this coordination?
		1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	D.	Importance: How important is coordination of this type on your job? 1 2 3
	E.	Speed: How much speed is required in these coordinated movements? 1 2 3
	F.	Strength: How much strength is required in these coordinated activities? 1 2 3 4

G. Complexity:

P5	Α.	Name the different ways you engage in general bodily activity. By this I'm referring to the overall use of the body and limbs, as would be found in heavy work, such as loading a boxcar or moving a side of beef.	he			
	В.	Precision #4: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you engage in some general activity directly related to your job?	bo	dy	r	
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you be able to engage in general body activity?	_	≥ 2	3	
	E.	Speed: How much speed is required in the general body activities required of you?	1	2	3	
	F.	Strength: About how much strength is required?	1	2	3	4
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
P6	Α.	Name the different motor control operations you perform on your job? (the extent to which you are required to operate one or more "hand control" devices such as knobs cranks, levers, wheels, handles, etc. in operating machinery).	•			
	В.	Precision #4: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you engage in control activ	vi1	ti:	es;	?
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important are these control activities?	1	2	3	
	E.	Speed: How much speed is required in these control activ	vi1	tie	: 86	?
			1	2	3	
	F.	Strength: How much strength is required:	1	2	3	4
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4

P7	A.	Name the different things you have to assemble? (the type of activity as would be found in overhauling a motor; rebuilding a carburetor).
	в.	Precision #4: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: Now frequently must you assemble things?
	D.	Importance: How important is this assembly activity? 1 2 3
	E.	Speed: How important is speed in the assembling you do? 1 2 3
	F.	Strength: How much strength would you say is needed in the assembling you do? 1 2 3 4
	G.	Complexity:
P8	A.	Name the different hand tools you use on your job? (any tool which you hold and manipulate with one or both hands like a hammer or wrench).
	в.	Precision #4: What degree of precision is required (when using these tools?) 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you use hand tools on your job?
		1234567
	D.	Importance: Now important is it that you know how to use these tools?
	F.	Strength: How much strength is required to use these tools?

1 2 3 4

G. Complexity:

Discrimination: This area is concerned with activities in which you must use various senses to note characteristics of things, differences between things or changes in things.

- Dl A. Name the different ways or situations in which you must note the characteristics of objects and/or differences between objects within arm's reach. (e.g., inspects watch parts; makes entries on sales tickets; reads small dials and guages).
 - B. Precision #5: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
 - C. Frequency: How frequently do you engage in this activity?

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
 - D. Importance: How important a part of your job is the noting of these characteristics or differences? 1 2 3
 - E. Speed: How important is speed when you are making note of these characteristics or differences? 1,23
 - G. Complexity:
- D2 A. Name the different ways or situations in which you must note the characteristics of objects or differences between objects beyond arm's reach. (e.g., watches highway signs and reads them while driving truck).
 - B. Precision #5: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
 - C. Frequency: How frequently do you have to engage in this activity?

- D. Importance: How important a part of your job is the noting of these characteristics of differences? 1 2 3
- E. Speed: How important is speed when you are making note of these characteristics or differences? 1 2 3
- G. Complexity: 1 2 3 4

DЗ	Α.	Name the different ways you use depth discrimination. (Judging the distance of an object or the distance relationship between objects.)				
	в.	Precision #5: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently is depth discrimination called for on your job?	l			
		1.234	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is your ability to make depth discriminations?	1	2	3	
	E.	Speed: How important is speed in making these depth discriminations?	1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	Ł
D4	Α.	Name the different ways you must estimate the speed of objects in relation to other moving objects or to a fixed point (e.g., estimating speed of conveyor belt; estimating speed of moving car).	g			
	В.	Precision #5: What degree of precision is required?	l 2	2	3	
	C.	Frequency: How frequently do you make these estimates of speed?				
		1 2 3 4 5	5 6	5 '	7	
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you be able to make these estimates of speed?	. 2	? ;	3	
	E.	Speed: How important is the speed with which you make these estimations?	. 2	? ;	3	
	G.	Complexity:	2	2 3	3 1	4

ERIC **
**Full first Provided by ERIC*

D5	A.	Name the different ways you must estimate quality (or value), quantity, or size?				
	В.	Precision #5: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently must you make these estimation	as?	<u>}</u>		
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is making these estimations?	1	2	3	
	E.	Speed: How important is speed in making these estimation	ns?	,		
			1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
D6	A.	Name the different situations in which you have to tell difference between colors. (e.g., blending colors; identifying color coded wires).	the	}		
	в.	Precision #5: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently must you tell the difference between colors?				
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	<pre>Importance: How important a part of your job is it that you be able to tell the difference between colors?</pre>	1	2	3	
	E.	Speed: How important is speed when you are trying to tell the difference between colors?		2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4

D7 A. Name the different ways or situations in which you must identify or hear differences in sounds in terms of their intensity, frequency, or other characteristics. (e.g., tuning an engine, listening to pitch of saw during a cutting operation). B. Precision #5: What degree of precision is required? 123 C. Frequency: How frequently must you tell the difference between sounds? 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Importance: How important a part of your job is it that you be able to tell the difference between sounds? 1 2 3 Speed: How important is speed when you are trying to tell the difference between sounds? 1 2 3 Complexity: G. 1 2 3 4 D8 A. Name the different ways or situations in which you must note the difference between odors, such as discriminating between perfumes or checking for leaking gas? B. Precision #5: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3 C. Frequency: How frequently must you tell the difference between odors? 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Importance: How important a part of your job is it that you be able to tell the difference between odors? 1 2 3



G. Complexity:

D 9	Α.	name the different ways or situations in which you must tell the difference between things by taste.
	В.	Precision #5: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently must you tell the difference between tastes?
		1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is it that you be able to tell the difference between tastes?
D 10	Α.	Name the different situations or ways in which you must identify or judge objects with the sense of touch. (e.g., feeling for smoothness of sanded board; choosing tools by "touch").
	в.	Precision #5: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently must you make decisions of some type on the basis of the sense of touch?
		1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is your ability to make decisions based on the sense of touch? 1 2 3

Complexity:

1 2 3 4

Name the different ways you must move a body member from D11 A. one specific position to another solely from "the feel of it and without the use of vision. (e.g., stepping on a brake pedal; reaching for a control lever, putting a nut on a bolt in a place where you can't see what you're doing).

в.	Precision #4: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
c.	Frequency: How frequently must you make a movement of this type?				
	1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
D.	Importance: How important is it that you be able to make these types of movements?		2	3	
E.	Speed: How important is speed in making these movements?)			
		1	2	3	
G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	
	By this I'm referring to frequently or continuously check a process in operation to see that it is functioning satisfactorily, or to identify certain stages in the proc (e.g., check temperature guages on boiler; check steel to see if it's ready for next stage of processing).	es			
В.	Precision #5: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
c.	Frequency: How frequently must you check a process in operation?				
	1234	5	6	7	
D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is the checking of ongoing processes?	1	2	3	
E.	Speed: How important a factor is speed in monitoring?	1	2	3	
G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	

1 2 3 4

Int	abilities and knowledges required for the performance of the job. Consider only those mental activities that are actually related to the job rather than being incidental to it.				
11	A.	Name the different ways you use math? (e.g., any use of numbers or equations).			
	В.		1 2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you have to use math?			
		12345	5 6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is the use of math?	l 2	3	
	E.	Speed: How important is it that you are fast in the use of math?	L 2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	L 2	3	4
12	A.	What machines do you have to know how to operate?			
	В.	Precision #2: What degree of precision is required?	L 2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you have to utilize your knowledge of operating these machines?			
		1 2 3 4 5	5 6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important to your job is the knowledge of operating these machines?	2	3	

1 2 3 4

G. Complexity:

ERIC ATUIT FOOTBOOK BY ERIC

13	A.	Name the different machines for which you have to have a knowledge of how they are put together and their mechanic operations?	al			
	В.	Precision #2: What degree of precision is required?	1 :	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you have to use your knowled of how these machines are put together?	:dg	е		
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you know how these machines are put together?	1 :	2	3	
	Ğ.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
I 4	A.	Name the characteristics you have to know about the finished product? (e.g., how used, cost).				
	в.	Precision #2: Must you have detailed knowledge?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you have to use this knowle	edg	e?	,	
		1234	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you know these characteristics about the finished product?	1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
15	A.	What do you have to know about the characteristics of materials that go into the finished products? (e.g., strength and life expectancy of parts).				
	в.	Precision #2: Must you have detailed knowledge?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you have to use this knowle	edg	;e?	?	
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you have this know	1ed	ge	∍?	
			1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4

16	A.	Name the different processes you must be familiar with? (e.g., steps payroll goes through; how to grow a particular crop).
	В.	Precision #2: Must you have detailed knowledge? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you have to use this knowledge?
		1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you know these processes? 1 2 3
	G.	Complexity:
17	Α.	What business procedures must you be familiar with? (e.g., principles of marketing, bookkeeping).
	В.	Precision #2: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you use business procedures?
		1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you know these business procedures? 1 2 3
	G.	Complexity:
18	Α.	What type things must you read and interpret? (e.g., plans, bulletins, specifications, technical publications).
	в.	Precision #3: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3
	c.	Frequency: How frequently must you read and interpret information like this?
		1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is it that you read and interpret this type of information?

G. Complexity:

1 2 3 4

[9	A.	Name the instructions and directions, oral and/or written that you must follow. (e.g., letters, memos, directives)				
	В.	Precision #3: What degree of precision is required (general or specific instructions)?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently are you called upon to follow instructions or directions?				
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
I1 0	A.	What are the situations where you have to visualize the relationship of things that cannot be observed directly? (e.g., blueprint reading, size estimations).				
	c.	Frequency: How frequently must you visualize things?				
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you be able to visit things?	ual l	Lia 2	żе 3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
I 11	. A.	Name the things you have to closely concentrate on? (e.g. threading a needle, adding a column of figures).	g• :	,		
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you engage in tasks require concentration?				
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important is it that you be able to do tasks requiring concentration?	1	2	3	
	0	Complayity	1	2	3	Ł

- Il2 A. Name the different ways you must reason or engage in problem solving? (e.g., fixing a broken machine; deciding on a process).
 - C. Frequency: How frequently must you engage in problem solving or reasoning?

	1 2 3 4	5 6 7
D.	Importance: How important is it that you do this?	1 2 3
E.	Speed: How important is speed in your problem solving?	1 2 3
G.	Complexity:	1 2 3 4

- Responsibility and Decision Making: This area is concerned with activities in which you must make decisions or assume responsibilities.
- Rl A. In what ways are you responsible for formulation and execution of policies and/or goals (e.g., establishing intradepartment routines, determining quotas).
- **B.** Precision #3: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3 C. Frequency: How often do you perform the above tasks? 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Importance: How important a part of your job are the above D. tasks? 1 2 3 R2 A. What work assignments do you make to personnel and/or machines? B. Precision #3: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3 C. Frequency: How frequently do you make work assignments? 1234567 1 2 3 4 G. Complexity: R3 A. In what situations are you responsible for developing budgets and forecasting the need for personnel, material, and/or money (e.g., developing departmental budget). Precision #1: What degree of precision is required? 1 2 3 C. Frequency: How frequently do you develop budgets or forecast upccming needs? 1234567 D. Importance: How important a part of your job is this activity? 1 2 3 Complexity: 1234

R4 A. Name the different situations or ways you inspect for quality and/or quantity of work compared to a standard (e.g., accepts or rejects finished product, decide when crop is ready for market).

	D.	rrecision #5: what degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you perform some inspectio	n	ta	sk1	?
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is inspect	io	n?		
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	
R5	Α.	What parts or materials are you responsible for ordering or buying?				
	В.	Precision #1: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How often do you order parts or materials?				
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is ordering	_	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	1

	inf	cerned with the extent to which you give and receive formation and interact with other people as a requirement your job.				
Cl	Α.	Name the different situations you have to speak to individuals or groups about information pertinent to their jobs (e.g., giving instructions to worker).				
	в.	Precision #3: What degree of precision is required (general or specific conversations)?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you have to talk to others in regard to their work?				
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is this activity?	1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	fŕ
C2	A.	Name the different types of written communications such a reports, letters, memos, etc. that you originate?	ìs			
	В.	Precision #3: What degree of precision is required?	1	2	3	
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you originate written commu	ıni	LC E	ıti	ions?
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importances How important a part of your job is this activity?	1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4

Communications and Interpersonal Relationships: This area is

ERIC Partition Provided by USE

C3	A.	Name the ways or situations in which you must communicat by other than oral or written means (e.g., hand signals)	:e			
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you communicate in this wa	y?			
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is this type of communication?	1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
C4	A.	Name the different situations in which you engage in som type of persuasive communication? (e.g., sales pitch, mediate disputes).	e			
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you engage in persuasive communication?				
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is making persuasive communications?	1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4
C 5	A.	Name the different ways you provide some type of personal service such as waiting on people or providing goods or services?	1			
	c.	Frequency: How frequently do you provide personal servi				
		1 2 3 4	5	6	7	
	D.	Importance: How important a part of your job is providing personal service?	1	2	3	
	E.	Speed: How important is it that you be fast in providing this personal service?	1	2	3	
	G.	Complexity:	1	2	3	4



Gl Indicate the importance of the following activities in terms of the scale given below. Definitely not part of this position, does not apply, or 0. is not true. 1. Under unusual circumstances may be a minor part of the position. 2. A relatively unimportant part of the position. 3. A part of the position. 4. A substantial part of the position. 5. A most significant part of the position. A. Files (letters) B. Typewriting C. Takes dictation in shorthand D. Operates calculating or adding machine E. Operates bookkeeping machine F. Does bookkeeping by hand G. Takes inventory H. Operates duplicating machine I. Acts as receptionist J. Other clerical activities, specify G2 Of the people listed below, check those with whom you have contact on your job. Check only those with whom you have direct contact regarding your job, and not a person that you may casually see during the working day. Members of Management - Those people who supervise individuals who in turn supervise others (e.g., executives). Foremen and other First Line Supervisors - Those people who supervise non-supervisory personnel (e.g., foremen, office managers). Non-Supervisory Personnel - Normally considered to be skilled, semi-skilled or unskilled occupations not including clerical or sales (e.g., electrician, machine operator). D. Clerical Workers - (e.g., typists, file clerk). E. Salesmen - (e.g., sales clerks, door-to-door salesmen. Do not include sales managers)

draftsmen, chemists).

Semi-Professional and Professional Personnel - (e.g.,

	G.	Customers - Including clients, patients, etc.
	н.	"The Public" - Not included as customers or any of the other classifications (e.g., people who might communicate with 'The Public" would be publicity manager, policemen, newscasters).
	I.	"Important Persons" - (e.g., visiting dignitaries).
	J.	Prospective Employees
	K.	Students or Trainees - (Includes only people in formal situations).
	L.	Investors
	M.	Suppliers
	N.	Others - specify
G3	Check e	ach of the following items that apply to you on your job.
	1.	I supervise or review or inspect the work of others and may issue directives.
	2.	I monitor the work of individuals or groups in order to coordinate my own work and/or the work of others.
	3.	I have final responsibility for hiring some or all personnel.
	4.	I have final responsibility for dismissing some or all personnel.
	5.	I have final responsibility for changes in personnel status and/or pay (e.g., promotions, demotions, changes in work assignments).
	6.	I develop work schedules for individuals and/or groups.
	7.	I regulate my own work flow, deciding when to speed up or slow down.
	8.	I regulate others' work flow deciding when they are to speed up and/or slow down.
	9.	I am responsible for the physical safety of others.

I make major decisions which can have a permanent effect on the company. My job requires walking. My job requires jumping. 12. My job requires running. 13. My job requires balancing. 14. My job requires climbing. 15. My job requires crawling. 16. My job requires standing. 17. My job requires stooping. 18. My job requires crouching. 19. My job requires kneeling. 20. My job requires sitting. 21. My job requires reaching. 22. My job requires lifting. 23. My job requires carrying. 24. My job requires throwing. 25. 26. My job requires pushing. My job requires pulling. 27. My job requires handling. 28. 29. My job requires fingering. 30. I am paid by regular salary. I am paid by the hour. 31. I am paid by the piece. 32.

33.	I am paid by the job or contract.
34.	I am paid by commission.
35.	I am paid by tips.
36.	I am self-employed, dependent upon net profit.
37.	I am paid by another means, which is
38.	The way I dress is left up to me.
39.	I am expected to wear a tie and jacket or other publically presentable clothing during working hours.
40.	I am required to wear a specific uniform during working hours.
41.	Because of the nature of the work, I usually wear working clothes such as denim overalls, etc.
42.	Because of the safety factors, I usually wear, or am required to wear, special clothing or apparel.